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COMPANY PROFILE
DA EIT

OVERVIEW

We are a clinical-stage novel drug developer in China focused on the
disease with unmet clinical needs, especially androgen receptor-related,
or AR-related diseases. We are committed to becoming a leader in the

research, development and commercialisation of innovative therapies.

We had developed a pipeline of seven drug candidates which are in

clinical stage.

*  Pruxelutamide (GT0918)
Pruxelutamide (GT0918) (¥ &%) is a second generation
AR antagonist with the potential to be a best-in-class drug. We
are currently developing Pruxelutamide for the treatment of
COVID-19, mCRPC and AR+ metastatic breast cancer.

*  Pyrilutamide (KX-826)
Pyrilutamide (KX-826) (f&fmfth&) is an AR antagonist. We are
currently developing Pyrilutamide as a potential first-in-class topical
drug for the treatment of androgenic alopecia (AGA) and acne

vulgaris.

* ALK-1 (GT90001)
ALK-1 antibody is a new anti-angiogenesis inhibitor and a new
biological target globally. We are currently developing ALK-|
for the treatment of metastatic hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)
and a variety of solid tumours. In 2018, we obtained an exclusive
global licence from Pfizer to develop and commercialise ALK-| for

oncological indications.

*  AR-PROTAC Compound (GT20029)
GT20029 is a topical AR-PROTAC compound developed by the
Group's in-house PROTAC platform. We are currently developing
GT20029 for the treatment of AGA and acne vulgaris.
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PD-LI/TGF-B (GT90008)

PD-LI/TGF-B (GT90008) is a dual target antibody composed of
an antagonist antibody of PD-L| and the extracellular domain
of TGF-B with high activity in inhibiting PD-LI and TGF-3
simultaneously. It has the potential in the treatment of a variety
of solid tumours, including non-small cell lung cancer, biliary tract
cancer, triple negative breast cancer and HPV-associated tumours
such as cervical cancer and has the potential to become a best-in-

class drug.

Detorsertib (GT0486)

Detorsertib (GT0486) (G#¥HER) is an inhibitor of the PI3K/
mTOR signalling pathway and a second generation mTOR
inhibitor. We are currently developing GT0486 primarily for the
treatment of metastatic solid tumours such as breast cancer,

prostate cancer and HCC.

Hedgehog/SMO Inhibitor (GT1708F)

Hedgehog/SMO Inhibitor (GTI708F) is an inhibitor of the
hedgehog signal transduction pathway. We are currently
developing GT1708F primarily for the treatment of blood cancer

and basal-cell carcinoma (BCC).
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DNEEH
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DNEEH
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRE®RE

Dear shareholders,

2021 was an extraordinary year for the Company. The COVID-19
pandemic is still spreading around the world. The Company has
expanded the indications of Pruxelutamide to include COVID-19 and
carried out a series of researches and clinical trials since the beginning
of the outbreak. It is very gratifying to see that the drug developed by
the team after more than ten years of hard work can contribute to the
fight against COVID-19. We believe that with firm confidence and joint

efforts, we will be able to overcome the difficulties together.

Since 2021, the Company has made important breakthroughs and
strong development in sales revenue, R&D pipelines, production
operations, business cooperations and capital markets. On 6 April
2022, we announced the top-line results of (NCT04870606), the first
global multicenter registrational phase Il clinical trial of Pruxelutamide
for the treatment of patients with mild to moderate COVID-19. Among
patients who have been taking medication for more than 7 days, the
protection rate of Pruxelutamide reached 100%, P<0.02, which is
statistically significant; it significantly reduced the hospitalisation rate
of middle-aged and elderly people and people with high risk factors,
and the protection rate is 100%; it significantly reduced viral load and
reduced symptoms associated with COVID-19 on a continuous basis.
In terms of sales revenue, the Company has achieved a breakthrough of
“zero”, and recorded revenue mainly generated from the receipt of the
upfront payments in connection with the out-licensing of Pruxelutamide
for the indication of COVID-|9.

EBHE SR

202 | FHFAMBEERBEIFEE N FE—F « 3
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18 3% 1) E 0 R T TS 4 PR AE 3 R R R B B ST AR R
Ak SERMEE I EFER T RFF DM
FEMEYRENENENTRBETARER -
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QWNFEES - REEHERA  HEEL  £E
BE MESENEATSETEHNEEER
B SHEERE - 2022F4 F6H » BMIAMTER
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TR 1 HR BR PR 3B (NCT04870606 ) HY B8 42 Sk 45
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFERE

In terms of product development, the Company’s diversified product
pipeline is multi-pronged, comprising small molecule innovative drugs,
biological innovative drugs and combination therapies. The Company
are conducting clinical research on 7 new drug projects in China, the
United States and other countries, as well as a number of preclinical
projects. In terms of production and operation, the Company has
further increased its production capacity and appointed Dr. Qun Lu
as the company's Chief Technology Officer (CTO) to accelerate the
commercialisation of Pruxelutamide. In terms of global cooperation, the
Company has reached strategic cooperation with Visum Pharmaceutical
Co,, Ltd,, Fosun Pharma, Etana, XtalPi and Shanghai Pharmaceutical
Co,, Ltd, etc, and appointed Dr. Jiawen Han as the Company's vice
president of business development to further strengthen the Company'’s
business development capabilities. In terms of capital market, the
Company completed another capital raising in mid-2021 after its listing,
and raised HK$1.16 billion to provide strong financial support for the
Company's development. In addition, the Company's Shares have been
included in the Hang Seng Composite Index and Hong Kong Stock
Connect.

Looking forward to 2022, the Company will accelerate the progress
of the global clinical development of the existing product pipeline,
especially the global multi-center phase Il clinical trials of Pruxelutamide
for the treatment of COVID-19. It is hoped that Pruxelutamide will
play an active role in the fight against COVID-19, and that the clinical
research on Pyrilutamide will achieve further progress and benefit all
those suffering from hair loss as soon as possible. In addition, we will
continue to make efforts in international/domestic business cooperation
to enhance the Company’s innovative development. Besides, we will
further increase production capacity reserves and actively promote

product commercialisation.
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Since its establishment in 2009, the Group has stayed true to its original
intention and has always been committed to its mission of “focusing on
the R&D and commercialisation for the large number of indications with
unmet clinical needs”. We look forward to bringing more innovative
therapies to patients in the future, creating long-term value for our

shareholders, and achieving sustainable development of the Company.

Yours sincerely,
Dr. Youzhi Tong

Chairman of the Board, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

27 April 2022
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBERE

The Group recorded revenue from out-licensing contracts of RMB34.2
million for the Reporting Period, which was generated from the
receipt of the upfront payments in connection with the out-licensing of

Pruxelutamide.

The Group's research and development costs increased from RMB328.8
million for the year ended 3| December 2020 to RMB767.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021, representing an increase of 133.5%,
primarily due to the three phase Ill MRCTs of Pruxelutamide (GTO918)
for the indication of COVID-19 which were initiated and conducted by
the Group during the Reporting Period.

The Group had cash and cash equivalents and time deposits of
RMB1,055.2 million as at 31 December 2021, including utilised bank
facilities of RMB154.9 million. In addition, the Group also had unutilised
bank facilities of RMBI150 million as at 31 December 2021. The Group
has sufficient cash on hand to support the advancement of the Group's

clinical trials and research and development.

AEERREREBESHINRESORBEARE
M2B8TL HEABERBREINZHENEN

ET
AN

REBMRBEKABEZ2020F 12831 B IEFE
WARK388EEILIEMERZ2021F12H31H
IEFEMARK7679B&E T - EEI1335%  *
TN ASERRE PSR RETHN=BE R
B2 (GT0918) ARAECOVID- 1I9MIIIER 2 Bk %
DERAR B (MRCT) ©

NEBHZE202IF12A3IBNEL RIS EEY
NN ERERBAREI0552B8T ' BEES
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Year ended 31 December

BZEZI12A3I1ALEE

2021 2020

2021 20204F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBTFT

Revenue from out-licensing contracts MRS A 34,231 =
Cost of sales SHEMA - -
Gross profit EF 34,231 -
Other income EH WA 29,311 25,134
Marketing costs ki DN (14,698) (8,628)
Administrative expenses TR X (103,255) (77,063)
Research and development costs RS R (767,936) (328,764)
Other losses — net H it 518558 (17,254) (115,530)
Operating loss ReEE (839,601) (504,851
Finance costs — net BTGP AN 5 5R (2,494) (3377)

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBEE

Year ended 31 December

BZI12A3I1ALEE

2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETT
Loss before income tax MRATB R Al B8 (842,095) (508,228)
Income tax expense FriSHi & A = (73)
Loss and total comprehensive loss FABER2EEE
for the year et (842,095) (508301)
Added: hn
Listing expenses (one-time) R (—xE) - 20,76
Share-based compensation expenses LARS {7 72 EE 11 B 5 Bl 7 =2 37,347 28,159
Adjusted loss and total comprehensive FREAREERZEER
loss for the year @z (804,748) (459,381)
As of 31 December
RI12A31H
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT
Non-current assets IEMENE E 542,094 430,859
Current assets RENEE 1,525,895 1,420,616
Cash and cash equivalents and ReLREFEBMAR
time deposits TEHATF R 1,055,220 1,388,995
Non-current liabilities FRBEIE 193,091 174,208
Current liabilities mEAE 219,740 169,333
Total equity s 1,655,158 1,507,934
BRAEXERAA

F 3R 2021
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
ERERE

In 2021, the COVID-19 pandemic continued to be a threat to the
global health. We continued to take active actions to minimise the
negative impact of COVID-19 to our business and ensured our
research and development plans were carried out as normal. We
continued to actively explore Pruxelutamide as an effective drug for
the treatment of COVID-19 patients with mild to moderate symptoms
as well as hospitalised patients. We have announced the top-line data
of the phase Ill MRCT of Pruxelutamide conducted in the U.S. and
globally for the treatment of patients with mild to moderate COVID-19
(NCT04870606) and the efficacy and safety results are positive. VWe will
continue to actively push forward the other two phase Ill MRCTs for
COVID-19 indication (NCT04869228 and NCT05009732).

Since | January 2021, we have been making significant progress with
respect to our drug pipeline and business operations, including the

following milestones and achievements:

Pruxelutamide (GT0918)

Milestones and achievements on self-sponsored studies:

*+  On 5 March 2021, we announced that we received the approval
from the Food and Drug Administration of the U.S. (FDA) for
the application of Pruxelutamide for the phase Il clinical trial in
the treatment of male COVID-19 patients with mild or moderate
symptoms (NCT04870606).

+  On 25 April 2021, we completed the first batch of patients’
enrollment and dosing in the U.S. in the phase Il clinical trial of
Pruxelutamide for the treatment of male patients with mild or
moderate COVID-19 symptoms (NCT04870606).

* On 18 May 2021, we announced that FDA has greenlighted the
phase lll clinical trial (NCT05009732) of Pruxelutamide for the
treatment of hospitalised COVID-19 patients to be conducted,
which will recruit both male and female patients. In addition, FDA
has agreed to add female patients into phase Il clinical trial for
treatment of COVID- 9 patients with mild or moderate symptoms
(NCT04870606).

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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On 15 June 2021, we announced that the pivotal study of
Pruxelutamide for the treatment of COVID-19 outpatients
sponsored by the Company (NCT04869228) was approved by
the Brazilian Health Regulatory Agency (ANVISA) and the Brazilian
National Research and Ethics Committee (CONEP) in Brazil.

On 14 July 2021, we entered into a licensing agreement with
Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical Development Ltd. (“Fosun
Pharmaceutical”) on the commercialisation of Pruxelutamide for
the treatment of COVID-19 indication in India and 28 African
countries (the “Collaboration Regions”) and the parties agreed
to collaborate on the EUA applications, promotion, and sales of
Pruxelutamide for the treatment of COVID-19 indication. Pursuant
to the agreement, Fosun Pharmaceutical will be granted exclusive
rights of registration and commercialisation of Pruxelutamide in
the Collaboration Regions. The Company will be eligible to receive
upfront and milestone payments up to RMB560 million as well as
royalty payments that are not less than 50% of the total operating
profit in the Collaboration Regions, based on a tiered structure per

the amount of net sales as agreed by both parties.

On 16 July 2021, we announced that the Ministry of Public Health
and Social Welfare (MSPBS) of Paraguay recently granted EUA
for Pruxelutamide for the treatment of hospitalised patients with
COVID-19 at the MSPBS hospitals. This was the first EUA we

obtained for Pruxelutamide globally.

On 25 August 2021, we entered into a licensing agreement with
PT Etana Biotechnologies Indonesia (*Etana”), to commercialise
Pruxelutamide for the treatment of COVID-19 in Indonesia.
Pursuant to the agreement, the Company will receive from Etana
upfront and milestone payments, in addition to the economic
benefit relating to the sales from the launch of Pruxelutamide in

Indonesia, which is in line with the industry practice.

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
EBRE
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BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
EBHE

On | September 2021, we announced that we received
the approval from NMPA for two phase Il clinical trials of
Pruxelutamide for the treatment of COVID-19 infections in China.
One trial (NCT04869228) will be conducted for the treatment
of mild or moderate COVID-19 patients in countries and regions
including China, Brazil, Malaysia and the Philippines, while the other
trial (NCT05009732) will be conducted for the treatment of
hospitalised COVID-19 patients in countries and regions including
the U.S,, China, South America, Europe and India.

On 22 September 2021, the phase Il clinical trial of Pruxelutamide
for the treatment of hospitalised COVID-19 patients was
conditionally approved by ANVISA, Brazil.

On 4 October 2021, we announced that the first patient was
enrolled and dosed in the phase lll clinical trial of Pruxelutamide
for the treatment of hospitalised COVID-19 patients in the U.S.

On 27 December 2021, we announced the interim analysis for
the phase Il study of Pruxelutamide for patients with mild to
moderate COVID-19 symptoms (NCT04870606). Statistical
criteria were not met at the interim analysis of the phase Il study.
Notwithstanding that, there were no safety concerns and no drug-
related serious adverse events (SAEs) reported during the study.

On 10 February 2022, the first patient was enrolled and dosed in
the multi-regional phase Il clinical trial of Pruxelutamide for the
treatment of COVID-19 outpatients (NCT04869228) in China.

On 6 April 2022, the Company announced the top-line results
from the U.S. and global registrational phase Ill clinical trial of
Pruxelutamide on patients with mild to moderate COVID-|9.
Pruxelutamide effectively reduced hospitalisation/mortality
within 28 days; for subjects who completed the medication for
more than 7 days, the protection rate was 100%, P<0.02, which
was statistically significant; Pruxelutamide significant reduced
the hospitalisation/mortality rate among subjects with high risk
factors (especially in the middle and high age group), P<0.02, and
the protection rate was 100%; Pruxelutamide significantly and
continuously reduced the COVID-19 viral load, and continuously
improved COVID-19 related symptoms. Pruxelutamide was
generally well tolerated, safe and controllable, and no serious
adverse events were found in the study.
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Milestones and achievements on IITs:

On 10 January 2021, we released the final results for male
patients with mild to moderate symptoms from the clinical trial
of Pruxelutamide for the treatment of COVID-19 outpatients
(NCT04446429), which showed that Pruxelutamide could
significantly inhibit the transition of condition of male patients
infected with COVID-19 from mild or moderate to severe and

had good safety for short-term administration.

On 10 January 2021, we released the interim results for female
patients with mild to moderate symptoms from the clinical trial in
Brazil of Pruxelutamide for the treatment of COVID-19 outpatients
as of 7 January 2021, which showed that Pruxelutamide could
significantly inhibit the transition of condition of female patients
infected with COVID-19 from mild or moderate to severe.
The hospitalisation rate, percentage of ICU usage, mechanical
ventilation usage and death in 30 days in the Pruxelutamide Arm
was |.7%, 0%, 0% and 0%, respectively, compared to |7.1%,
8.6%, 5.7% and 2.9% in the Controlled Arm, reducing the risk of
hospitalisation by 90%.

On 28 January 2021, we announced that the clinical trial of
Pruxelutamide for the treatment of hospitalised COVID-19
patients was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of
Brazil and we have received support from the Brazil government
in terms of medical resources allocation. This clinical trial was

accepted for accelerated review.

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
EBRE

NTHEE#EREH -

20211 A 108 - B mE=BRES
BEEFECOVID- 195 M 2 E MER R AR A&
BAER(NCT04446429) » £ REARE T ER
A LABEZ I R COVID- 198 B B & /R
BREEHFEINEEZNEE - W HERE
HGREABRITNLEME -

72021661 108 - BEmMmEE2021 61 A
7RERERREBERZECOVID-193EF T
B35 B R PR 51 58 AR BS AR ORE 22 1 2B 3 R R
R EBERBETERBERYBEIH X
COVID- 198 & 1 B E R RIBHEE K EE
EEMNEE o T ERBANKAMNERE
ICUEAXR - BRERERIFT AL
DENE17% 0% ~ 0%K0% - i FE4E Bl 5
RA17.1% ~ 8.6% * 5.7%1%29% » 1E BT EBRR,
190% °

20211 A28  BIEMERBREE
COVID-19EfE B & MR AR EEAKE
BEZE2(RB)ILE - BRMAEBZEERLE
BEAHESTEABNSE - BAHARD
BEINRESE o

BHREEERAR
F 3R 2021



16

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS
EBHE

On 22 February 2021, the clinical trial of Pruxelutamide for the
treatment of hospitalised COVID-19 patients in Brazil completed

the enrollment of patients.

On I'l March 2021, we released the results of the clinical trial
of Pruxelutamide for the treatment of hospitalised COVID-19
patients (NCT04728802). Results of the IIT demonstrated that the
trial met the primary endpoint at day 14.

Pyrilutamide (KX-826)

On 16 April 2021, we completed the first batch of patients
enrollment and dosing in China in the Phase I/l clinical trial of

Pyrilutamide gel as a treatment for acne vulgaris.

On |l July 2021, we announced that FDA has greenlighted the
phase I clinical trial of Pyrilutamide for treatment of AGA to be
conducted in the U.S.

On 8 September 2021, we announced that the primary endpoint
of phase Il clinical trial of Pyrilutamide in China for the treatment
of AGA was met, which was statistically significant and clinically

meaningful.

On 12 November 2021, we announced that we had dosed the
first patient in the phase Il clinical trial of Pyrilutamide in China for

the treatment of AGA female patients.

On 24 November 2021, we announced that the IND application
for the pivotal study (phase lll clinical trial) of Pyrilutamide for
the treatment of AGA male patients was cleared by NMPA.
Pyrilutamide is the first topical AR antagonist which has entered
phase lll clinical trial for the treatment of AGA globally.
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On 3| December 2021, we enrolled and dosed the first patient in
the phase Il clinical trial of Pyrilutamide for the treatment of male
AGA patients in China.

On 24 January 2022, we enrolled and dosed the first patient in the
phase Il clinical trial of Pyrilutamide in China for the treatment of

acne vulgaris.

On 28 February 2022, we enrolled and dosed first patient in the
phase Il clinical trial of Pyrilutamide for the treatment of male AGA

patients in the US..

On 4 March 2022, we completed the enrollment of 160 patients
in the phase Il clinical trial of Pyrilutamide for the treatment of

female AGA patients in China.

ALK-1 (GT90001)

The data collected in the phase Il clinical trial of combination
therapy of ALK-I antibody and PD-I monoclonal antibody
Nivolumab (Opdivo) for the second-line therapy of advanced
HCC in Taiwan was released at the 2021 American Society of
Clinical Oncology Gastrointestinal Cancers Symposium (ASCO-GI).
The results showed that among the 20 evaluable patients, eight
patients (40.0%) were observed partial remission (PR).

On February |, 2021, IND application for a multiregional phase
[l clinical trial for combination treatment of ALK-| antibody and
Nivolumab for the second-line treatment of advanced HCC was
cleared by FDA.

On 9 October 2021, the clinical trial of ALK-I antibody and
Nivolumab combination therapy for the treatment of patients with
advanced HCC was approved by NMPA.

On 2 November 2021, we announced that we had enrolled and
dosed the first patient with advanced or refractory solid tumors in
the phase Ib/ll clinical trial of ALK-1 antibody in combination with
KNO046 in Taiwan, China.
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AR-PROTAC Compound (GT20029)

On | February 2021, we announced that the IND application of
GT20029, developed by our PROTAC platform, for AGA and
acne vulgaris indications was accepted by the CDE. GT20029 is
the first topical PROTAC drug which entered clinical stage around

the world.

On |5 April 2021, we announced that the IND of GT20029 for
AGA and acne vulgaris indications were approved by CDE of the
NMPA.

On I3 July 2021, we announced that we received IND clearance
by FDA for GT20029 for the treatment of AGA and acne vulgaris
in the US.

On 28 July 2021, we announced that the first batch of subjects
have been enrolled and dosed in the phase | clinical trial of
GT20029 for treating AGA and acne vulgaris in China.

On | February 2022, the first subject was enrolled and dosed in
the phase | clinical trial of GT20029 for the treatment of AGA and

acne vulgaris in the US..

PD-LI/TGF-B (GT90008)

On 21 October 2021, the clinical trial of PD-LI/TGF-B dual-
targeting antibody (GT90008) for the treatment of advanced solid
tumours was approved by NMPA.

For details of any of the foregoing, please refer to the rest of this report

and, where applicable, the Company’s prior announcements published

on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN WD

OVERVIEW

We are a clinical-stage novel drug developer in China focusing on
disease areas with unmet clinical needs and striving to become a leader
in the research, development and commercialisation of innovative

therapeutics.

Product Pipeline

Our pipeline of drug candidates includes a risk-balanced and diversified
portfolio of products that strategically targets COVID-19 and major
cancer types and other AR-related indications with substantial market
potential. The following chart sets forth a summary of our drug
candidates as well as their respective mechanism, indications and

development progress:
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IND Filing

Phase | Phase Il Phase Il

Drug Candidate Target /| Mechanism Indication C;:r:;rny/
COVID-19 (Outpatients) US & Intl
COVID-19 (Inpatients) US, China & Intl
COVID-19 (Outpatients) Chmir&\mm 8
Pruxelutamide Second generation mGRAE Gifiz
(CEO%E) R TEEE: Combination therapy with Abiraterone for mCRPC China
mCRPC us
Metastatic breast cancer China
Combination therapy with Exemestane, Letrozole and &
Fulvestrant for metastatic breast cancer na
Androgenetic alopecia (Male) China
g Androgenetic alopecia (Female) China
] . 5
I Pyrilutamide AR antagonist -
b (KX-826) (T e i) Androgenetic alopecia (Male) us
o
2 Acne vulgaris China
]
K Acne vulgaris us
£ Combination therapy with a PD-1 for metastatic HCC T
o o) aiwan
Combination therapy with a PD-| for metastatic HCC US & Intl
ALK-1 Angiogenesis o)
(CEE0001) by Combination therapy with a PD-| for metastatic HCC China
Combination therapy with KN046 (PD-L1/CTLA-4) for T
HCC, GC, GEJ adenocarcinoma, UC, ESCC aiwan
AGA and acne vulgaris China
GT20029 AR-PROTAC compound
AGA and acne vulgaris us
PD-LI / TGF-B dual
GT90008 tarseting antibody Multiple types of solid tumours China
Detorsertib mTOR kinase
(GT0486) i Metastatic solid tumours China
Hedgehog/ Blood Cancer China
Sulle? SMO inhibitor
Basal-cell carcinoma us

NDA

(Filed) (Accepted)

shed top-line data on April 6, 2
Completed FPl on Oct |, 2021
Completed FPl on Feb 10, 2022 in China

Expected to submit NDA in 2022

Other ARPROTAC
compounds

c-Myc inhibitor

ALK-1/VEGF
bispecific antibody

Pre--Clinical

I Trials initiated by Kintor

Multiple indications
Blood cancer
Solid tumours

Trials initiated by Kintor and partners

FPI = First patient in, HCC = hepatocellular carcinoma, GC = gastric carcinoma, GE] = gastroesophageal junction, UC = urothelial carcinoma, ESCC = esophageal squamous cell carcinoma
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BUSINESS REVIEW

As at the date of this report, we had developed a pipeline of seven

clinical-stage drugs, for which we had obtained approvals to commence

clinical trials in the PRC (including Taiwan), the U.S. and other countries

and regions. These clinical-stage drug candidates are composed

of two androgen receptor (AR) antagonists, ALK-1 antibody, AR-
PROTAC, PD-LI/TGF- dual targeting antibody, mTOR kinase inhibitor,
Hedgehog/SMO inhibitor as follows:

Core Products

Pruxelutamide (GT0918)

Pruxelutamide (GT0918) (52 &%) is a second generation AR
antagonist and also an ACE2 and TMPRSS2 degrader with the
potential to be a best-in-class drug. We are currently developing
Pruxelutamide for the treatment of COVID-19, mCRPC and AR+

metastatic breast cancer.

Indication of COVID-19

Pruxelutamide has a mechanism of effectively lowering the
expression of the proteins ACE2 and TMPRSS2, which the SARS-
CoV-2 uses to invade host cells. Thus, Pruxelutamide prevents
the virus from infecting normal host cells, and viral replication
and reproduction, and thus can treat novel coronavirus infections
effectively. In addition, Pruxelutamide also promotes the clearance
of pathogens and decreases inflammation by activating the Nrf2
pathway, which activates several antioxidative genes and proteins
and reduces the intensity of the cytokine response, which is of
clinical benefit to the severe COVID-19 patients.

So far, the in vitro studies in the P3 laboratory have demonstrated
that Pruxelutamide can effectively inhibit infections caused by the
Alpha and Delta variants. The outcome of genome sequencing on
COVID-19 inpatients in Brazil has shown that Pruxelutamide has

effectively treated inpatients infected by Gamma variant.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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Phase Il Clinical Trials Sponsored by Kintor

(a) The US and International Registration Phase Ill
Clinical Trial for Outpatients (NCT04870606)
The study is a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled
phase Il MRCT. The study endpoints included the percentage
of subjects who did not experience all-cause hospitalization
for at least 24 hours, or did not require supplemental oxygen
for at least 24 hours in response to SpO2<93% and were
alive by Day 28; the proportion of subjects with all-cause
hospitalization (defined as >24 hours), requiring supplemental
oxygen or all-cause mortality by Day 28, and changes of
SARS-CoV-2 viral load from baseline to Day 28 as well as
safety assessments.

On 5 March 2021 and 18 May 2021, we announced that
we received the greenlight from FDA for the application of
Pruxelutamide for phase Il clinical trial in the treatment of
male and female COVID-19 patients with mild or moderate
symptoms respectively. On 25 April 2021, we announced
that first patient enrollment and dosing was completed in
the US.. On 19 July 2021, the study was further approved
by ANVISA. As at 23 December 2021, we have completed
the enrollment of 736 patients for this study. More than 95%
of the enrolled patients were from the United States. On
27 December 2021, we announced the interim analysis did
not meet the statistical significance, but there were no safety
concerns of Pruxelutamide nor drug-related serious adverse
events (SAEs) reported during the study. On 6 April 2022,
the Company announced the top-line results from the U.S.
and global registrational phase Ill clinical trial of Pruxelutamide
on patients with mild to moderate COVID- 9. Pruxelutamide
effectively reduced hospitalisation/mortality within 28 days;
for subjects who completed the medication for more than
7 days, the protection rate was [00%, P<0.02, which was
statistically significant; Pruxelutamide significant reduced
the hospitalisation/mortality rate among subjects with high
risk factors (especially in the middle and high age group),
P<0.02, and the protection rate was 100%; Pruxelutamide
significantly and continuously reduced the COVID-19
viral load, and continuously improved COVID-19 related
symptoms. Pruxelutamide was generally well tolerated, safe
and controllable, and no serious adverse events were found
in the study.

NIAID 8-point scoring scale: By National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases,
|) Death; 2) Hospitalised, on invasive mechanical ventilation or extracorporeal
membrane oxygenation (ECMO); 3) Hospitalised, on non-invasive ventilation or high
flow oxygen devices; 4) Hospitalised, requiring supplemental oxygen; 5) Hospitalised,
not requiring supplemental oxygen — requiring ongoing medical care (COVID-19
related or otherwise); 6) Hospitalised, not requiring supplemental oxygen — no
longer requires ongoing medical care; 7) Not hospitalised, limitation on activities
and/or requiring home oxygen; 8) Not hospitalised, no limitations on activities.
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(b)

(©

The U.S., China and International Registration
Phase Ill Clinical Trial for Inpatients
(NCT05009732)

The study is a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled
phase Il MRCT being conducted in various countries and
regions including U.S., South America, Asia (including China)

and Europe.

On 18 May 2021, we announced that FDA has greenlighted
the study, which would recruit both male and female
patients. On | September 2021, we announced that the
clinical trial received the approval from NMPA of China. On
22 September 2021, the study was conditionally approved
by ANVISA. As at the date of this report, the clinical trial
is ongoing in United States, the Philippines and South
Africa, and the patients enrollment centre in China has
been launched. Subsequently, more countries and centres
will participate in this global multi-centre clinical trial. The
primary endpoint was the need for intensive care unit (ICU)
admission or invasive mechanical ventilation/ECMO or all-

cause mortality within 30 days of randomisation.

The China, Brazil and International Phase Il
Clinical Trial for Outpatients (NCT04869228)

On 15 June 2021, we announced that the phase Il clinical
trial in the treatment of patients with mild to moderate
COVID-19 symptoms had been officially approved by the
Brazilian National Research and Ethics Committee (CONEP)
on 27 May 2021 and by ANVISA on || June 2021. On
| September 2021, we announced that the clinical trial
was granted approval from NMPA of China. The study is
a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase IlI
MRCT to be conducted in various countries and regions,
including China, Brazil, Malaysia and the Philippines. Currently,
we have completed the amendment to the protocol with the
enrollment criterion changed to include high risk population.
The protocol amendment has been cleared by NMPA of
China.
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Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 5
March 2021, 18 May 2021, 15 June 2021, | September 2021,
26 September 2021, 4 October 2021, 27 December 2021,
|'I' February 2022 and 6 April 2022, respectively, for further

information.

Commercialisation of Pruxelutamide as a Treatment for
COVID-19

On 14 July 2021, Suzhou Kintor entered into a Pruxelutamide
licensing agreement with Fosun Pharmaceutical, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd.
(Stock Code (Shanghai Stock Exchange): 600196, Stock Code
(the Stock Exchange): 02196) on the commercialisation of
Pruxelutamide for the treatment of COVID-19 in India and 28
African countries and the parties agreed to collaborate on EUA
applications, promotion, and sales of Pruxelutamide. Pursuant to
the agreement, Fosun Pharmaceutical will be granted exclusive
rights of registration and commercialisation of Pruxelutamide in
the Collaboration Regions. The Company will be eligible to receive
upfront and milestone payments up to RMB560 million as well as
royalty payments that are not less than 50% of the total operating
profit in the Collaboration Regions, based on a tiered structure per

the amount of net sales as agreed by both parties.

On 25 August 2021, the Company entered into a licensing
agreement with Etana in relation to the commercialisation of
Pruxelutamide for the treatment of COVID-19 in Indonesia and
the parties agreed that the Company will receive from Etana
upfront and milestone payments and economic benefit relating to

the sales from the launch of Pruxelutamide in Indonesia.
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On 16 July 2021, we announced that the Ministry of Public
Health and Social Welfare (“MSPBS”) of Paraguay granted an
EUA for Pruxelutamide for the treatment of inpatients with
COVID-19 at the MSPBS hospitals. It was the first EUA obtained
for Pruxelutamide globally. The first hospital to use Pruxelutamide
under the EUA, Hospital Barrio Obrero, part of the MSPBS
network, has reported promising initial results. Among the 25
patients, the admission baseline of 18 (72%) patients scored 5
while 7 patients (28%) scored 6. Following |4 days of dosing, 22
patients showed remission and | patient died with a mortality rate
of 4%, which was significantly lower than the average mortality rate

of inpatients in Paraguay.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated |5 July
2021, 16 July 2021 and 25 August 2021 for further information.

Indication of mMCRPC and AR+ metastatic breast cancer
Our pre-clinical and clinical research on Pruxelutamide for prostate
cancer and AR+ breast cancer were recognised as a Science and
Technology Major Project for “Major New Drugs Innovation and
Development” (“E AT 25812 BHEEARZEIE) in 201 | and
2017, respectively.

We commenced pre-clinical research of Pruxelutamide in April
2010. We received approval from NMPA in 2015 to conduct
phase | to phase I clinical trials for Pruxelutamide for mCRPC
in China, and Pruxelutamide was classified as a key designated
project and a key category of drug subject to a special accelerated
review process by the CDE. We completed phase | and phase
[l clinical trials for Pruxelutamide for mCRPC in China in 2016
and 2017, respectively. We commenced phase Il clinical trials
of Pruxelutamide for mCRPC in China in May 2018. As of 4
August 2020, the Group completed patients enrollment under
the final trial protocol for Pruxelutamide’s phase I clinical trial
for mCRPC in China. We plan to submit the NDA to NMPA
for Pruxelutamide in 2022 based on the final analysis of primary

endpoint of overall survival (OS).
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We received approval from the CDE in 2018 to conduct phase
[l clinical trial for Pruxelutamide in combination therapy with
Abiraterone for mCRPC as a first-line combination therapy, the
phase Il clinical trial has completed 718 patients enrollment on 24
February 2022.

The US. phase | clinical trial of Pruxelutamide was completed in
May 2019. The results showed that Pruxelutamide was generally
well tolerated in mCRPC patients progressed after the treatment
with existing drugs such as Enzalutamide and Abiraterone. As at 16
July 2020, the Group had completed the protocol defined patients
enrollment for Pruxelutamide phase Il clinical trial for mCRPC in
the US..

We are carrying out an open and multi-centre phase Ic clinical
trial to evaluate the safety, pharmacokinetic characteristics and
initial efficacy of Pruxelutamide in combination with Exemestane,
Letrozole and Fulvestrant in patients with AR+ metastatic breast
cancer. The trial has completed patients enrollment for phase Ic on
25 August 2021,

Pyrilutamide (KX-826)

Pyrilutamide (KX-826) (&t /&) is an AR antagonist. We
commenced pre-clinical research of Pyrilutamide in July 201 | and
are currently developing Pyrilutamide as a potential first-in-class

topical drug for the treatment of AGA and acne vulgaris.

Indication of AGA

We received IND approval for Pyrilutamide for AGA in China
and the U.S. in April 2018 and June 2018, respectively. We
commenced relevant phase | clinical trials in China and the US. in

December 2018 and January 2019, respectively.
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On 29 December 2020, we completed the enrollment of 120
patients for the phase Il clinical trial of Pyrilutamide for male AGA
patients in China. On 8 September 2021, we announced that
the primary endpoint of phase Il clinical trial of Pyrilutamide in
China for the treatment of male AGA patients was met, which
was statistically significant and clinically meaningful. Results have
shown that the use of Pyrilutamide in the treatment of AGA has
a good safety profile, and that the majority of adverse events
observed were mild, and no serious adverse event occurred. On
24 November 2021, we announced that the IND application
for the pivotal study (phase lll clinical trial) of Pyrilutamide for
the treatment of AGA male patients was cleared by NMPA.
Pyrilutamide is the first topical AR antagonist which has entered
the phase Il clinical trial of AGA globally. As at the date of this
report, we have completed the enrollment and dosing of patients
in the phase Il clinical trial for the treatment of AGA female
patients and the enrollment and dosing of the first patient of the
phase Il clinical trial for the treatment of male AGA patients,

respectively, in China.

On 3 August 2020, we completed the phase Ib clinical trial of
Pyrilutamide in the U.S.. On | | July 2021, we announced that FDA
has greenlighted Pyrilutamide’s phase Il clinical trial for AGA to
be conducted in the U.S. On 28 February 2022, we enrolled and
dosed first patient in the phase Il clinical trial of Pyrilutamide for
the treatment of male AGA patients in the U.S..

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
[l July 2021, 8 September 2021, 12 November 2021, 24
November 2021, 2 January 2022. | March 2022 and 6 March
2022, respectively, for further information on the latest research

developments on Pyrilutamide for the indication of AGA.
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Indication of acne vulgaris

On 17 September 2020, we obtained the approval for the IND
of Pyrilutamide (KX-826) gel formula for the indication of acne
vulgaris from NMPA. On 16 April 2021, the phase I/Il clinical trial
of Pyrilutamide gel as a treatment for the acne vulgaris completed
the first batch of patients enrollment and successfully dosed in
China. The phase | clinical trial of KX-826 for the treatment of
acne vulgaris has demonstrated a preliminary positive safety and
tolerability profile in terms of dose-escalation and dosing frequency.
On 24 January 2022, we enrolled and dosed the first patient in
the phase Il clinical trial of Pyrilutamide gel as a treatment for acne

vulgaris in China.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated |6 April
2021 and 24 January 2022, respectively, for further information on
the latest research developments on Pyrilutamide for the indication

of acne vulgaris.

ALK-1 (GT90001)

ALK-1 antibody is a new antiangiogenesis inhibitor and ALK-|
is a new biological target spot globally. In 2018, we obtained an
exclusive global licence from Pfizer to develop and commercialise
ALK-1 antibody for the treatment of metastatic HCC and other

oncological indications.

ALK-1 antibody has the potential to become the first fully human
monoclonal antibody therapeutic drug for ALK-| target, which can
potentially be used in combination with PD-I inhibitors or VEGF

inhibitors for the treatment of a variety of solid tumours.
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Pfizer completed two phase | clinical trials for ALK-I antibody
for advanced solid tumours, including HCC, as a monotherapy in
the US. and [taly, as well as in South Korea and Japan. Our phase
[l clinical trial for ALK-1 antibody as a combination therapy with
PD-1 monoclonal antibody Nivolumab (Opdivo), for metastatic
HCC in Taiwan for patients who failed the first-line treatment
of Sorafenib or Lenvatinib. The data collected were released at
the 2021 American Society of Clinical Oncology Gastrointestinal
Cancers Symposium (ASCO-GI). The results showed that among
the 20 evaluable patients, eight patients (40.0%) were observed
partial remission (PR). We expect the last patient out in June 2022
for this phase Il trial.

On 30 July 2020, we entered into a partnership agreement with
Jiangsu Alphamab Biopharmaceuticals Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Alphamab Oncology (stock code: 9969.HK), to jointly
develop the combination therapy of PD-LI/CTLA-4 bispecific
antibody KNO46 and ALK-I monoclonal antibody globally. We
have commenced the enrollment and dosing of patients with
advanced or refractory solid tumors in a phase Ib/ll clinical trial of
ALK-1 antibody in combination with KNO46 in Taiwan, China.

On 18 February 2021, we announced that the IND application
of the combination therapy of ALK-I monoclonal antibody and
Nivolumab for a global multi-centre phase Il clinical trial for the
second-line treatment of advanced HCC had been greenlighted by
FDA. On 9 October 2021, the clinical trial of combination therapy
of ALK-1 antibody and Nivolumab for the treatment of advanced
HCC was approved by NMPA.

For further details on the latest research developments on ALK-
| antibody, please refer to the announcements published by
the Company on |8 February 2021, || October 2021 and 2
November 2021, respectively.
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Other Clinical Stage Products

AR-PROTAC Compound (GT20029)

GT20029 is considered a natural progression from AR inhibitors,
and has the potential to become a new generation of treatment
for AGA and acne vulgaris. GT20029 is a topical AR-PROTAC
compound developed by using the Group’s in-house PROTAC

platform.

On 14 April 2021, the IND applications of GT20029 for AGA
and acne vulgaris indications were approved by CDE. GT20029 is
the first topical PROTAC drug which entered clinical stage around
the world. On 28 July 2021, the first batch of subjects have been

enrolled and dosed in the clinical trial.

On I3 July 2021, we announced that IND clearance has been
received from FDA for GT20029 for the treatment of AGA and
acne vulgaris in the US.. On | February 2022, the first subject has

been enrolled and dosed in this clinical trial.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated |
February 2021, I5 April 2021, I3 July 2021, 28 July 2021 and 3
February 2022, respectively, for further information.

PD-LI/TGF-B (GT90008)

On 20 August 2020, we entered into an exclusive license
agreement with Gensun Biopharma Inc. (*Gensun”), pursuant
to which we obtained from Gensun, among others, an exclusive
license to conduct research, development, clinical trials,
registration, manufacture and commercialisation of PD-LI/TGF-3
dual-targeting antibody (the “Compound”) in Greater China. The
Compound is a dual-targeting antibody composed of an antagonist
antibody of PD-L| and the extracellular domain of TGF-3 with
high activity in inhibiting PD-LI and TGF-3 simultaneously. The
Compound has the potential in the treatment of a variety of solid
tumours, including non-small cell lung cancer, biliary tract cancer,
triple negative breast cancer and HPV-associated tumours such
as cervical cancer and has the potential to become a best-in-class

drug.
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On 21 October 2021, the clinical trial of PD-LI/TGF-B dual-
targeting antibody for the treatment of advanced solid tumours
was approved by NMPA. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 20 August 2020 for further information.

e Detorsertib (GT0486)

Detorsertib (GT0486) (:##HZE%S) is an inhibitor of the PI3K/
mTOR signalling pathway and a second generation mTOR
inhibitor. We are currently developing GT0486 primarily for the
treatment of metastatic solid tumours such as breast cancer,
prostate cancer and HCC. We received the IND approval from
NMPA for Detorsertib in August 2019 and recorded the first
patient enrollment on 18 February 202 1.

*  Hedgehog/SMO Inhibitor (GTI708F)

Hedgehog/SMO Inhibitor (GT1708F) is an inhibitor of the
hedgehog signal transduction pathway. We are currently
developing GT1708F primarily for the treatment of blood cancer
and BCC. We obtained IND approval for GT1708F from NMPA
in February 2020 and recorded the first patients enrollment on 27
November 2020. We also obtained IND approval for GT | 708F in
the US. on 23 November 2020.

Pre-Clinical Stage Products

In addition to the drug candidates described above, we are also in the
discovery phase for the development of other potential drug candidates,
including c-Myc inhibitor, compounds of other targets out of PROTAC
platform and ALK-1/VEGF bispecific antibody.

WARNING UNDER RULE 18A.08(3) OF THE LISTING
RULES: WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ULTIMATELY
DEVELOP AND MARKET OUR DRUG CANDIDATES
(INCLUDING OUR CORE PRODUCTS) SUCCESSFULLY
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

We have established an integrated R&D platform to support our drug
development programmes from drug discovery to clinical trials. We
conduct proprietary laboratory research to identify and select new
compounds as our potential drug candidates, and we manage our
drug development process primarily using our internal R&D resources
to ensure that the process meets the quality standards we have set

internally.

Through the development of two of our Core Products, being
Pruxelutamide and Pyrilutamide, we have accumulated significant
expertise in AR-related know-how and have developed a leading AR
technology platform. We believe we have accumulated industry-leading
expertise in the field of AR signalling pathway, molecule design and
PK/PD modelling. Leveraging our AR technology platform, we have
successfully progressed Pruxelutamide to phase Il clinical trials in China
and the US, expanded the indication of Pruxelutamide to COVID-19,
and have also developed Pyrilutamide and AR-PROTAC for AGA
and acne vulgaris. As at the date of this report, we have successfully
progressed Pyrilutamide to phase Ill clinical trials for the treatment
of male AGA patients and phase |l clinical trials for the treatment of
AGA female patients and Pyrilutamide gel to phase Il clinical trial for
treatment for acne vulgaris in China. PROTAC is a novel drug discovery
technology platform for targeting and/or degrading undruggable and
oncogene mutant drivers that drive the resistance to the targeted
therapies. We are currently employing the PROTAC technology with
an aim to develop the compounds targeting AR and other targets for

patients with unmet medical needs globally.
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By in-licensing and developing our Core Product ALK-I, we have
gradually established and expanded our R&D capabilities in the field
of biological drug. We have carried forward ALK-I to phase I, and
explored the combination therapy with KNO46 and other drugs. As
at the date of this report, we have commenced the enrollment and
dosing of patients with advanced or refractory solid tumors in a phase
Ib/Il clinical trial of combination therapy with KNO046. In addition, we
also introduced the second biological drug PD-LI/TGF-3 dual-targeting

antibody for the treatments of multiple solid tumors.

Our R&D work is led by senior scientists, including Dr. TONG,
supported by seven other returnee scientists who have accumulated
decades of pharmaceutical R&D and entrepreneurship experience in
reputable pharma and biotech companies in the U.S. and who together
provide us with combined expertise covering small molecule, biologics,

compound design.

For the years ended 3| December 2020 and 2021, our research and
development expenses were approximately RMB328.8 million and
RMB767.9 million, respectively.
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COMMERCIALISATION AND
MANUFACTURING

As of the date of this report, we had not commercialised any of our
drug candidates. We plan to conduct the sales and marketing and
subsequent commercialisation preparation work in relation to our Core
Products primarily by license-out in several countries around the world
and building sales and marketing team. As of 31 December 2021, we
had built a sales and marketing team of |3 members. In addition, we
appointed Dr. Qun LU as our chief technology officer and appointed Dr.
Jiawen HAN as our vice president of business development on |0 May
2021. Dr. LU has over 20 years of experience in the biopharmaceutical
industry with a proven track record of successfully leading the CMC
development at various pharmaceutical corporations. Dr. HAN has over
25 years of experience in drug development and business operations in
the pharmaceuticals industry. The participation of Dr. LU and Dr. HAN
will certainly further accelerate the pace of product commercialisation

of the Company.

We plan to use our own manufacturing facilities in Suzhou and Pinghu in
China for the manufacture of APIs and final products for Pruxelutamide
and Pyrilutamide. We also expanded the production capacity of
Pruxelutamide through cooperation with CDMO companies. On 28
August 2020, our manufacturing and R&D facility in Suzhou commenced
operations in preparation for the production of Pruxelutamide. In
November 2020, our Suzhou facility was granted the Pharmaceutical
Production License issued by Jiangsu Medical Products Administration.
In April 2021, we entered into a strategic cooperation agreement with a
CDMO company, hamely Hainan Visum Pharmaceutical Limited (&R
ST ELZEBR /AR, relating to expansion of production capacity
of Pruxelutamide. Our manufacturing facilities in Pinghu are currently in
the project design stage. The construction of our manufacturing facilities
in Pinghu is in the preparatory stage and is expected to commence
in the second quarter of 2022. On 30 April 2021, we expanded our
geographical presence to the Zhuhai International Health Port. The
Zhuhai office will focus on tumor immunity and promote the clinical
R&D, production and commercialization of the Group's biological drugs.

This is a step forward in our strategy to enrich our drug pipeline.
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IMPACT OF COVID-19

We are conducting a number of global multi-centre clinical trials for
our drug candidates in the PRC (including Taiwan), the U.S. and other
countries and regions. We have employed various measures to mitigate
the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on our ongoing clinical trials,
including supplying enrolled patients with study medication through
courier and arranging for enrolled patients to conduct check-ups at
alternative medical centres if the ones they generally visit become
unavailable. We currently do not anticipate any material deviation from
our drug development, manufacturing and commercialisation plans, and
the expected development progress of our Core Products has taken
into account the temporary delays and disruptions on our ongoing
clinical trials as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak. However, the
COVID-19 pandemic is with limited precedent, and it is therefore not
possible to predict the impact that it will ultimately have on our business
or our industry. There is also no assurance that the COVID-19 outbreak
will not further escalate or have a material adverse effect on our results

of operations.

The Directors confirm that, save as disclosed above, there has been no
material adverse change in our financial, operational or trading positions

or prospects during the Reporting Period.

Besides, following the outbreak of COVID-19, the Company has
found that one of the Core Products, Pruxelutamide, could treat
COVID-19 and we have been conducting various clinical trials of
Pruxelutamide for the treatment of COVID-19. As of the date of this
report, Pruxelutamide had been administered with an EUA in certain
hospitals in Paraguay for treatment of hospitalised COVID-19 patients,
where promising initial results had been observed. As as the date of this
report, Pruxelutamide has also been granted EUA by, among others,
the Ministry of Health of the state of Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina
and Liberia for the treatment of hospitalised COVID- 9 patients, and
authorisation for use by the Ministry of Health of the Republic of Ghana
in March 2022. The Group will continue to advance clinical trials and
EUA applications for Pruxelutamide to be used for the purposes of
treating COVID-19 patients in other countries and regions to drive the

sales and the progress of commercialisation of Pruxelutamide.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overview

We currently have no drugs approved for commercial sale for the year
ended 31 December 2021. We have never been profitable and have
incurred operating losses in each year since our inception. For the year
ended 3| December 2021, we generated revenue from out-licensing
contracts of RMB34.2 million as compared to nil for the year ended
31 December 2020. We recorded other income of RMB29.3 million,
representing an increase of |6.7% as compared with RMB25.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2020. Our loss and total comprehensive
loss were RMB508.3 million and RMB842.1 million for the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2021, respectively. Our adjusted loss and total
comprehensive loss for the same period after adding back the Listing
expenses and share-based compensation expenses for the Employee
Incentive Scheme were RMB459.4 million and RMB804.7 million,
respectively. Our marketing costs were RMB8.6 million and RMB4.7
million for the years ended 3| December 2020 and 2021, respectively.
Our administrative expenses were RMB77.1 million and RMB03.3
million for the years ended 3| December 2020 and 2021, respectively.
Our R&D costs were RMB328.8 million and RMB767.9 million for the
years ended 3| December 2020 and 2021, respectively. Our other
losses were RMBI |5.5 million and RMB17.3 million for the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2021, respectively. Our finance costs were
RMB3.4 million and RMB2.5 million for the years ended 3| December
2020 and 2021, respectively.

Revenue from out-licensing contracts

For the year ended 3| December 2021, we recorded revenue from
out-licensing contracts of RMB34.2 million (2020: nil), which was
generated from the receipt of the upfront payments in connection with

the out-licensing of Pruxelutamide.
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Other Income

Our other income primarily consisted of interest income from bank
balances and government grants. Our other income increased by
RMB4.2 million or 16.7% from RMB25.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 to RMB29.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2021, which was mainly attributable to (i) a RMBO.7 million increase in
interest income from bank balances primarily due to the increase of our
bank balances resulting from the proceeds from the Global Offering and
the Top-up Placing; (ii) a RMBI.8 million increase in government grants;
(i) a RMBI.0 million increase in interest income from time deposits
primarily as a result of the increase of our time deposits for the unused
proceeds from the Global Offering and the Top-up Placing; and (iv)

other income of RMBO.7 million.

Marketing Costs

Our marketing costs primarily consisted of (i) salaries and other benefits
of our sales and marketing team; and (i) administrative expenses
including business trip expenses and other business development
expenses. Our marketing costs increased from RMB8.6 million for the
year ended 3| December 2020 to RMB14.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2021, which was mainly attributable to the increase in
share-based compensation expense for key team members; and the

organisation of more academic and conference activities.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses during the Reporting Period primarily
consisted of (i) employee benefit expenses, which primarily consisted of
compensation for management and administrative personnel (including
share-based compensation expenses relating to the Employee Incentive
Scheme); (ii) utilities and office expenses for our offices and laboratories;
(iii) depreciation and amortization, which primarily consisted of
depreciation of right-of-use assets in relation to our leased properties
for administrative use and amortization of computer software; and
(iv) other miscellaneous administrative expenses such as professional
advisory expenses, recruitment related activities expenses, bank charges,
rental expenses for our other leased offices not accounted for as right-

of-use assets and other general administrative expenses.
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of our administrative
expenses, by amount and as a percentage of our total administrative

expenses, for the years indicated:

For the year ended

BEUTHHLEE
2021 2020
2021 5 20204
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
AR®BTT % ARETIT %
Employee benefit expenses EERAIF 40,535 39.3 24,035 312
Add: share-based compensation — fill : LAR%{n A EREAY
expenses FHMFE 11,949 11.6 7,832 10.2
Employee benefit expenses EERAMAX
(including share-based (BIEAR AR
compensation expenses) M) 52,484 50.9 31,867 414
Utilities and office expenses IKEE R AR 21,033 20.4 10,318 134
Depreciation and amortization PrEE Mg 5,778 5.6 3,259 42
Listing expenses il 5 - - 20,761 269
Others Hib 23,960 23.1 10,858 [4.1
Total st 103,255 100.0 77,063 100.0
BRAEXERAA
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Our administrative expenses increased by RMB26.2 million or 34.0%
from RMB77.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
RMB103.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, which was
mainly attributable to (i) an RMB20.6 million increase in employee
benefit expenses primarily resulting from new recruitments and hiring
of senior management in line with the fast development of our business
and the grant of RSUs to senior management and employees with
administrative functions on 31 March 2021 and 30 September 202
(i) an RMBI10.7 million increase in utilities and office expenses in line
with the expansion of our operations; and (iii) an RMBI3.1 million
increase in other administrative expenses primarily relating to the
increase of our recruitment related activities expenses and professional
advisory expenses such as compliance consulting fees, legal consulting
fees, taxation, intangible property valuation and intellectual property

maintenance.

Research and Development Costs

Our R&D costs during the Reporting Period primarily consisted of (i)
clinical research expenses, which primarily consisted of fees paid to
CROs for clinical trials and the hospitals in which we conducted our
clinical trials; (i) materials and consumables expenses in connection with
our R&D; (iii) employee benefit expenses, which primarily consisted
of compensation to R&D personnel (including the share-based
compensation expenses for the Employee Incentive Scheme); (iv) third
party contracting fees, which primarily consisted of fees paid to CROs
and CMOs for purpose of preclinical trials; and (v) other R&D costs,
which primarily consisted of utilities and office expenses in relation to
R&D use, depreciation of right-of-use assets in relation to our leased

properties for R&D use and depreciation of our laboratory equipment.
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of our R&D costs, by — TERBFIRFIREE R MILSEE R REK AL
amount and as a percentage of our total R&D costs, for the years A OB SRR AER AR

indicated:

For the year ended

BEUTHHLEE
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
AR®BTT % ARETIT %
Employee benefit expenses EERAIF 76,659 10.0 48,440 14.7
Add: share-based compensation — fill : LAR%{n A EREAY
expenses FHMFE 19,929 2.6 20,327 6.2
Employee benefit expenses EERAMAX
(including share-based (BIEAR AR
compensation expenses) M) 96,588 12.6 68,767 209
Clinical research expenses & R AT 7% e 2 448,870 58.4 104,702 31.8
Materials and consumables MR FEM
expenses Sz 146,433 19.1 88,223 26.8
Third party contracting fees F=HEHNER 59,419 1.7 59,267 18.0
Others H A 16,626 2.2 7,805 25
Total 4t 767,936 100.0 328,764 100.0

Our R&D costs for Pruxelutamide were RMB165.2 million and  FMIAE = ERNE Z2020% X202 F 12431 H

RMB537.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2021,  IEFEMHBEKAS R ABARKEIG2EETEA

respectively, and our R&D costs for Pyrilutamide were RMB34.8 million R¥5373R & T - M PRI ER20205 &

and RMB45.7 million in 2020 and 2021, respectively (excluding ancillary 2021 FEIIH K A D Bl B AREE348BE TR A

R&D costs which are not product-specific). E¥4578 &0 (MR IE IEE m s R Bh A 3
BXAR) o
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Our R&D costs increased by RMB439.1 million or 133.5% from
RMB328.8 million for the year ended 3| December 2020 to RMB767.9
million for the year ended 3| December 2021, which was mainly
attributable to (i) an RMB344.2 million increase in clinical research
expenses primarily paid to CROs for clinical trials and hospitals where
we conducted clinical trials; (i) an RMB58.2 million increase in materials
and consumables expenses primarily resulting from (1) the purchases
of active pharmaceutical ingredients (APIs) for the production of
Pruxelutamide and Pyrilutamide used in our clinical trials; (2) the
purchase of branded Abiraterone for our Pruxelutamide phase Il clinical
trials (combination therapy with Abiraterone for mCRPC) in China; and
(iii) an RMB27.8 million increase in R&D employee benefit expenses
primarily due to the expansion of our R&D personnel and the grant of
RSUs to certain of our R&D employees under the Employee Incentive

Scheme.

Other Losses — Net

We had other losses of RMBI17.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 primarily as a result of net foreign exchange losses due
to exchange rates movement. We had other losses of RMBI [ 5.5 million
for the year ended 3| December 2020.

Finance Costs — Net

Our finance costs during the Reporting Period primarily consisted of
interest expense from bank borrowings. Our finance costs decreased
by RMBO.9 million or 26.5% from RMB3.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 to RMB2.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2021, which was mainly attributable to the decrease in interest expense

from borrowings.

Income Tax Expenses

We recorded income tax expenses of RMB73,000 for the year ended
31 December 2020, primarily due to the US$0.| million service fee
received by Kintor US from Suzhou Kintor for the purpose of general
R&D was recognised as revenue. We did not record any income tax

expense for the Reporting Period as we incurred a net loss.
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Net Loss for the Reporting Period

Our net loss increased by RMB333.8 million or 65.7% from RMB508.3
million for the year ended 3| December 2020 to RMB842.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021.

Non-IFRS Measure

To supplement the Group’s consolidated financial statements, which are
presented in accordance with the IFRS, the Company also uses adjusted
loss and total comprehensive loss for the Reporting Period and other
adjusted figures as additional financial measures, which are not required
by, or presented in accordance with, the IFRS. The Company believes
that these adjusted measures provide useful information to shareholders
and potential investors in understanding and evaluating the Group's
consolidated results of operations in the same manner as they help the

Company's management.

Adjusted loss and total comprehensive loss for the Reporting Period
represents the loss and total comprehensive loss for the Reporting
Period excluding the effect of certain non-cash items and one-time
events, namely the share-based compensation expenses and the Listing
expenses. The term adjusted loss and total comprehensive loss for the
Reporting Period is not defined under the IFRS. The use of this non-
IFRS measure has limitations as an analytical tool, and it should not be
considered in isolation from, or as substitute for analysis of, the Group's
results of operations or financial condition as reported under IFRS. The
Company's presentation of such adjusted figure may not be comparable
to a similarly titled measure presented by other companies. However,
the Company believes that this and other non-IFRS measures reflect
the Group’s normal operating results by eliminating impacts of items
that the management do not consider to be indicative of the Group's
operating performance, and thus facilitate comparison of operating
performance form period to period and company to company to the

extent applicable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED AN

The table below sets forth a reconciliation of the loss and total TRV TRFEFABELEMEEAZER
comprehensive loss for the year to adjusted loss and total KR EE N 2 E AR IR ¢

comprehensive loss for the years indicated:

For the year ended

BEUTHHLEE
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARBTFT
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year 4 (AE51E &k 2 & 1E B 58 (842,095) (508,301)
Added: -
Listing expenses (one-time) FBFE (— K1) - 20,761
Share-based compensation expenses PARS 9 75 B bt 6 3 BN 5 =2 37,347 28,159
Adjusted loss and total comprehensive loss FAKAEEENMEE
for the year B e (804,748) (459,381)
Employees and Remuneration Policies EENHMBE
The following table sets forth a breakdown of our employees by TREFH R PR ER DB E SRR -
function:
As of 31 December 2021
EZ2021F12A831H
As a
Number of percentage
employees of total
HBA™
EEAH Aok
Core management 2O EIRE 11 3.5%
Clinical e R 64 20.3%
R&D e 93 29.4%
Manufacturing HE 67 21.2%
Commercial HEXe 13 4.1%
Project management JHEER 19 6.0%
Others Hifb 49 15.5%
Total st 316 100.0%
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As at 3| December 2021, the Group had a total of 316 full time
employees, among whom, 305 were based in China, 7 were based
in the U.S,, and 4 was based in Hong Kong (China). We generally
formulate our employees’ remuneration package to include basic salary,
position-specific salary, performance-based remuneration, project-
based remuneration and various allowances. We conduct periodic
performance reviews for our employees. We have also adopted
the Employee Incentive Scheme to retain and incentivise our key

management and staff.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2021 (as at 31 December 2020: nil).

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash and cash equivalents and time deposits primarily consisted of
deposits with banks and cash on hand. As of 31 December 2021, cash
and cash equivalents and time deposits decreased by RMB333.8 million
from RMBI,389.0 million as of 31 December 2020 to RMBI,055.2
million. The decrease was primarily resulted from usage for various
operating activities including R&D, purchase of assets, staff wages and
benefits and other various management expenses. The current ratio
(total current assets as a percentage of total current liabilities) of the
Group decreased from 838.9% as of 3| December 2020 to 694.4% as
of 31 December 2021, mainly due to the increase in trade and other
payables resulting from the increased business activities during the

Reporting Period.

As of 31 December 2021, we had utilised bank facilities of RMB154.9

million and unutilised bank facilities of RMB 50 million.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions or
Disposals

As of 31 December 2021, there were no significant investments held by
the Company nor any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,

associates and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEFNWED T
Cash Flow ReERE
The following table sets forth a summary of our consolidated statements THREBINRFARFERMNGEERERER
of cash flows for the years indicated: CI
For the year ended
BEUTHHLEE
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTFT
Cash used in operations before changes in LIEE B EILE
working capital FTRIR <€ (765,085) (367,528)
Changes in working capital LIEE ) (284,588) (12,877)
Net interest paid BT S5 (881) (404)
Income tax paid B ETRH (809) (73)
Net cash used in operating activities KRB FT AR & R EE (1,051,363) (380,882)
Net cash generated from/(used) in investing REESRE/(FTA)EE
activities FER 92,005 (439,728)
Net cash generated from financing activities mE EE TSR G F5E 857,418 1,780,298
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEYILINFEEE (101,940) 959,688
Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of FYIRE NIREEH
the year (=E7) 1,064,689 195,532
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents B MRS EBYRE N EE (36,418) (90,531)
Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the year FRIFE NIBEEHEY 926,331 1,064,689
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities RETHFARESFE

During the Reporting Period, we derived our cash inflows from R EERE - RS EFHNRESRATERE
operating activities primary from the receipt of upfront payments in WOER 3 5 B R ET MR R B N KA RIBURFE B ©
connection with the out-licensing of Pruxelutamide and government RS R TR S FB T EREHREEY R

grants. Our net cash used in operating activities mainly consisted of THFAX -

R&D expenses and administrative expenses.
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During the year ended 3| December 2021, our net cash used in
operating activities was RMB1,051.4 million, consisting of RMB1,049.7
million of cash used in operations, interest paid on borrowings of
RMB6.8 million, interest received on bank balances of RMB5.9 million

and income tax paid of RMBO.8 million.

During the year ended 3| December 2020, our net cash used
in operating activities was RMB380.9 million, primarily consisting
of RMB380.4 million of cash used in operations, interest paid on
borrowings of RMB7.6 million and interest received on bank balances of
RMB7.2 million.

Net Cash Generated from Investing Activities

During the Reporting Period, our cash flows relating to investing
activities primarily reflected purchases of technical know-how and
purchases of property, plant and equipment, in-license of intangible assets

and purchase of financial products.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, our net cash generated
from investing activities was RMB92.0 million, which primarily consisted
of (i) purchase of equipment of RMB76.2 million for our Suzhou plant
to expand its capacity; (i) purchase of time deposits with maturities of
over three months and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
of RMB515.4 million; (iii) intangible assets of RMB29.5 million resulting
from milestone payments of PD-LI/TGF-B3; and (iv) payments for
restricted cash of RMBI.7 million resulting from payments of deposits
for our financial products, partially offset by proceeds received upon
maturity of certain time deposits with maturities of over three months
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of RMB714.8

million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED AN

During the year ended 31 December 2020, our net cash used in
investing activities was RMB439.7 million, which primarily consisted
of (i) purchase of property, plant and equipment of RMB69.0 million
for our Suzhou plant; (i) purchase of intangible assets of RMB27.1
million for the exclusive license we obtained from Gensun to conduct
research, development, clinical trials, registration, manufacture and
commercialisation of the Licensed Product(s); (i) purchases of time
deposits with maturities of over three months of RMB480.9 million with
the unused proceeds from the Global Offering; and (iv) purchases of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of RMB252.8 million
for investments in wealth management products, dual currency wealth
management products and foreign exchange forward contracts; partially
offset by (i) proceeds from time deposits with maturities of over
three months of RMBI134.1 million and (i) proceeds from disposal of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of RMB254.4 million
for redemption of investments in wealth management products, dual
currency wealth management products and foreign exchange forward

contracts.

Net Cash Generated from Financing Activities

During the Reporting Period, our cash flows relating to financing
activities primarily reflected proceeds from the Top-up Placing and bank

borrowings.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, our net cash generated
from financing activities was RMB857.4 million, which primarily consisted
of (i) proceeds from the Top-up Placing of RMB952.0 million and (ii)
proceeds from borrowings of RMB20 million, partially offset by (i)
repayment of borrowings of RMB83.6 million, (i) payment of lease
liabilities of RMB28.9 million and (iii) payment of listing expenses of
RMB2.0 million.
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During the year ended 3| December 2020, our net cash generated
from financing activities was RMB1,780.3 million, which primarily
consisted of (i) proceeds from borrowings of RMB239.0 million and
(i) proceeds from the Global Offering of RMBI,652.7 million, partially
offset by (i) payment of lease liabilities of RMB3.| million mainly relating
to rental payment for our offices; (ii) repayments of borrowings of
RMB79.2 million; and (iii) payment for Listing expenses of RMB29. |

million.

Financial Position

Our net current assets increased from RMBI,251.3 million as of 31
December 2020 to RMB1,306.2 million as of 31 December 2021.
Current assets increased from RMB1,420.6 million as of 31 December
2020 to RMBI,525.9 million as of 31 December 2021, primarily due to

the net proceeds we received from the Top-up Placing.

Significant Change in Accounting Policy

There was no significant change in accounting policy during the

Reporting Period.

Indebtedness

As of 31 December 2021, the balance of our bank borrowings
consisted of long-term bank borrowings of RMB96.5 million which were
secured by certain land use right, buildings and construction in progress
and unsecured long-term bank borrowings of RMB58.4 million. In the
balance of our bank borrowings, RMB7.4 million is repayable within one

year or on demand.

As of 3| December 2020, the balance of our bank borrowings
consisted of short-term bank borrowings of RMB79.9 million which
were unsecured and unguaranteed and long-term bank borrowings of
RMB138.6 million which were secured by certain land use right, buildings
and construction in progress. In the balance of our bank borrowings,

RMB83.6 million is repayable within one year or on demand.

As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, cash and cash
equivalents is more than total borrowings of the Group, therefore, the

gearing ratio is not applicable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED AN

Financial Risks

We are exposed to various types of financial and market risks,
including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, management of the Group
continuously monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider

hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk as at 31 December
2021 mainly came from cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and
time deposits at bank denominated in USD and HKD which were
primarily consisted of the proceeds we received in the Global Offering

and the Top-up Placing.

Cash flow and Fair Value Interest Rate Risk

Our income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates. We have no significant interest-bearing
assets and liabilities, except for lease liabilities, cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, time deposits and borrowings. Those carried at floating
rates expose us to cash flow interest rate risk whereas those carried at

fixed rates expose us to fair value interest rate risk.

Our interest rate risk mainly arises from borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at fixed rates expose us to fair value interest rate risk. As of 3|
December 2021 and 2020, all of our borrowings carried at fixed rates,

which exposed the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Our management does not anticipate significant impact to interest-
bearing assets resulting from the changes in interest rates, because the

interest rates of bank deposits are not expected to change significantly.
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Credit Risk

We are exposed to credit risk in relation to our receivables, cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and wealth
management products. The carrying amounts of receivables, cash and
cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and wealth management
products represent our maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to

financial assets.

We expect that there is no significant credit risk associated with
cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits, and wealth
management products since they are substantially deposited at or
purchased from state-owned banks and other medium or large-sized
listed banks. Our management does not expect that there will be any
significant losses from non-performance by these counterparties and the

loss allowance provision is considered immaterial.

We have assessed that during the Reporting Period, other receivables
have not had a significant increase in credit risk since their initial
recognition. Therefore, a |2-month expected credit loss approach that
results from possible default event within 12 months of each reporting
date is adopted by our management. As at 3| December 2021 and
2020, other receivables mainly comprise deposits to lessors in respect

of the Group's leased properties.

We expect that there is no significant credit risk associated with
other receivables since the counterparties have no history of default.
Accordingly, the expected credit loss of other receivables is considered

immaterial.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED AN

Liquidity Risk

We finance our working capital requirements through the issue of new
shares, borrowings and government grants. Our management monitors
rolling forecasts of our liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash

flows.

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash
and cash equivalents and the ability to apply for credit facilities if
necessary. We had net current assets of RMBI,306.2 million as of 31
December 202 1. We are able to meet our financial obligations and fund
our R&D activities through our cash on hand and consecutive capital

raising activities.

FUTURE AND OUTLOOK

Our mission is focusing on the research, development, and
commercialization of products for diseases with unmet clinical needs. In
response to the global spread of the COVID-19 pandemic, we will make
our best effort to promote the commercialisation of Pruxelutamide
and make it an effective and safe treatment for COVID-19 in clinical
use as soon as possible, making our contribution to the combat against
COVID-19.

To accomplish that mission, we plan continue to advance the
clinical development, regulatory approvals and commercial launch
of Pruxelutamide first in China and strategically progress the clinical
development and commercialisation of Pruxelutamide in other
countries and regions out of China. Since July 2020, we have been
progressing on our clinical trials of Pruxelutamide for the treatment of
COVID-19. According to the clinical data we have collected, the efficacy
profiles of Pruxelutamide in the treatment of patients with COVID-19
are outstanding. Pruxelutamide is generally well-tolerated, safe and
controllable. We strive to launch Pruxelutamide to the market for
COVID-19 treatment as soon as possible, and help people around the
globe to defeat COVID-19.
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We also plan to leverage our expertise in AR-related research and
continue our clinical development of Pyrilutamide for androgenetic
alopecia and acne vulgaris in both China and the U.S.. Also, we plan to
develop ALK-1 as a potential first-in-class drug, as well as PD-LI/TGF-3
as a potential best-in-class drug, in combination therapies with a variety
of antibodies or bispecific antibodies for the treatment of various solid
tumours and leveraging the expertise of our biologics R&D personnel to
enhance our biologics R&D capabilities. We also plan to further leverage
our PROTAC platform in development of small molecule drugs such as
GT20029 and seeking innovative drug strategies of applying PROTAC

molecule in local treatment.

In order to support our continuous growth, we plan to continue our
investment in R&D infrastructure and talent to advance the clinical
development of our clinical-stage drug candidates as well as the pre-
clinical development of our existing and future drug candidates. We
also plan to seek collaboration opportunities in various aspects of our
drug development process, including pre-clinical technology, clinical

combination therapies and commercialisation.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGREEEHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Youzhi Tong (EX 2), aged 60, is our chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer. He is a founding member of the Group
and was appointed as an executive Director on 16 May 2018. As our
chief executive officer, Dr. Tong is primarily responsible for the overall
management, operations and the charting and reviewing of corporate
directions and strategies of our Group. Dr. Tong has accumulated over
20 years of experience in biopharmaceutical R&D and management.
He is also a director of various members of our Group, namely Suzhou
Kintor, Suzhou Koshine, Kintor Science, Koshine Pharmaceuticals and
Kintor Pharmaceuticals. Prior to founding our Group in 2009, Dr. Tong
served as an assistant professor of Albert Einstein College of Medicine
from 1999 to 2001. He was a vice-president of Angion Biomedica Corp.
from 2002 to 2008.

Dr. Tong graduated from Peking University with a bachelor's degree and
a master’s degree in chemistry in July 1984 and July 1988, respectively.
He received his Ph.D. in pharmacology from Cornell University in

January 1997.

In recognition of his dedication to his field, Dr. Tong has received
multiple designated funds from the U.S. National Institutes of Health
and the Chinese government. In 2000, he received a fellows' research
award from the North Shore — Long Island Jewish Research System. In
2000, he received a fellows’ award from the Multiple Myeloma Research
Foundation. In 1997, he received the AACR-Glaxo Welcome Oncology
Clinical Research Scholar Award from the American Association for
Cancer Research. Dr. Tong has also led a number of key national and

provincial R&D projects.
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Ms. Yan Lu (& #), aged 40, was appointed as the chief financial
officer of the Group in December 2019, a joint company secretary
of the Company in November 2021 and an executive Director on
31 January 2022. Ms. Lu is primarily responsible for financial planning,

internal control, investor relations and public relations of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Lu has over |3 years of experience in
investment banking business. Ms. Lu joined GF Capital (Hong Kong)
Limited in July 2018 with her last position as the director, head of
investment banking business and managing director. From September
2007 to July 2018, Ms. Lu worked at UBS Securities Hong Kong Limited
with her last position as an executive director in the Asian healthcare

group. She has been a signing Principal for Hong Kong IPOs since 2014.

Ms. Lu obtained her bachelor's degree in finance in Renmin University
of China (FREI ARKER) in the PRC in July 2003, and her master's
degree in finance from Guanghua School of Management in Peking
University (36 A E2) in the PRC in July 2005.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Yan Wang (E#7T), aged 32, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 30 April 2021. He is primarily responsible for overseeing

the corporate development and strategic planning of the Group.

Dr. Wang has joined Highlight Capital (HLC, &4 54 5 & AR AE 1%
BEBAERAA) since December 2020 as vice president. He was a
senior investment manager at TF Capital (F/BRHEIEREEESR
R A]) from September 2019 to December 2020. He was a senior
manager at WuXi Biologics Co., Ltd. (5 8ERF £ H TR D AR A
AJ) of project management from October 2017 to August 2019. Prior
to that, he was a research fellow at Nanyang Technological University of

Singapore (RTINS A 12 T KE8).

Dr. Wang obtained a bachelor's degree in material chemistry from
Peking University in July 2009, and a Ph.D in pharmaceutical sciences
from University of Wisconsin-Madison in August 2015.
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Mr. Weipeng Gao (S#EMB), aged 47, was appointed as non-
executive Director on 22 June 2021. He is primarily responsible for
overseeing the corporate development and strategic planning of the

Group.

Mr. Gao has over twenty years of experience in finance, legal and
investment areas and is currently a partner at SIP Sungent BioVenture
Capital Investment Partnership (LP)* (% M T 2 & [& JT £ 8l ¥ 1%
BEEIE AR A A Mr Gao is a co-founder of Beijing Eastern Link
Capital Management Center (LP)* (At R S BsLTIREEBH L (A
[R& %)) (“Eastern Link Capital”) since January 201 | and he worked
as a managing director at Eastern Link Capital from January 201 | to
September 2019. From November 2009 to December 2010, he was a
consultant at ABAX Investment Consulting (Suzhou Industrial) Co., Ltd*
(BREHRERBRB (BN IERRE)BR2AA). From January 2008 to
November 2009, Mr. Gao was a managing director at Startup Growth
Investment Enterprise* (FAR AKX K EIZEIZXE B Z). Mr. Gao also served
as a qualified lawyer at Beijing Guofang Law Firm* (1t 5 i Bl 77 2 A
= 7% FT) and Beijing Century-link & Xinjiyuan Law Office* (4t | T
BT 42 T BN = 75 FT) from 2001 to 2007. From August 1997 to
July 2001, Mr. Gao was an assistant to the general manager of China at
Commonwealth Bank of Australia (M B FER1T (FREIE )).

Mr. Gao obtained a bachelor's degree in Economics from Beijing
Technology and Business University in 1996, a master degree in Law
from Peking University in January 2007 and a master degree of Business
Administration from China Europe International Business School in

September 2012 respectively.
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Ms. Geqi Wei (), aged 47, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 27 September 2021. She is primarily responsible for
overseeing the corporate development and strategic planning of the

Group.

Ms. Wei is currently the deputy general manager and the chief financial
officer of Zhuhai Development Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd.*
FREERIKEELSEIRERAA]) and the chief financial officer of
Zhuhai Gree Financial Investment Management Co., Ltd.* (B84
SRR EEIEEGRRAF]), has 21 years of audit and accounting work
experience and four years of working experience in financial investment.
From March 2012 to August 2017, Ms. Wei served as the deputy
section chief of the fiscal finance and corporate audit sections at Zhuhai
Audit Bureau* (Bx)8 T 5T/3). During the periods from September
2008 to February 2012 and from March 2003 to December 2007,
Ms. Wei was the director-general of office and the section chief of the
financial responsibility audit section at Zhuhai Xiangzhou District Audit
Bureau* (Bk/B M AMEZEETD), respectively. Ms. Wei also served
as a staff member in the fiscal audit section at Hubei Provincial Audit
Department (j#1t4& 2E51E8) from January 2008 to August 2008. Prior
to March 2003, Ms. Wei had finance and fiscal management experience
with a number of state-owned enterprises, private enterprises and

foreign-invested enterprises in the PRC.

Ms. Wei obtained her qualifications as Senior Auditor of the PRC
in 2012. In April 2021, she also passed the National Unified Legal
Professional Qualification Examination and obtained the Legal Profession
Qualification Certificate.

Ms. Wei obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from the Jiangsu
University of Science and Technology ((T&fFHETAER) in 1996. She
earned a Master of Public Administration from Renmin University of
China (F B ARRAKZR) in 2009.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Dr. Michael Min Xu (##)), aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 12 August 2019. He is
responsible for providing independent advice and judgement to our
Board.

Dr. Xu has accumulated over |5 years of experience in
biopharmaceutical R&D. He is the founder and chief executive officer
of PegBio Co., Ltd (14488 B2 (%)M ) B R 2 &) which specialises
in the development of drugs for chronic metabolic diseases. He started

working at Xinfeng Biotechnology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd as the general
manager (¥TI& ¥R (_8)BR2AF]) in 2002.

Dr. Xu graduated from Xiangya School of Medicine at Central South
University (FF A 22072 E20%) with a bachelor's degree in medicine
in June 1986. He later received his Ph.D from Columbia University in
February 1996.

Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung (#212&), aged 58, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 12 August 2019. He is

responsible for providing independent advice and judgement to our
Board.

Mr. Yeung has over |5 years of experience in an international
accounting firm. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Yeung held senior
financial positions in several Hong Kong Main Board listed companies.
He worked in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in 2003, and served as a
reorganisation services director from 2008 to 2018. Before that he
served as the financial controller and company secretary of DTXS Silk
Road Investment Holdings Company Ltd, formerly known as UDL
Holdings Ltd, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 620)
in 2002. He also served as the financial controller of Amax Int'l Holdings
Ltd, formerly known as Kessel Int'| Holdings Ltd, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 959) from July 2001 to September
2001, and the financial controller of Kuangchi Science Ltd, formerly
known as Climax Int'l Ltd, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 439) from 1997 to June 2001.
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Mr. Yeung graduated from the Hong Kong Shue Yan College with a
Diploma in Accounting in July 1988, and obtained an MBA from the
University of Warwick, United Kingdom in November 201 |. He is a
fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and is a

member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute.

Prof. Liang Tong (%), aged 58, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 27 October 2020. He joined the faculty of
Columbia University in the City of New York in September 1997 as an
Associate Professor and currently is a William R. Kenan, Jr. Professor
in the Department of Biological Sciences. He was the Chair of the
Department of Biological Sciences of Columbia University from July
2013 to June 2019. From July 1992 to August 1997, he served as a
scientist of Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in Ridgefield,

Connecticut.

Prof. Tong obtained a Bachelor of Science in Chemistry from Peking
University in July 1983 and subsequently a Doctor of Philosophy in
Chemistry (Protein Crystallography) from University of California,
Berkeley in December 1989. He was a Post-doctoral Research Associate

at Purdue University in West Lafayette, Indiana until July 1992.

Prof. Tong has been a member of Phi Beta Kappa since 1989. He
received the Boehringer Ingelheim Research & Development Award in
1997. Prof. Tong is also a Fellow of the American Association for the

Advancement of Science since 2009.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Xunwei Dong (EM3#), aged 50, joined the Group in
November 2019 and is currently the chief medical officer of the Group.
She is primarily responsible for coordinating, managing and overseeing
the medical work of the Group. Dr. Dong has over 20 years of
experience in pharmaceutical industry in both New Jersey and the PRC,

mainly engaging in clinical development.

Prior to joining the Group, Dr. Dong worked in Novartis
Pharmaceuticals in Shanghai and New Jersey since 2010 and was last
held as a clinical development medical director. From February 2009
to February 2011, Dr. Dong served as a drug safety officer in Pfizer
Investment Co., Ltd. From August 2004 to November 2004, Dr. Dong
was employed by GlaxoSmithKline (China) Investment Co., Ltd. Dr.
Dong also served as an attending surgeon in Hospital affiliated to
Medical College of Dalian University from September 1993 to May
2003.

Dr. Dong obtained her degree of doctor from Chinese Academy of
Medical Sciences & Peking Union Medical College in Internal Medicine in
July 2010.

Dr. Qun Lu (BEE¥), aged 56, joined the Group in May 2021 and is
currently the chief technology officer of the Group. She is primarily
responsible for Chemistry, Manufacturing, and Control (CMC) including
drug analysis, formulation development and the production. Dr. Lu
has over 20 years of experience in biopharmaceutical industry with
proven track record of successfully leading the CMC development of
pharmaceutical dosage forms from discovery through commercialisation
at various pharmaceutical corporations including Celgene/Bristol Myers
Squibb (BMS), Merck and Pfizer.

Prior to joining the Group, Dr. Lu was an executive director at Celgene/
BMS in New Jersey from 2013 to 2019 and from 2019 to April 202 |
respectively, where she focused on defining and delivering integrated
CMC development strategies and outcomes for innovative medicines.
She also served as a member of the board of directors of International
Consortium for Innovation and Quality in Pharmaceutical Development
until 2019.
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Dr. Lu carried out post-doctoral studies in Pharmaceutics at the
University of Wisconsin — Madison from 1996 to 1997. Dr. Lu received
her bachelor’s degree in Chemistry from Peking University in 1987 and
completed her Ph.D. in Chemistry at Arizona State University in |995.

Mr. Liandong Ma (5E R), aged 63, joined the Group in June 2018
and is currently a vice president/Dean of Institute of R&D of the Group.
He is primarily responsible for early phase novel drugs discovery and
development as well as patients tailoring and translational medicine. Mr.
Ma has over 20 years of experience in pharmaceutical research and
development, including overall planning and detailed implementation,
covering fields of discovery and verification of new target and the
research and development of small molecules and biological drugs

(protein drugs and bi-specific antibodies).

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ma worked in the oncology department
of Eli Lilly and Company, a company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE: LLY) from January 1998 to January 2018, where he
led and participated in a number of oncology drug discovery projects,
including small molecule kinase inhibitors, drug transporter inhibitors,
cytokine receptor inhibitors and nuclear receptor inhibitors and
bispecific antibodies targeting tyrosine kinase receptors. Mr. Ma was
awarded in recognition of innovative scientific contribution by Eli Lilly

and Company in March 201 I.

Mr. Ma obtained his bachelor's degree in medicine and master's degree
in medicine at Harbin Medical University in the PRC in 1982 and 1985,

respectively.

Dr. Ruo Xu (5F%), aged 57, joined the Group in April 2019 and
is currently a vice president/chemistry of the Group. He is primarily

responsible for medical chemistry research and the API productions.

Before joining the Group, Dr. Xu worked in the pharmaceutical industry
for more than 20 years. Dr. Xu has served as the vice president of
chemistry and manufacturing at Zhejiang DTRM Biopharma LLC from
2018 to 2019. He was a general manager at Chemspec-API, Inc. from
2014 to 2017 and a principal scientist, outsourcing manager and senior
specialist at Schering-Plough Corporation/Merck & Co., Inc. from 1998
to 2013.
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Dr. Xu graduated from Peking University (15 S AE2) with a bachelor's
degree in chemistry in July 1985. He received his Ph.D. in chemistry
from Columbia University in May 1996 and served as a post-doctoral
fellow in chemistry at the University of California at Berkeley from June
1996 to April 1998.

Dr. Jianfei Yang (2 &8I7), aged 57, joined the Group in November
2019 and is currently a vice president/biologics of the Group. He is
primarily responsible for the research and development of biologics. Dr.
Yang has over 20 years of experience in drug discovery in the field of

immuno-inflammation and immuno-oncology.

Prior to joining the Group, Dr. Yang was the head/senior director of
Discovery Immunology at Harbour BioMed, a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2142) from August 2018 to November
2019. From 2010 to 2018, Dr. Yang served various positions such as
principal scientist at Tempero Pharmaceuticals Inc. of GlaxoSmithKline
plc in the USA. From 2001 to 2009, Dr. Yang worked at Boehringer

Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in the USA.

Dr. Yang was a postdoctoral researcher in the Department of Pathology
and Immunology at the University of Washington School of Medicine
from 1997 to 2001. Dr. Yang received his Ph.D degree in pathology
from Niigata University School of Medicine in 1997.

Dr. Jiawen Han (B3 X), aged 59, joined the Group in May 202
and is currently a vice president/business development of the Group.
He is primarily responsible for business development-related projects
and management. Dr. Han has over 25 years of experience in drug

development and business operations in the pharmaceuticals industry.

Dr. Han served as a vice president in Qilu Boston LLC in Boston and
in WuXi Biologics Co.,, Ltd. in Shanghai from September 2017 to May
2021 and from January 2014 to May 2017 respective. From 1995 to
2013, he held important roles and positions in various companies,
including AstraZeneca R&D Innovation Center China (ICC) in Shanghai,
Aileron Therapeutics, Inc. in Cambridge, ImmunoGen Inc. in Cambridge

and Apoptosis Technology Inc. in Cambridge.
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Dr. Han was a Postdoctoral Associate in department of Biology in
Massachusetts Institute of Technology in Cambridge from 1992 to 1994.
Dr. Han received his doctor degree in Medicine from Peking University
in 1986 and subsequently a Doctor of Philosophy in Biochemistry from
University of Rochester School of Medicine in New York in [1992.

Mr. Juping Shen (Ji% ), aged 52, joined the Group in November
2019 and is currently a deputy general manager of the Group. He is
primarily responsible for the production and operation of the Group.
Mr. Shen has over 30 years of experience in pharmaceutical industry in

various companies in the PRC.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Shen served as a vice general manager in
Nanjing Sanhome Pharmaceutical Co,, Ltd (7 5 B8 Ml 2% % 5 [R A 7))
from to April 2016 to October 2019. From April 2013 to December 2015,
Mr. Shen served as a senior project director of Eisai China Pharmaceutical
Inc. (&4 (FRE)ZEF AR A A]) and from January 2016 to March 2016,
he was promoted as a factory director of Eisai (Liaoning) Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (BTt (B =) RLBEHF R A Al). From February 2012 to March
2013, Mr. Shen served as a group quality director of Jiangsu Chia Tiangian
Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd (T &k IE K KHE %235 B R A &)). From January
2006 to January 2012, he served as a director of quality management
department and a director of quality management department and research
and development department in Suzhou Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd (&k
I ARFKBLEEER A 7)) and Guangdong Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd.
(BERAKEELA R A 7)) respectively.

Mr. Shen obtained his master's degree in business administration
from East-South University and his bachelor's degree from Chinese

Pharmaceutical University in March 2006 and June 1991, respectively.
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Dr. Jie Chen (BRi2), aged 39, joined the Group in July 2016 and
served as a supervisor of the research and development of our
chemistry department till November 2018 and was promoted as a
deputy general manager of the Group since November 2018. She was
a joint company secretary of the Company from November 2019 to
November 202 1. Dr. Chen has over |0 years working experience as
well as rich academic background relating to the scientific research and

development in biology and chemistry field.

Dr. Chen obtained the degree of doctor of nature science in organic
chemistry from the graduate school of the Chinese Academy of
Sciences in July 2010. Dr. Chen conducted postdoctoral research in
biochemistry at University of Texas Southwestern Medical Centre from
March 201 | to August 2015, mainly engaging in the scientific research

and related works.

Mr. Ming Ming Cheung (EB5Hf), aged 45, joined the Group
in September 2021, and is currently a vice president/investment &

international commerce of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cheung twice joined Haitong
International Securities Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0665), in January 2016 and in May 2009. He
was in charge of leveraged and acquisition finance and private equity
investment respectively. Mr. Cheung also twice joined ING Bank Hong
Kong Branch in June 201 | and January 2008. He was then responsible
for corporate client coverage and merge & acquisition financial advisory
respectively. From 2006 to 2007, Mr. Cheung worked in equity
investment in Maxdo Group in Shanghai and Hong Kong. He served as
Business Development manager in Shanghai Biochip Company Limited
from 2003 to 2006.

Mr. Cheung obtained his bachelor's degree in Biochemistry from the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 1999 and Master
of Philosophy in Bioinformatics from Medical School, the University of
Hong Kong, in 2002.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Yan Lu (JE#), is a joint company secretary of the Company.
Please refer to the section headed “— Executive Directors” above for

further information.

Mr. Wai Chiu Wong (FE{&#8), is the Associate Director of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Wong has
extensive experience in compliance and listed companies secretarial

work.

Mr. Wong is a fellow of Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
(previously known as Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries),
a fellow of the Chartered Governance Institute, a member of CPA
Australia, a member of the Hong Kong Trustee Association and a

Certified Trust Practitioner.

Mr. Wong possesses a B. Soc. Sc. (Hon.) from the University of Hong
Kong, a Post-Graduate diploma in Hong Kong and United Kingdom
law from the Manchester Metropolitan University in the United
Kingdom, Master degree in Corporate Governance from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University, Master Degree in Arbitration and Dispute
Resolution from City University of Hong Kong and Master of Applied
Science Degree from the University of Technology, Sydney, Australia.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors confirm that no change in
their information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
[3.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PREARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to implementing high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and enhance
the corporate value as well as the responsibility commitments. The
Directors recognise the importance of incorporating elements of good
corporate governance in the management structures, internal control
and risk management procedures of the Group so as to achieve

effective accountability.

The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code of corporate
governance since the Listing Date. Save for the deviation from code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as disclosed in the section headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive” in this report, the Company has
complied with all the applicable code provisions of the CG Code during
the Reporting Period. The Group will continue to review and enhance
its corporate governance practices to ensure its continued compliance
with the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Group has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix |10 of
the Listing Rules for securities transactions by Directors as its own code

of conduct.

Specific enquiries have been made of all the Directors and they have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout
the Reporting Period.

The Group's employees, who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Group, are subject to the Model Code. No incident
of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant employees was

noted by the Company throughout the Reporting Period.
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THE BOARD

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions
of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance. The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility
to the executive Directors and senior management who perform their

duties.

All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. The executive Directors oversee the daily operations
of the Group, while the independent non-executive Directors bring
independent judgment to the decision-making process of the Board,

taking into account the advice of the senior management of the Group.

The Group’s senior management is responsible for the day-to-
day management of the Group’s business, carrying out the business
decisions of the Group, overseeing the general operation, business
development, finance, marketing, and operations as well as other

essential management functions of the Group.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and the
management has an obligation to supply the Directors with adequate
information in a timely manner to enable the Directors to perform their

responsibilities.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of

the Company and the shareholders at all times.
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Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board is comprised of two (2)
executive Directors, three (3) non-executive Directors and three (3)

independent non-executive Directors as set out below:

Executive Directors
Dr. Youzhi Tong (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Yan Lu

Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Yan Wang

Mr. Weipeng Gao

Ms. Geqi Wei

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. Michael Min Xu

Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung

Prof. Liang Tong

The biographical information of the Directors and relationship between
the Directors are set out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors
and Senior Management” on pages 54 to 66 of this report. There is no
other financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships

among the members of the Board.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. We do not have a
separate chairman and chief executive officer and Dr. TONG currently
performs these two roles. The Board believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in Dr. TONG has the
benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables
more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group,
given that: (i) decision to be made by the Board requires approval by
at least a majority of the Directors and that the Board comprises three
independent non-executive Directors out of nine Directors, and we
believe there is sufficient check and balance in the Board; (ii) Dr. TONG
and other Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfill their fiduciary
duties as Directors, which require, among other things, that they act
for the benefit and in the best interests of the Company and will make
decisions for the Group accordingly; and (iii) the balance of power and
authority is ensured by the operations of the Board which comprises
experienced and high caliber individuals who meet regularly to discuss
issues affecting the operations of the Company. Moreover, the overall
strategic and other key business, financial and operational policies of
the Group are made collectively after thorough discussion at both the
Board and senior management levels. Finally, the Board believes that
vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in the
same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the
Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic planning
for and communication within the Group. The Board will continue to
review the effectiveness of the corporate governance structure of the
Group in order to assess whether separation of the roles of chairman

and chief executive officer is necessary.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board has met the requirements
of the Listing Rules that the number of independent non-executive
Directors must represent at least one-third of the Board members,
and that at least one of the independent non-executive Directors has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial

management expertise.
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The Company has received a confirmation of independence in writing
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers each of them to
be independent during the Reporting Period.

Board Meetings

Pursuant to CG Code, at least four regular Board meetings should be
held in each financial year. For the year ended 31 December 2021, ten

Board meeting and one general meeting was held and the attendance

record of each Director is set out in the table below:
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ARRIEREEBLIFRTESRIE LHRANE
BBMRMEHAB M EmMAER - AARRARB/E
FEENBEHRREGRBILAL

EEERS

BEC¥ERTH  EZeeRENSEMRE
EEHRITELEK - HZE2021F12A831BIEF
B ARBERITHAEECSZE R —AREK
g ZESENHELEOTRAE

Attendance/eligible to attend Board meeting

Directors = HE AERLFEESE2E
Dr. Youzhi Tong BB 10/10
Ms. Yan Lu® B0 0/0
Dr. Yan Wang® FiriELo 8/8
Mr. Weipeng Gao® SHENEL A 6/6
Ms. Geqi Wei® Rz o 5/5
Dr. Michael Min Xu REEL 10/10
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung BRI L 10/10
Prof. Liang Tong ERRE S Eod 10/10
Dr. Bing Chen® BREEIELO /1
Mr. Jie Chen® FREE A © 4/4
Ms. Yaling Wu® ST+ 6/6
Mr. Wei Zhang® IRIBHHE® 8/9
Mr. Gang Lu® BRI ST A 9/10
Notes: e

1) Ms. Yan Lu was appointed as Director with effect from 31 January 2022.

2)  Dr. Yan Wang was appointed as Director with effect from 30 April 2021,

w
=

Mr. Weipeng Gao was appointed as Director with effect from 22 June 2021.
4)  Ms. Geqi Wei was appointed as Director with effect from 27 September 2021.
Dr. Bing Chen resigned as Director with effect from 30 April 2021.

~ S~~~ o~~~ o~
(]
=

6) M. Jie Chen resigned as Director with effect from 22 June 2021.

7)  Ms. Yaling Wu resigned as Director with effect from 27 September 2021.
8)  Mr. Wei Zhang resigned as Director with effect from 26 November 202 1.
9)  Mr. Gang Lu resigned as Director with effect from 31| January 2022.
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) BIFEZTERAERES 82021 F9A7HBERK
) FBREBLEHEES - 82021 F4H30BBER °

) PBREGEEERIES - B2021F6 A2 BRBER °

) RERHIFHEES - B2021F9H207HRAERK °

) RIBLRAEBHMEES - 82021411 B26ABEMR ©
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Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

Every newly appointed Director has received a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction to ensure that he or she has a proper
understanding of the operation and business of the Company and full
awareness of Directors’ responsibilities and obligation under the Listing

Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

The Company will from time to time fund and arrange suitable training
to all Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in
relation to their duties and responsibilities, such that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. All Directors are also
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expense and they have been requested to provide the Company with
their training records. According to the training records maintained by
the Company, the continuous professional development programmes
received by each of the Directors during the Reporting Period is

summarised as follows:

Type of Training

EEHEAARSEERRRE

BEMZENESHCERSEZE  EARBAE
MR ERF - ARERBEARRNEENRE
BEORBEENER  ARTEMEEEHE LR
AIRARRAERTE THBE k& -

ARRBAFHEERAEEELHEBENFIIA
ERNEHNFEERGRBEA RO AE L
RRE - BURETHEESELANBEIERNE
Bt o ARBTEBIAM B EZ2 RS IIRE -
ERAARRALRE - WERFEERARQRIRMEE
AlAek - RBARR]FEMNFICE  RREH
BEEERINFESERREMANT

Directors = EINER
Dr. Youzhi Tong B ZEL A &B
Ms. Yan Lu® EHZ 10 A&B
Dr. Yan Wang® ETELO A&B
Mr. Weipeng Gao® SN A A&B
Ms. Geqi Wei® ML @ A&B
Dr. Michael Min Xu REEL A&B
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung 152+ A &B
Prof. Liang Tong B A&B
Dr. Bing Chen® [P O] A&B
Mr. Jie Chen® PR AE© A&B
Ms. Yaling Wu® ST+ A&B
Mr. Wei Zhang® IRIBHHE® A&B
Mr. Gang Lu® BRI S5 A A&B
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A attending training sessions, including but not limited to, seminars, briefings,

conferences, forums and workshops.

B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy, general business,

corporate governance and directors’ duties and responsibilities.
Notes:
(1) Ms. Yan Lu was appointed as Director with effect from 31 January 2022.
(2)  Dr. Yan Wang was appointed as Director with effect from 30 April 2021.
(3)  Mr. Weipeng Gao was appointed as Director with effect from 22 June 2021.
(4)  Ms. Geqi Wei was appointed as Director with effect from 27 September 2021.
(5)  Dr. Bing Chen resigned as Director with effect from 30 April 2021.
(6) M. Jie Chen resigned as Director with effect from 22 June 2021.
(7)  Ms. Yaling Wu resigned as Director with effect from 27 September 2021.
(8)  Mr. Wei Zhang resigned as Director with effect from 26 November 2021.

(©)  Mr. Gang Lu resigned as Director with effect from 31 January 2022.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

The executive Directors have entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial term of three years and each of the independent
non-executive Directors and non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three

years.

None of the Directors have an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year

without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Board shall have power from time to time and at any time to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional Director, provided that the number of Directors so appointed
shall not exceed the maximum number determined from time to time

by the shareholders in general meeting.
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All the Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors,
are subject to retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election in
accordance with the Articles of Association. At each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) will retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director will be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for

re-election.

According to Articles of Association, any Director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for

re-election.

The Company's circular for the forthcoming annual general meeting will
contain the detailed information of the retiring Directors standing for

re-election.
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The particulars of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 36 to

the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Pursuant to code provision E.I.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the members of the senior management (other than the Directors)
whose particulars are contained in the section headed “Profiles of
Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report by band is set

out below:

Remuneration band
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EENSREEETH

EFNFHMF RN AFRE A VB REME
36°

BB EEGTRIEE | SEFRANE - FEHR
AEREFESREEEGE] — N2 RE
BREKE (EEHRIN BB - REMERE N
s ¢

Number of
Individuals for

the year ended

31 December 2021
BZE2021%F
12A31BLFEAH

HKD 1,000,001 — HKD2,000,000
HKD3,000,001 — HKD4,000,000
HKD4,000,001 — HKD5,000,000
HKD#6,000,001 — HKD7,000,000
HKD7,000,001 — HKD8,000,000
HKD 15,000,001 — HKD 16,000,000

1,000,001 722,000,000/ 7T l
3,000,001 77T 24,000,000/ 7T |
4,000,001 7% 7T 25,000,000 7T 5
6,000,00 | 7T 27,000,000/8 7T |
7,000,001 7T 28,000,00078 7T l
15,000,001 7T 2 16,000,000/ 7T |

The emoluments include the share-based compensation expenses
for the Employee Incentive Scheme. RSUs were granted under the
Employee Incentive Scheme to non-Director senior management in
respect of their services to the Group. The fair values of such granted
RSUs, which have been recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income over the vesting period, were determined as at each of the
grant dates and the amounts included in the financial statements
for the current year are included in the above non-Director senior

management's remuneration disclosures.

As at 31 December 2021, no RSU was vested and the share price is

lower than the exercise price for tranche B.
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Corporate Governance Function

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the

collective responsibility of the Directors which includes:

(@) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of the Directors and senior management;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and

compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

(d) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board

and report to the Board on such matters;

(e) to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

(f) to review and monitor the Company’'s compliance with the

Company's whistleblowing policy.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To oversee particular aspects of the Company's affairs, the Board has
established three Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. The
Board has delegated to the Board committees responsibilities as set out
in their respective terms of reference which are available at the website
of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Board committees are

provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with terms of
reference in compliance the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The Audit
Committee consists of one non-executive Director, namely Dr. Yan
Wang, two independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Michael
Min Xu and Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung. The chairman of the Audit
Committee is Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal duties of the

Audit Committee include but are not limited to:

*  ensuring the co-ordination between the exteral and the internal
auditors, and ensuring that the internal audit function is adequately

resourced and has appropriate standing with the Company;

*  making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditors, and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the

external auditors, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

*  reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance

with applicable standards;

* developing and implementing policy on engaging an external

auditor to supply non-audit services;

*  monitoring the integrity of the Company's financial statements and
the annual report and accounts, half-year reports and quarterly
reports (if prepared for publication), and reviewing significant

financial reporting judgments contained in them;

*  discussing the risk management and internal control system with
management to ensure that management has performed its duty
to have effective systems. This discussion should include the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Company's accounting and financial

reporting function;

*  reviewing ongoing connected transactions of the Company and
ensuring compliance with terms of approval by the shareholders;

and

*  reviewing the Company's financial and accounting policies and

practices.

The Audit Committee members shall meet at least twice a year

pursuant to the terms of reference for the Audit Committee.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee held
five meetings to, among others, review the audited financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020 and unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements for the six months ended 30 June
2021 and recommend the same to the Board for its consideration and
approval. The Audit Committee was of the opinion that the relevant
results were prepared in compliance with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate disclosures had been

made. All members of the Audit Committee attended the meeting.

The attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee at the

meeting is set out below:

HZE200FNA3IBILFE  BEREEERTT
hRgE  N(HABE)EBEEZE2020512A3]
HIEFEMEEZT BRI LB E2021F6H30
H 175 B B 8RS B EREAR S M Sk K3t
MEFSREEFZFHAZERILE - FZEES
RE - HHRXECREBERSTEARETEHEE
URIELEFZDHE - BRZESMEXNEHLFE

o
AN =

EXEHFESFHLEEIIT

i
N
A
]
ifs3

Attendance/Number of Meeting

Directors 5= HEERRE
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung (Chairman) 1512ER 54 (£ /E) 5/5
Dr. Michael Min Xu REEL 5/5
Dr. Yan Wang FOTEL
(appointed as committee member (R2021 F4H30 5 BZ T
on 30 April 2021) BREBEKE) 3/5
Dr. Bing Chen PREE
(resigned as committee member (BR2021F4530H BFHE
on 30 April 2021) ZEEHKE) 2/5

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with terms
of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules and the CG Code.
The Remuneration Committee comprises one executive Director,
Dr. Youzhi Tong and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Dr. Michael Min Xu and Prof. Liang Tong. The chairman of the

Remuneration Committee is Dr. Michael Min Xu.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal duties

of the Remuneration Committee include but are not limited to:

*  making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent

procedure for developing remuneration policy;

* reviewing and approving the management's remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and

objectives;

*  making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management,
which should include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for

loss or termination of their office or appointment;

*  making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of

non-executive Directors; and

»  ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in

deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee members shall meet at least once a year
pursuant to the terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee.
Three meetings of the Remuneration Committee were held for the
year ended 3| December 2021 to review and make recommendations

to the Board on the remuneration packages and other related matters.
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The attendance record of each member of the Remuneration

Committee at the meeting is set out below:

FMZEeSKEHFEESRNLCEHIIMT

Attendance/Number of Meeting

Directors i HE 2B
Dr. Michael Min Xu (Chairman) REEL(FE) 313
Dr. Youzhi Tong ERZIET 3/3
Prof. Liang Tong B 3/3

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with terms
of reference in compliance the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The
Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, Dr. Youzhi
Tong and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr.
Michael Min Xu and Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung. The chairman of the

Nomination Committee is Dr. Youzhi Tong.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal duties

of the Nomination Committee include but are not limited to:

*  reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
at least annually and making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the corporate strategy of

the Company;

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

REEZRE
ARRIERE EHRA R REATRIR B
BRVIERERES - RRZBEHRUTES
(BERzBL) EMBBILIFNTES (AIREIE
TRBEBREE)EX - REZEEIF/ER
28t -

RELZEENRESEREEETENREEER
STRIFFEE - REZESNEERFBFETR
AN

PEFRAEFENRE - AR AREK
TEER(BRETRRES - Fik - X
CEHEES Bk - XL MRNERT
M) - WHER AR A AN R R E A AR M
REBFSELNE SR LRR -

ES
%

=



¢ identifying individuals who are qualified/suitable to become a
member of the Board and selecting or making recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for

directorships;

* assessing the independence of independent non-executive

Directors;

*  making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,

in particular the chairman and the chief executive; and

The Nomination Committee members shall meet at least once a year
pursuant to the terms of reference for the Nomination Committee.
Three meetings of the Nomination Committee were held for the year
ended 3| December 2021 to review structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board for the

appointment of Directors.

The attendance record of each member of the Nomination Committee

at the meeting is set out below:
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Attendance/Number of Meeting

Directors = HiEEFRE
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Dr. Michael Min Xu REEL 3/3
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board values diversity as a factor in selecting candidates to serve on
the Board, and believes diversity at the Board level can strengthen the

business development of the Company.

The Board adopted a board diversity policy which relates to the
selection of candidates for the Board. Pursuant to the board diversity
policy, selection of Board candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to the Company's
needs, gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, and industry and regional experience.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the

selected candidates will bring to the Board.

All Board candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having

due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated to the Nomination Committee the
responsibility to determine the procedures, process and criteria to
be adopted for purposes of selecting and recommending candidates
for directorship. The Board may, however, rescind its delegation and
assume the responsibilities it previously delegated to the Nomination

Committee.
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The Board has delegated to the Nomination Committee the
responsibility to identify candidates for nomination to the Board
(including candidates to fill vacancies) and assess their qualifications
in light of the Diversity Policy and the terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will recommend
director candidates for the Board's consideration and review the
candidates’ qualifications with the Board. The Board retains the authority
to nominate a candidate for election by the shareholders as a director
and to fill vacancies. In identifying director candidates, the Nomination
Committee may consider all facts and circumstances it deems
appropriate, including, among other things, the skills of the candidate, his
or her depth and breadth of business experience and other background

characteristics, his or her independence and the needs of the Board.

Our Nomination Committee and Board may consider a broad range
of factors relating to the qualifications and background of nominees,
which may include diversity as set forth in the Board Diversity Policy.
Our Nomination Committee's and Board's priority in selecting board
members is identification of persons who will further the interests
of our shareholders through their established record of professional
accomplishment, depth and breadth of business experience and other

background characteristics.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial

statements of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2021.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the

Company's ability to continue as a going concem.

The statement of the independent auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent

Auditor's Report on pages 128 to |30 of this annual report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’
REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the remuneration
paid/payable to the independent auditor of the Company,
PricewaterhouseCoopers for the provision of audit services and non-

audit services are as below:

BAZBMME

REZE2021F 12831 BILFE » ARAIFE KR
B EFTRNEIEAT (AR B B A% SR ) 1R A%
R IFZBREMEN, AN ME O T AR

Fee paid/payable

Bt ENEH

RMB’000

Services R AR¥T T
Audit services ZEARTS 3,000
Non-audit services IEZHURTS -
Total a5t 3,000

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks that the Company is willing to take in achieving
the Company'’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Company
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems. The Board oversees management in
the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. The Board acknowledges that such risk
management and internal control systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. In light of the size, nature and complexity
of the Group's business, the internal audit function is performed by the

Company'’s legal department.
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In preparation for the listing of the Shares, the Company has engaged
an independent internal control consulting firm to perform an overall
assessment on the Group’s internal control system, including the areas
of financial, operation, compliance and risk management with the aims
of, among other matters, improving the Group’s corporate governance
and ensuring compliance with the applicable laws and regulations.
Based on its internal control review, the independent internal control
consulting firm recommended certain internal control improvement

measures to the Group and the Group has adopted them.

The management would report to the Audit Committee and the
Board on all findings and the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems. The Audit Committee assists the Board in
leading the management to oversee the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems, and
makes recommendations. The Audit Committee also ensures that
an overall review of the effectiveness of such systems is conducted
at least annually and put forward to the Board for consideration. The
Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company's strategic objectives; and acknowledges its responsibility for
the risk management and internal control systems and reviewing their

effectiveness.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review of
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group covering all material controls, including financial, operational,
strategic and compliance controls and has considered the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Company's accounting and financial reporting functions.
The Board considers that the Group's risk management and internal
control systems are adequate and effective. The Board expects that
a review of the risk management and internal control systems will be

performed annually.
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DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced promptly when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of

inside information are as follows:

*  the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and

Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

* the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial

reporting, public announcements and the Company's website;

*  the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential

or inside information; and

* the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group's affairs, so that
only the executive Director and the chief financial officer of the
Company are authorised to communicate with parties outside the

Group.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Dr. Jie Chen resigned as a joint company secretary with effect from
26 November 2021 and Ms. Yan Lu has been appointed as a joint
company secretary on the same date as replacement. Ms. Wing Han
Sharon Leung resigned as a joint company secretary with effect from
|7 February 2022 and Mr. Wai Chiu Wong has been appointed as a
joint company secretary on the same date as replacement. For details
of the appointment of Ms. Lu and Mr. Wong, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 26 November 2021 and 18
February 2022, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Dr. Chen, Ms. Lu, Ms.
Leung and Mr. Wong had undertaken no less than |5 hours of relevant
professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
The primary person at the Company with whom Mr. Wong have
been contacting in respect of company secretarial matters is Ms. Lu, an
executive Director, the chief financial officer of the Group and a joint

company secretary of the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the

Company may declare and distribute dividends to the shareholders.

According to the dividend policy, payment and the amount of any
dividends will be at the discretion of the Directors and will depend
upon the Group's future operations and earnings, development pipeline,
capital requirements and surplus, general financial conditions, contractual

restrictions and other factors that the Directors consider relevant.

The declaration and payment as well as the amounts of dividends
shall be subject to all applicable laws and regulations, including but not
limited to the Companies Law, Cap 22 of the Cayman Islands and the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company. No dividend
shall be declared or payable except out of the Company’s profits and
reserves lawfully available for distribution. Dividends declared in the
past may not be indicative of the Company’s future dividend policy. The

Directors have the absolute discretion to recommend any dividend.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXEERRE

BE DN TIWE

PROZIE BT E A RWE » 820214911 A26H
AN MERZLIERREBEZITAEE QA
WE EAEEIA - ZERLTEEHIHE QR

WME > B2002F 2 1 7HEAR > MaEBi4t
ERABEZITABFELARTMWME  EEBIA -
ERERLINELENRIHE  FL2HEARQA

BEID R A2021 €11 268 %2022 A 18 HY

D -

REBEZ2020F2A3IBIEFE  BEL EX
T B L RELEECZ MRS/ NEREE
BEEI - FE EMRAEIERNRTE - |
ERARWESE —EEARRETHENEE
ABRPITES  AKEEEVBERARQ A
ERARIMEERLZ T -

IR EBR

ARRERAREEEK  BUARRAIABRRE
&SRB,

RIBBREBER - ERAREMNEN REBHHES
BERE - WRFARBENRKZEREN - 7
BER  BABEKLAR  BEVBKAR - B4
[RINEZRSERNEMERMIE

EARENERLKNARKRESERXAEE
FRERERNRR - BRENRRASEEAED
FENERAENARBNABEIZAM AR -
BRECEF IRV AR R B AE KR E o - AE
R RIRE RS HERE - BETIRAIAK
BTRERARBIRKRBBENIER - EF7]
E2REMIBREEZZRTME

BHREEERAR
F 3R 2021

87



88

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
RERRE

As the Company is a holding company, declaration and payment of
dividends will depend on the availability of dividends received from
the subsidiaries, particularly the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC.
The PRC laws require that dividends be paid only out of the net profit
calculated according to the PRC accounting principles, which differ from
generally accepted accounting principles in other jurisdictions, including
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. The PRC laws also require
foreign-invested enterprises, such as all the subsidiaries in the PRC, to
set aside part of their net profit as statutory reserves. These statutory
reserves are not available for distribution as cash dividends. Distributions
from these subsidiaries may also be restricted if they incur debt or
losses or in accordance with any restrictive covenants in bank credit
facilities or other agreements that the Company or the subsidiaries may

enter into in the future.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution
proportion or distribution ratio. The Board will review the dividend

policy on a regular basis.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
shareholders holding, as at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary for the purpose of
requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed

to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Cayman
Islands Companies Law for the shareholders to move new resolutions
at general meetings. shareholders who wish to move a resolution may
request the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with

the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send enquiries to the Board by post to the
Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suite 2007, 20th
Floor, Tower 2, The Gateway, Harbour City, Kowloon, Hong Kong for

the attention of the company secretary.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Company’s business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with the shareholders and
in particular, through AGMs and other general meetings. At the AGM,
Chairman and chairman of the Board committees (or their delegates as
appropriate) are available to meet the shareholders and answer their

enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at www.kintor.com.cn and
an email box of the Company's investor relations department at
IR@kintor.com.cn as communication platforms with the shareholders
and investors, where the financial information and other relevant

information of the Company are available for public access.

Constitutional Documents

The Company has not made any changes to its Articles of Association
on or after the Listing Date. The Articles of Association is available
for review on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock

Exchange's website.
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The board of the company is pleased to present this report of directors
together with the consolidated financial statements of the group for the

year ended 3| December 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, three non-

executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors

Dr. Youzhi Tong (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Yan Lu

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Yan Wang
Mr. Weipeng Gao
Ms. Gegi Wei

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Michael Min Xu
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung
Prof. Liang Tong

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 May
2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Cayman

Companies Law.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

We are a clinical-stage novel drug developer in China focused on the
disease with unmet clinical needs, especially COVID-19, androgen
receptor-related, or AR-related and oncological diseases. We are
committed to becoming a leader in the research, development and

commercialisation of innovative therapies.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page

|31 of this annual report.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

ARAREEEMARINAESGREURSER
HE22IF A3 BILEE/GE B HRE

Exg
EXeRRNEBEMEATES  —RFNTES
R=BFIIFITES -

HITES
BERZBL(EFS T ERITEBAA)
B L

FPTES
EfTHEL

EiEB L
fE L+

BYFHITES
et
SRR S

BRI

—RER
RABMR20I8F5 A I6HERSEHEREBERSA
BAEMA S BEERR R ERAF] o

FTEEK
BFRPE—RERFAERBENEFEME &
JERN AR B BR IR T KRR - LERCOVID-19 »
TS ETREAR (AR ) MERE&RE  BiM
WK BRIFTEANRE - MEREELNELR
Ej °

E$5
AEBEZ2021F 1283 BIEFEMEESNA
FHE 13 BREE2EBEE



BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), including an analysis of the Group's financial performance and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business is set
out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. These discussions form
part of this annual report. Events affecting the Company that have
occurred since the end of the financial year is set out in the section
headed “Important Events After the Reporting Period” in this annual
report. The discussion of the Company’s key relationships with its
employees, suppliers and others that have a significant impact on the
Company is set out in the section headed “Key Relationships with the

Stakeholders” in this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We are a biotechnology company listed on the Main Board under
Chapter I8A of the Listing Rules. There are unique challenges, risks
and uncertainties associated with investing in companies such as ours,
including: (i) we are a pre-revenue biopharmaceutical company with
a history of losses. Our financial prospects in the foreseeable future
depend on the successful commercialisation of our drug candidates. If
we fail to commercialise any of our drug candidates or otherwise to
become or remain profitable, you may lose all or substantially all of your
investment; (i) we may need to obtain substantial additional funding
our operations; (i) we had net operating cash outflow during the Track
Record Period; (iv) our success in the foreseeable future significantly
depends on the successful completion of clinical trials across the world
and in China, obtaining of regulatory approval and commercialisation
of our phase-lll drug candidates, Pruxelutamide and Pyrilutamide; (v)
clinical drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with
uncertain outcomes, and we may be unable to achieve successful results
in our clinical trials; (vi) our drug candidates are subject to extensive
regulation, and we cannot assure you any of our drug candidates will
receive regulatory approvals; (vii) we may not be able to effectively build
and manage our sales network and implement our marketing strategies;
(vii) if we are unable to obtain and maintain patent protection for our
compounds or drug candidates through intellectual property rights,
or if the scope of such intellectual property rights obtained is not

sufficiently broad, third parties could develop and commercialise drug
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candidates similar or identical to ours and compete directly against us,
and our ability to successfully commercialise our drug candidates may
be adversely affected; (ix) we have in-licensed our ALK-1, GT1708F and
GT90008, and may continue to seek strategic partnerships or enter into
additional licensing arrangements in the future, which is subject to risks;
and (x) intangible assets constitute a substantial portion of our total
assets; if we determine our intangible assets to be impaired, it would

adversely affect our results of operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

It is our corporate and social responsibility in promoting a sustainable
and environmental-friendly environment. We strive to minimize our
environmental impact and to build our corporation in a sustainable way.
We are subject to environmental protection and occupational health

and safety laws and regulations in China.

In 2021, we complied with the relevant environmental and occupational
health and safety laws and regulations in China and we did not have any
incidents or complaints, which had a material and adverse effect on our

business, financial condition or results of operations.

In accordance with Rule [3.91 and the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide contained in Appendix 27 of the Listing
Rules, the Company's environmental, social and governance report will
be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
by the end of May 2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no
material breach of, or non-compliance with, applicable laws and

regulations by the Group.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 3| December 2021, the Group had 316 employees, || of which
were key management, 64 of which were for clinical trials, 93 of which
were for R&D, 67 of which were for manufacturing, 13 of which were
for commercial, 19 of which were for project management and 49 of

which were for other functions.

We generally formulate our employees’ remuneration package
to include basic salary, position-specific salary, performance-based
remuneration, project-based remuneration and various allowances.
The Company makes contributions to social insurance and housing
provident funds as required by the PRC laws and regulations. We also
make contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
Internal Revenue Code Section 401 (k) Plan for our employees in Hong
Kong and the United States, respectively. We provide our employees
with periodic training, including orientation training for new employees,
departmental technical training, as well as other internal and external
professional training, including good clinical practice (GCP) training.
The Company also has adopted the Employee Incentive Scheme on 31
March 2020 to attract, retain and motivate our key management and
staff for their contribution to the Group. Please refer to the section
headed “Employee Incentive Scheme™ in this annual report for further

details.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021 was RMBI159.7 million, as compared to RMB107.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2020.

During the year ended 3| December 2021, the Group did not
experience any material labor disputes or strikes that may have a
material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results

of operations, or any difficulty in recruiting employees.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 3| December 2021, our suppliers primarily
consisted of (i) CROs and CMOs; (i) licensors from which we obtained
intangible assets in respect of our licensed-in drug candidates; (iii)
construction contractors for our Suzhou manufacturing facilities; and (iv)

suppliers of raw materials and other materials for R&D use.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, purchases from the Group's
five largest suppliers amounted to RMB349.6 million (2020: RMBI125.9
million), accounting for approximately 28.3% (2020: 25.86%) of the
Group's total purchase amount in the same year. The Group’s largest
supplier for the year ended 3| December 2021 amounted to RMB77.1
million (2020: RMB48.5 million), accounting for approximately 6.2%
(2020: 10.0%) of the Group's total purchase amount for the same year.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates, or any
shareholder of the Company who, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company's issued capital, has any interest in

any of the Group’s five largest suppliers.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not

experience any significant disputes with its suppliers.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

The Group currently has no products for commercial sale and did
not generate any revenue from product sales for the year ended 31
December 2021. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company
generated revenue from the out-licensing of Pruxelutamide, one of the

Company's Core Products.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that various stakeholders including suppliers,
employees, shareholders and other business associates are key to
Group's success. The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong relationship with

them.
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Relationship with Our Employees

We endeavor to cultivate talented and loyal employees by treating
our employees with dignity, respect and fairness. We conduct new
employee training, as well as professional and compliance training
programs for employees. We enter into employment contracts with
our employees to cover matters such as wages, benefits and grounds
for termination. The remuneration package of our employees usually
includes salary, bonus and share option incentives, which are generally
determined by their qualifications, industry experience, position and
performance. We make contributions to social insurance and housing
provident funds as required by the PRC laws and regulations. We also
make contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
Internal Revenue Code Section 401 (k) Plan for our employees in Hong

Kong and the United States, respectively.

Relationship with Shareholders

We recognise the importance of protecting the interests of the
shareholders and of having effective communication with them. We
believe communication with the shareholders is a two-way process
and have thrived to ensure the quality and effectiveness of information
disclosure, maintain regular dialogue with the shareholders and listen
carefully to the views and feedback from the shareholders by ways of
general meetings, corporate communications, annual reports and results

announcements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited consolidated results and the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last four financial years, as extracted from
the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page 247
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited

consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing

shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s

securities.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 37 to the

consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021

are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2021 and details of the Shares issued during
the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in Note 29 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture during the year ended 31
December 2021.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Employee Incentive Scheme as set out in this annual
report, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group,

or existed during the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for

the year ended 3| December 202 1.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable
laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any
of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty in

their offices.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company may pay dividends out of the share premium account,
retained earnings and any other reserves provided that immediately
following the payment of such dividends, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary

course of business.

As at 3| December 2021, our Company had retained nil profits under

IFRSs as reserves available for distribution to our equity shareholders.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 134 and in Note

31 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at
31 December 2021 are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and Note 24 to the

consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has not issued any

convertible bonds.
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LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF
THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has not entered
into any loan agreement which contains covenants requiring specific

performance of the controlling shareholders.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group as at the date of this report are set out on pages 54 to 66 in the
section headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” to this

annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with

the Company for an initial term of three years.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the Company for an
initial term of three years. The above appointments are always subject
to the provisions of retirement and rotation of directors under the

Articles of Association.

None of the Directors have an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year

without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors nor any entity connected with the Directors
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party subsisting during or at the end of the year ended 3| December
2021.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 3| December 2021, none of the Directors
had any interest in a business, apart from the business of our Group,
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with our

business, and requires disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was

entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 202 1.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any
other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 1321 and 13.22 of the
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EERBRESTHRAERAQAREEM
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN MHESEENRORERBRO R EEEZD

SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND HNEZRAE
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of the 2021128318 EFERARREEITHAE
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying RARB REAEBEE(EERLES KPR
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations FEXVER) MR - ARG REEEFHEE ()R
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (a) were required }Jﬁ 55 MR E GBI EXVEL ST R B8y SR AR A A
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Nal R FTRERSOA R (B IR IE F 5 &
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short EIEMIB IS B S ESi R A A R RS BOA
positions which he was taken or deemed to have under such provisions B+ (b)) IRIEE S KA E GBI 535215788 A%
of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, IEPTIEM B MR ER SRR (o) BRIBIZEST
RRAARN R MBI RSOA BT

to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required =]
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the

Model Code, were as follows:

Approximate
Number of percentage of

ordinary the Company’s

shares issued share

Name of Directors Nature of interest interested(" capital®

EART

BEEREZN EBITRA

Esns EEtE EER#EO BHFDHS

Dr. TONG®6) Interest in a controlled corporation 94,174,540 (L) 24.30%
B0 SRR T

Mr. Gang LU® Beneficial owner 145,000 (L) 0.04%
BEM 5T 4@ BEmEAA

MAREERAA 40
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Notes:

M

@

©)

*

©)

Save

The letter “L"” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

Dr. TONG holds the entire share capital of KT International Investment Limited,
which directly holds 51,037,270 Shares. Accordingly, Dr. TONG is deemed to be
interested in 51,037,270 Shares held by KT International Investment Limited.

Dr. GUO holds the entire share capital of KG Development Limited, which directly
holds 43,137,270 Shares. Accordingly, Dr. GUO is deemed to be interested in
43,137,270 Shares held by KG Development Limited. Pursuant to the 2018 AIC
Agreement (as defined below) and upon its expiration, the 2021 AIC Agreement
(as defined below), Dr. TONG and Dr. GUO acknowledged and confirmed, among
other things, that they are acting in concert with each other. Accordingly, Dr. GUO
and Dr. TONG are parties acting in concert (having the meaning ascribed to it
under the Takeovers Code); and each of Dr. TONG and Dr. GUO is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares in which any of them is interested under the SFO.

Mr. Gang LU resigned as a Director on 31 January 2022.

The calculation is based on the total number of 387,589,600 Shares in issue of the
Company as at 3|1 December 2021.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the

Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests or

short

positions in any of the shares, underlying shares or debentures of

the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning

of Part XV of the SFO), which (a) were required to be notified to the

Com

pany and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part

XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he was

taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)

were

required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in

the register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to

the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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(2) EHLHEFBKT International Investment Limited 82
f&AS » KT International Investment Limited B #&#548
51,037,270R% A% {5 o Ett - ZE1H IR RBKT International
Investment Limited# /5 #951,037,270% A& 15 A 425 o

(3) FBELIFBKG Development Limited¥) 2 EPARA - TKG
Development Limited E#£35643,137,2700 A% 17 o Et -
P18 4548 AHKG Development Limited 7 843,137,270
IR BEE R - BIR0I8F —BITEHR(EER T
X)) R (REfEmZ)202 | F—BUTBH=(EERTX)
EF LT RBE L ARL R (AP EE) REEHE BT
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'’ FTERRARGOREERGHNER R KX
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN &

SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

2021 E12A318 » EARRRIRESFTRAM - A
THARREEFTHHETRABZATRAQF
B D SABRERR (0 R B IRIRE 5 R B R 0I5
XVEBE2L R FE 3D FRIESBR AR RELEER
BRIAR @ IBBEEFREBEEFIEXVELSE
B6IFERARRAFERN S LMAERIOAR

Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares As at 3| December 2021, to
the best of the Company’s and the Directors’ knowledge, the following
persons, not being a Director or chief executive of the Company, had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which

were required to be entered in the register of interest required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

Name

=L

Nature of interest

EENE

Number of
underlying
shares(")

HRRGBEO

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
interest(®
FRER
BHBEDL®

KT International Investment Limited®

Dr. GUO®®)
FHiFT oo

KG Development Limited®®)

CloudAlpha Capital Management

Limited (“CloudAlpha Capital HK"")®
Ms. YANG Jin ("Ms. YANG")®
mExE(Brt])®
Arya Yang Family Limited®

Cantrust (Far East) Limited®
CloudAlpha Capital Management Limited

(“CloudAlpha Capital Cayman”)®
Singularity Co. Ltd®)

Beneficial owner

BERBEBA

Interest of party acting in concert
—BITEII S

Interest in controlled corporation
XA E s

Interest of party acting in concert
—BITE s

Beneficial owner

BEHRBEBA

Interest of party acting in concert
—BITE s

Investment manager

REKE

Interest in controlled corporation
X LB s

Beneficial owner

BERBEAA

Trustee

XEEA

Beneficial owner

BERBEAA

Beneficial owner

BEmBEBA

94,174,540 (L)

94,174,540 (L)

94,174,540 (L)

33,479,000 (L)

33,479,000 (L)

33,479,000 (L)

33,479,000 (L)

33,479,000 (L)

33,479,000 (L)

24.30%

24.30%

24.30%

8.64%

8.64%

8.64%

8.64%

8.64%

8.64%

BHREEERAR
F 3R 2021
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Exegs
Approximate
Number of percentage of
underlying shareholding
Name Nature of interest shares() interest(®
RS
=t EEME HRRGBEO BHEDHO
CloudAlpha Master Fund Beneficial owner 30,459,750 (L) 7.86%
(the "Master Fund") E=BEAA
Zhuhai Gree Group Co,, Ltd.©® Interest in controlled corporation 26,226,500 (L) 6.77%
WEBNEEBRARO XL E s
Zhuhai Gree Financial Investment Beneficial owner 26,226,500 (L) 6.77%
Management Co. Ltd.© ERBEAA
WEBNERREBTEERQAO
Legend Holdings Corporation® Interest in controlled corporation 23,253,000 (L) 5.99%
AR A IR A B0 REnEE R
Right Lane Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 23,253,000 (L) 5.99%
MRARAR? XA E s
Real Able Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 23,253,000 (L) 5.99%
BEEERARO X LB s
Kiya Company Limited® Beneficial owner 23,613,590 (L) 6.09%
BERBEBAA
Sovereign Fiduciaries (Hong Kong) Limited®  Trustee 23,613,590 (L) 6.09%
HFEA
Notes: B aE -
(1) The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. () FEILKFEEA LG FEOFE -
(2) Dr. GUO holds the entire issued share capital of KG Development Limited, which () FBEEHFAEKG Development LimitedH) 2 HPE FHITRA -

directly holds 43,137,270 Shares. Accordingly, Dr. GUQO is deemed to be interested

in 43,137,270 Shares held by KG Development Limited.

(3) Dr. TONG holds the entire issued share capital of KT International Investment ©)
Limited, which directly holds 51,037,270 Shares. Accordingly, Dr. TONG is deemed

MKG Development Limited Il E #4556 43,137,2708& A& 15 ©
At FHE AR BHKG DevelopmentLimitedi® A H)
43,137,270RR AR {5 R A HE 2 o

FEFIHEBKT International Investment Limited )2 32 2%
1T+ KT International Investment Limited Bl B #4358
51,037,270 A% 5 © Bt - BHE AR AHKT International

to be interested in 51,037,270 Shares held by KT International Investment Limited.
Pursuant to the 2018 AIC Agreement and upon its expiration, the 2021 AIC
Agreement, Dr. TONG and Dr. GUO acknowledged and confirmed, among other

Investment Limited¥548 851,037, 2700% B 17 AR #E B #E 2k ©
RIE201 85 — B TE) 358 e (RO ELJE 12 ) 2021 FF — B4T
i ERLRIELARIER(EFEE)FEL
H—2078) - Bt - BETREB TR —BT85 (BB
WEFAE THER)  RIEEFRAEEL - EFLR
HETEBWEARNBEEFEMN - ABEEERN 2 HBRG
REAER o

things, that they are acting in concert with each other. Accordingly, Dr. GUO and
Dr. TONG are parties acting in concert (having the meaning ascribed to it under the
Takeovers Code); and each of Dr. TONG and Dr. GUO is deemed to be interested

in all the Shares in which any of them is interested under the SFO.
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To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, as at 31 December 2021, 30,459,750
Shares and 3,019,250 Shares (the “CloudAlpha Interests”) were held by the
Master Fund and CloudAlpha Concentrated Master Fund (the “Concentrated
Fund"), respectively, each of which CloudAlpha Capital HK, a limited liability
company incorporated and existing under the laws of Hong Kong, was the
discretionary investment manager. CloudAlpha Capital HK is in turn ultimately
owned by Ms. YANG. Accordingly, each of Ms. YANG and CloudAlpha Capital HK is
deemed to be interested in the CloudAlpha Interests under the SFO.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, as at 3|1 December 2021, the CloudAlpha
Interests were held by the Master Fund and the Concentrated Fund, each of which
was controlled by Singularity Co. Ltd., which was in tum owned by CloudAlpha
Capital Cayman, a company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands.
CloudAlpha Capital Cayman is owned by Arya Yang Family Limited, which is in turn
owned by a trust of which Cantrust (Far East) Limited acts as the trustee. By virtue
of the SFO, each of Singularity Co. Ltd.,, CloudAlpha Capital Cayman, Arya Yang
Family Limited and Cantrust (Far East) Limited is deemed to be interested in the
CloudAlpha Interests.

Zhuhai Gree Financial Investment Management Co. Ltd GR/&1& 1€ R E &1
HPBRAR]) is a company established under the laws of China, principally engaged
in equity investment, capital operation management, asset management, asset
restructuring, mergers and acquisitions and financial advisory services. The ultimate
shareholder of Zhuhai Gree Financial Investment Management Co. Ltd is Zhuhai
Gree Group Co., Ltd. Bk/E1& B HBBR A7), a company owned and supervised
by the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the local

government of Zhuhai, Guangdong Province in China.

Real Able Limited (BB AR A 7)) directly holds 25,853,000 Shares. Real Able
Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Right Lane Limited (FABEAFR A A]), an
investment holding vehicle, which is in turn a wholly owned subsidiary of Legend
Holdings Corporation. By virtue of the SFO, Right Lane Limited and Legend Holdings
Corporation are therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by Real
Able Limited.

Kiya Company Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Sovereign Fiduciaries (Hong
Kong) Limited, the trustee under the Employee Incentive Scheme, which holds
23,613,590 Shares pursuant to the trust deed and rules of the Employee Incentive

Scheme.

The calculation is based on the total number of 387,589,600 Shares in issue of the
Company as at 3|1 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 3|1 December 2021, the Directors were

not aware of any other persons who had any interests or short positions

in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to

the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of

the SFO or which would be recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Esggs

(4 BEZFDRA - R2021F 128318 + 30459,7508% A5 &
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Fund DA - ZSESH2RIRELE ACloudAlpha
Capital HK(—RIRIEBE S 2R MR L R FENER
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HK& B 118 AR CloudAlphati 2 FR A HE2S -

(5) BESAHFEM - R2021F12A31 B * CloudAlphat
zmMaster Fund& Concentrated Fundi¥ g 25 HES
HXZSingularity Co. Ltd 32l - MSingularity Co. Ltd.RlE
CloudAlpha Capital Cayman(—EiRER S SEE T
A SZH) A ] #EH © CloudAlpha Capital CaymanFiArya
Yang Family Limited# 7% * iMArya Yang Family LimitedRlJEH
Cantrust (Far East) LimitedEAXEAMETHE < RIR
BH KA A + Singularity Co. Ltd. * CloudAlpha Capital
Cayman * Arya Yang Family Limited &2 Cantrust (Far East)
Limited & B 345 BH CloudAlphat s R HE B #E 2

(6) HREBRNEBMZEETEERAR A HERETRBEEEK
VHAR] TRNFRERE  EANREEE BEE
2 BESANGBARIMEEARSE - IWEERIE2E
KRAERARAANKEBERBINEBRNEERRAT
(—FHHPBEERERET T BNEREEEEERE
BEBEREENRA) -

(7)) EBEBRAREERH25853000K M0 - EEFRAR
AEAERAR(REERTR) 2EBRENHEB AR -
mr AR A A Al A AR R IR D R A R E B HA 1)
ME AR o RIEZSF R IEERD - FEAAERA R RS
ERRHERARELEREAREBEER D AIFA KR
DR A o

(8)  Kiya Company LimitedASovereign Fiduciaries (Hong Kong)
Limited#) 2 & /B2 F] * Sovereign Fiduciaries (Hong Kong)
Limited SR 15(E B MBI BINZREA - BRRBEETRE
Ko fE SRR ET8IR AR A 23,613 590R% A% {7 ©

) FFETBREAARR2021F 12831 BHE B TRDBE
387,589,600/% A A M5 °

B EXFTIREEESN 0 BR2021 128318 BiES
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EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEME

The Employee Incentive Scheme was approved and adopted by our
Board on 31 March 2020. The Employee Incentive Scheme is not
subject to the provisions of Chapter |7 of the Listing Rules as the
Employee Incentive Scheme does not involve the grant of options
by our Company to subscribe for new Shares. The purpose of the
Employee Incentive Scheme is to incentivise senior management and
employees for their contribution to the Group, and to attract and retain
skilled and experienced personnel for the future growth of the Group
by providing them with the opportunity to own equity interests in our

Company.

(1) Administration of the Employee Incentive
Scheme

The Employee Incentive Scheme shall be subject to the
administration of the Board in accordance with the rules of the
Employee Incentive Scheme. The Board may delegate the authority
to administer the Employee Incentive Scheme to a designated
administrator (the “Administrator”), being the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company. The Board may also appoint one or more
persons to assist in the administration of the Employee Incentive
Scheme as the Board thinks fit.

The Board’s or the Administrator's determinations under the
Employee Incentive Scheme need not be uniform and may be
made by it selectively with respect to persons who are granted, or

are eligible to be granted Awards under it.

Each participant of the Employee Incentive Scheme (the
“Participant”) waives any right to contest, amongst other things,
the Awards or equivalent value of cash underlying the Awards and
the Board's administration of the Employee Incentive Scheme. A
decision taken by the Board as regards the eligibility of a person

will be final and binding.
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(2) Awards

An Award may be granted in the form of RSA or RSU under
the Employee Incentive Scheme. An RSA consists of Restricted
Shares, which are shares granted to the Participant under the
Employee Incentive Scheme that are subject to such vesting and
transfer requirements as the Board shall determine, and such other
conditions as set forth in the rules of the Employee Incentive

Scheme.

(3) Participants in the Employee Incentive Scheme

Persons eligible to receive Awards under the Employee Incentive
Scheme (“Eligible Persons”) include existing employees and
officers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, excluding any
person who is resident in a place where the award of the Shares
and/or the vesting of the transfer of the Shares pursuant to the
Employee Incentive Scheme is not permitted under the laws and
regulations of such place or where in the view of the Board or
the Trustee as the case may be, compliance with applicable laws
and regulations in such place makes in necessary or expedient
to exclude such person. The Board selects the Eligible Persons
to receive Awards under the Employee Incentive Scheme at its

discretion.

(4) Grant and acceptance

(a) Making an offer
An offer to grant Awards will be made to an Eligible Person
selected by the Board (“Selected Person”) by a letter
("Grant Letter”). The Grant Letter shall specify the
Selected Person's name, the manner of acceptance of the
Awards, the type of Award, whether RSA or RSU and the
number of underlying Restricted Shares or Shares, as the case
may be, represented by the Awards, the vesting criteria and
conditions, the vesting schedule, the consideration payable
and method of payment (where applicable) and such other

details as the Board considers necessary.
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(%)

(6)

(b) Acceptance of an offer
A Selected Person may accept an offer of the grant of
Awards in such manner as set out in the Grant Letter. Once
accepted, the Awards are deemed granted from the date of

the Grant Letter.

Maximum number of Shares underlying the
RSUs and Restricted Shares

The maximum number of Shares underlying the RSUs and
Restricted Shares that may be granted under the Employee
Incentive Scheme in aggregate (excluding Awards that have lapsed
or been cancelled in accordance with the rules of the Employee
Incentive Scheme) shall be such number of Shares underlying the
RSUs or Restricted Shares (as the case may be) held or to be held
by the Trustee for the purpose of the Employee Incentive Scheme
from time to time but shall not exceed 2,361,359 Shares as at 3|
March 2020 (23,613,590 Shares as adjusted upon the completion
of the Capitalisation Issue and the Global Offering).

Appointment of the Trustee

The Company has appointed Sovereign Fiduciaries (Hong Kong)
Limited as the Trustee to assist with the administration and vesting
of Awards granted pursuant to the Employee Incentive Scheme.
The Company may (i) allot and issue Shares to the Trustee to be
held by the Trustee and which will be used to satisfy the Awards
upon vesting and/or (i) direct and procure the Trustee to receive
existing Shares from any Shareholder or purchase existing Shares
(either on-market or off-market) to satisfy the Awards upon
vesting. All the Restricted Shares or Shares underlying the RSUs
granted and to be granted under the Employee Incentive Scheme
shall be transferred, allotted and issued to the Trustee, which,
held 23,613,590 Shares as adjusted upon the completion of the
Capitalisation Issue and the Global Offering for the benefit of the

Participants pursuant to the Employee Incentive Scheme.
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(7) Term of the Employee Incentive Scheme

The Employee Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of ten years, commencing from the date of the first grant of
the Awards, being 31 March 2020 (unless it is terminated earlier in

accordance with its terms).

(8) Details of Awards granted

Out of 23,613,590 Shares held by the Trustee under the Employee
Incentive Scheme upon the completion of the Capitalisation Issue
and the Global Offering, RSUs in respect of 1,087,570 underlying
Shares and 755,840 Restricted Shares, representing approximately
2.94% and 2.05%, respectively, of the total issued share capital of
the Company, were granted to Participants on 31 March 2020.
Each RSU or Restricted Share presents one underlying Share
upon vesting. None of the grantees under the Employee Incentive
Scheme is a Director or otherwise a core connected person of the

Company.

For the Awards granted on 31 March 2020 to 54 Grantees
pursuant to the Employee Incentive Scheme, in respect of 50% of
the Awards originally scheduled to be vested on 31 March 2022,
the vesting schedule has been amended by the Board pursuant
to the rules of the Employee Incentive Scheme to the effect that
participating employees may choose to |) adhere to the original
vesting schedule and vest on 3| March 2022; 2) give up on 31
March 2022 and the RSUs or Restricted Shares will automatically
lapse and the shares retum back to the RSU/Restricted Share pool;
or 3) postpone the decision until 30 September 2022, on which

date the participating employees may choose to vest or give up

™

(8)
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the RSUs or Restricted Shares. This modification only applies to
the 50% Awards originally scheduled to be vested on 31 March
2022. In respect of the remaining 50% Awards granted on 3|
March 2020, the vesting schedule is as follows:

(@) as to approximately 25% of the Awards on 31 March 2023;

and

(b) as to approximately 25% of the Awards on 31 March 2024.

On 26 March 2021, the Board approved to grant 3,509,000
RSUs, representing approximately 0.9% of the total issued share
capital of the Company as of the date of this annual report, to 19
Grantees in accordance with the terms of the Employee Incentive
Scheme on 31 March 202 1. None of the Grantees is a Director or
otherwise a core connected person (as defined under the Listing

Rules) of the Company.

For the RSUs granted on 3| March 2021 to |9 Grantees pursuant
to the Employee Incentive Scheme, they shall (unless the Board
shall otherwise determine and so notify the Participant in writing)

vest as follows:

(@) as to approximately 50% of the RSUs on 3| March 2023;

(b) as to approximately 25% of the RSUs on 3| March 2024; and

(c) as to approximately 25% of the RSUs on 3| March 2025.
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On 27 September 2021, the Board approved to grant 2,008,220
RSUs, representing approximately 0.5% of the total issued share
capital of the Company as of the date of this annual report, to 8
Grantees in accordance with the terms of the Employee Incentive
Scheme on 30 September 2021. None of the Grantees is a
Director or otherwise a core connected person (as defined under
the Listing Rules) of the Company. Such RSUs shall (unless the
Board shall otherwise determine and so notify the Participant in

writing) vest as follows:

(@) as to approximately 50% of the RSUs on 30 September
2023;

(b) as to approximately 25% of the RSUs on 30 September
2024; and

(c) as to approximately 25% of the RSUs on 30 September
2025.

As of 31 December 2021, 4,055,600 RSUs granted to the
Grantees have lapsed and been forfeited due to the termination of

such Grantees' employment.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year ended
31 December 2021 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate; and none of the Directors, or any of their
spouse or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for
equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate,
or had exercised any such right.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

In compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix |4 to the Listing Rules,
the Company has established the Remuneration Committee to
formulate remuneration policies. The remuneration is determined
and recommended based on each Director's and senior management
personnel’s qualification, position and seniority. As for the independent
non-executive Directors, their remuneration is determined by the
Board upon recommendation from the Remuneration Committee. The
senior management personnel are eligible participants of the Employee
Incentive Scheme.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors, senior management and
the five highest paid individuals are set out in Note 36, Note 33 and
Note 10, respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and
there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the Directors as
an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation
for loss of office.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, one director was granted
discretionary bonuses of a total sum of RMBI.2 million as set out in
Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed
above, none of the Directors were paid special bonuses or discretionary
bonuses for the year ended 3| December 2021.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 33 to the consolidated

financial statements contained in this annual report.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Among the related party transactions disclosed in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements, none of those transactions constitute
continuing connected transactions or connected transactions for the
Company under Rule [4A31 of the Listing Rules and are required to
be disclosed in this annual report in accordance with Rule 14A71 of the

Listing Rules.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance was entered into between the Company,
or any of its subsidiaries, and any of its Controlling shareholders or

subsidiaries during the year ended 3| December 202 1.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the period during
the year ended 3| December 202 1.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration
during the year ended 31 December 2021. The Directors are also not
aware of any material litigation or claims that are pending or threatened

against the Group during the year ended 3| December 2021.

USE OF PROCEEDS

With the Shares of the Company listed on the Stock Exchange on
22 May 2020, the net proceeds from the Global Offering were
approximately HK$1,717.3 million (the “IPO proceeds”), which will
be utilised for the purposes as set out in our Prospectus. As of 31
December 2021, IPO proceeds of HK$980.8 million has been utilised
and we expect to utilize the balance of the IPO proceeds by December
2022.
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As at 31 December 2021, details of intended application of net P02 9 128318 @ FIERIEFENERTE Rgst

proceeds are set out as follow: EW TR :
Utilised net Expected timeline for
Approximate % Planned proceeds up to utilizing the remaining
of total  use ofactual 31 December Proceeds balance of net proceeds from
net proceeds  net proceeds 2021 unused  the Global Offering()
EFERE BRAE  BE02F
REATN FIETFEN 12A31AEBA BAEREEREGNEFE

P SERAE  FSREFE ABAMGHKE HRGERNESEERO
HKD’million ~ HKD'million  HKD’million
% BBAR BBAR LY

Development and commercialisation of 40 7213 460.5 2608 Expected to be fully utilised by
Pruxelutamide 3| December 2022

GEPGESI AR BHIR00F 12431 BRI 2 B3R

Development and commercialisation of 280 480.8 120.6 3602 Expected to be fully utilised by
Pyrilutamide 31 December 2022

GEPEER k) BHR02F 12731 BRI 228

Our ongoing and planned clinical trials for 140 2404 1249 [155  Expected to be fully utilised by
our other clinical-stage drug candidates 31 December 2022

HufFIE RS IR I B AE R B4 BHIR00F 127431 BRI 2 B3R
1T Rt IR AR

The R&D of pre-clinical stage drug candidates 60 103.] 103.] - -

F R AP LA R LAV 3

Working capital and general corporate purposes 100 171.7 171.7 = =

EEER L REXRE

Total 100.0 17173 980.8 7365
st
Note: FE

(1) The Company intends to use the remaining unused net proceeds in the coming () ARRBRRKREERFBARZIZ TSR R 0B EH AR

years in accordance with the purpose set out in the Prospectus. The Company will REVAFTIS R - AR R BEETHAREENHEY
continue to evaluate the Group's business objectives and will change or modify B2 - WS IRIE T ET L BT ISk B Bk s Bkt &l -
the plans against the changing market conditions to suit the business growth of the LB EAR SR BRI K o i DTS FIEREREE
Group. We will issue an appropriate announcement if there is any material change EREREE - RPSERTIBEAE -

to the above proposed use of proceeds.
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The delay in the expected date by which the remaining proceeds will
be fully utilised from 30 June 2022 to 3| December 2022 was mainly
because some of the R&D and clinical trial works on Pruxelutamide,
Pyrilutamide and our other clinical-stage drug candidates were
conducted in-house instead of outsourced, which was more cost
effective.

TOP-UP PLACING OF EXISTING SHARES,
SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES UNDER
GENERAL MANDATE AND SALE OF SHARES
BY SELLING SHAREHOLDER

On 26 May 2021, the Company, KT Intemational Investment Limited
(the “Vendor”) and KG Development Limited (the “Selling
Shareholder”) entered into a placing agreement (the “Placing
Agreement’”) with UBS AG Hong Kong Branch (the “Placing
Agent”’), pursuant to which:

(@) the Vendor agreed to sell, and the Placing Agent agreed, as agent
of the Vendor, to, among other things, procure purchasers to
purchase 18,200,000 Shares in aggregate held by the Vendor
(the “Placing Shares”) at a price of HK$64.50 per Share (the
“Placing Price”) (the “Placing”);

(b) the Vendor conditionally agreed to enter into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with the
Company to subscribe as principal for, and the Company
conditionally agreed to issue, 18,200,000 new Shares (the
“Subscription Shares”), at the price of HK$64.50 per
Subscription Share (the “Subscription Price”), which was

equivalent to the Placing Price (the “Subscription”); and

(c) the Selling Shareholder agreed to sell, and the Placing Agent
agreed, as agent of the Selling Shareholder, to, among other things,
procure purchasers to purchase a total of 3,700,000 Shares at the
price of HK$64.50 per Share.
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Based on the closing price of HK$70.7 per Share as quoted on the
Stock Exchange as at the date of the Subscription Agreement, the
market value of the Subscription Shares was HK$ 1,286,740,000.

On 31 May 2021, the completion of the Placing took place, as a result
of which an aggregate of 21,900,000 Placing Shares were successfully
placed by the Placing Agent to no less than six placees (the “Placees’)
at the Placing Price pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Placing
Agreement. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information
and belief after having made all reasonable enquiries, the Placees and
their ultimate beneficial owners were third parties independent of
and not connected with the Company or its connected persons. As
all conditions (one of which included the completion of the Placing
having occurred pursuant to the terms of the Placing Agreement) for
the completion of the Subscription had been fulfilled, the Company
allotted and issued 18,200,000 Subscription Shares to the Vendor at the
Subscription Price on 2 June 2021 in accordance with the terms and

conditions of the Subscription Agreement.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

RIER R 2 H B Fr AT sh W T (B B A% I 19
70787 - RERMHHTIES,286,740,0008 7T °

R2021F5A31H > BEEFHEE S %A - At -
& 21900000 B E %5 B E R EBRER &
ez IR IR S BRI E T LR

ZABCA(TEBAL ° TF%?T’EHj—t)JAﬁé?EU
BATRA ~ 2B RERE  ARARESERKER
BRENGSBUE =77 AR T%ﬁ@LAi
WHERAE - AR TXRBEERNAA R (EH
—IEBEEE FRAREEE &R IRKTK)
BEERK - E AR AR IR 17 33 60 RS 15

2021 F6 A2RERBERE 5 L3 K317
18,200,000/ sREBAL(S ©



The net proceeds from the Subscription amounted to approximately
HK$1.16 billion, net of professional fees and out-of-pocket expenses.
The net price for the Shares sold by the Vendor was approximately
HK$63.85 per Placing Share. As at 31 December 2021, proceeds
from the Subscription of HK$783.2 million has been utilised. As at 31

RIBERMFT
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December 2021, details of intended application of net proceeds are set MNP -
out as follows:
Utilised net
proceeds Expected timeline for utilizing
Approximate  Planned use up to the remaining balance of
% of total of actual 31| December Proceeds net proceeds from the
net proceeds net proceeds 2021 unused  Top-up Placing
BZ202F
EFrEE BRAE 12A31H
REAEN  NEFEN  CBRAFRS BRASERNEERSRRFEL
BREDIH SRR PEFE ABARGERE HREHNEREER
HKD’million  HKD’million ~ HKD’million
% BRET BEET BEET
Phase Il multi-regional clinical trials (MRCT) 60 696.0 389.1 3069  Expected to be fully utilised by
of Pruxelutamide in the U.S, China and 30 June 2023
a few other countries
EREREXE - PEREMEERR TEHR2023F6 A30E T2 &3
HBIRR %R LI ERER AR BB (MRCT)
Procurement of study material and active 33 3828 3129 69.9  Expected to be fully utilised by
pharmaceutical ingredient (API) in 31 December 2022
preparation for the commercialisation of
Pruxelutamide
KBRS REHEE (AP LA BER202F 12831 BAT 2 HEA
BRICERER
Working capital for general corporate 7 812 812 - -
purpose
2ERRIME-RARRE
Total 100 [,160 7832 3768
)
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During the Reporting Period, the Group had followed the proposed use
of proceeds as set out in the announcement of the Company dated 26
May 2021. As it is expected that the phase IIl MRCT of Pruxelutamide
in the U.S., China and other countries will be completed in the first
half of 2023, the expected timeline by which the remaining proceeds
intended for this purpose will be fully utilised is delayed from December
2022 to June 2023.

The Placing and the Subscription were undertaken to supplement the
Group's long-term funding of its expansion and growth strategies. The
Directors considered that the Placing and the Subscription would also
provide an opportunity to raise further capital for the Company whilst
broadening the shareholder base and the capital base of the Company.
For further information on the Placing and the Subscription, please refer

to the Announcements.

Immediately after the completion of the Placing and the Subscription
and up to the date of this report, the total number of shares in the
Company's issued share capital was 387,589,600, comprising 51,037,270
Shares held by the Vendor, 43,137,270 Shares held by the Selling
Shareholder, 21,900,000 Shares held by the Placees, and 271,515,060
Shares held by the shareholders other than the Vendor, the Selling

Shareholder and the Placees.

EXPIRATION OF THE 2018 AIC AGREEMENT
AND ENTERING INTO OF THE 2021 AIC
AGREEMENT

On 27 August 2018, Dr. TONG and Dr. GUO (collectively, the
“Concerted Parties’) entered into an acting in concert agreement
(the “2018 AIC Agreement”), pursuant to which the Concerted
Parties agreed to act in concert in respect of, among other things,
exercising voting rights and making proposals at general meetings
and board meetings of all Group companies upon the expiration of
which such term could be extended with the mutual consent of the
Concerted Parties.
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On 27 August 2021, the Concert Parties entered into a new acting
in concert agreement (the “2021 AIC Agreement”) for a term of
one year, automatically renewable upon the expiration of the foregoing
one-year term. Pursuant to the 2021 AIC Agreement, such renewal
shall automatically take place each year until and unless the Concerted
Parties expressly terminate the 2021 AIC Agreement. Save for the
foregoing change in the term relating to the renewal of the 2021 AIC
Agreement, the principal terms of the 2021 AIC Agreement remain

substantially the same as those contained in the 2018 AIC Agreement.

The Company has no controlling shareholder. Neither the expiration
of the 2018 AIC Agreement nor the entering into of the 2021 AIC
Agreement resulted in any change in the largest Shareholder or the
number of Shares held by the Concerted Parties.

The Company does not intend to change the purpose of the IPO
proceeds as set out in the Prospectus and will gradually utilise the
residual amount of the IPO proceeds in accordance with their intended

purpose.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed percentage of

public float under the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance for enhancing the management of the Company as well as
preserving the interests of the shareholders as a whole. The Company
has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG Code as its own
code to govern its corporate governance practices. Information on the
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 67 to 89 of this annual
report. In the opinion of the Directors, save as disclosed in this annual
report, the Company has complied with the relevant code provisions
contained in the CG Code during the Reporting Period. The Board will
continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company with an

aim to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Wallace Wai Yim YEUNG and Dr. Michael Min
XU and one non-executive Director, namely, Dr. Yan WANG. The
chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. Wallace Wai Yim YEUNG.
The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2021. The
Audit Committee has also discussed with the management and the
independent auditors of the Company the accounting principles and
policies adopted by the Company and discussed internal control and
financial reporting matters (including the review of the audited annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2021) of the Group. The
Audit Committee considered that the annual results are in compliance
with the applicable accounting standards, laws and regulations, and the

Company has made appropriate disclosures thereof.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. A resolution to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers and to

authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration will be proposed at the

AGM.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, we do not have other plans for

material investments and capital assets.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this report, there are no important events affecting
the Group which have occurred since the end of the Reporting Period

and up to the Latest Practicable Date.

By order of the Board
Dr. Youzhi Tong
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 27 April 2022

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Esggs

D

REE 2R A M RARE R BB G RTHAN =7
P EERNERERFBFAE LRE - X
BEBEREBEER - RREBFAS LR
E-HRBERAEBE LR KB ERM R
REE=ETHEMS -

EXAREREXREERRRKGE

SRAFERABEEES  RAMBEARERER
BEMEAMETE

BEMBREASH
BRAREMBEEN  BREHREEERKE

BRATRE SIBEEREASENEEER -

AEFEW
ExzEt
EFETE

EF& - 2022948278

BHREEERAR
F 3R 2021

121



122

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B % B HRE

To the Shareholders of Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”), which are

set out on pages |31 to 246, comprise:

*  the consolidated statement of financial position as at 3|1 December
2021;

*  the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year

then ended;

*  the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

*  the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

FRAMERERAARR
(RASRSEMAZNEREELR)

=R
BEAEHFANRAR

MAEXERLAR(TERR]) REMBAR (5
WIESEDIHNE I3 BEEF2146ANGEEM
Bk - 81

K202 15 12 A3 BMEGRE SRR R

. BERALFENGSRERNSE

- BEZRLFENGRBRSRER R

c HREMBHRRWME  BEREASFTHELE
fpfRE AR A Y o

BEFHNER

BMRR  ZEFEAVBHRRE RIEBERTHR
SEAEEMFEHRKRT BERER2021F12
A3 BOSEE BN L EBEZ B IEFENLR
BUBRARGERERE  YEBREEAA
{ERBIEBBEARE Z Bt o



BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other

ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

*  Impairment assessment of In-licenses and In-process Research and

Development (“IPR&D") in the intangible assets

*  Recognition and measurement of research and development costs
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Key Audit Matter

HRENER

Impairment assessment of In-licenses and IPR&D in

the intangible assets

I E E R AR NGET T BB E R

Refer to Notes 2.6, 2.7, 4(b) and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

B2HEE MK T3£2.6 ~ 2.7 °
ELMME MG mMERPMEE26 - 27 - 4b) 16

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's In-licenses and
IPR&D in the intangible assets which are not yet ready
to use amounted to approximately RMB79,618,000 and
RMB155,272,000, respectively.

R20215 128318+ BEERARES A EHREDN
BRVEENAELETHPHNRAEINOBARE
79,618,0007T K2 A R ¥ 155,272,0007T °

The Group is required to perform an annual impairment
assessment for intangible assets not yet ready for use.
Management engaged an independent external valuation
expert to assist them in assessing the recoverable amount of
each individual In-licenses and IPR&D based on fair value less
costs of disposal (“FVLCOD") using discounted cash flow
model. The key assumptions adopted in the determination of
FVLCOD include success rate of commercialisation, market
penetration rate, revenue growth rate, forecasted percentage
of costs and operating expenses, and post-tax discount rate.
BEBEAM R ARED A ERREN BT EEETFER
B h - EEERE (B LIEEER - UiHE
WHERAABERREEZR ( [AAEBEREEES
A1) RERSREMRRL T LS AR A ETH
MR R IRE S5 - BEAA BEREZEEERKRA
MEIBRJEEFDERLCORDE - TIHLEER - Kl
RR - AARE LRI ARTRRIEIRE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB MAEERRETER

We obtained an understanding of the management'’s internal

control and assessment process of estimation of recoverable
amounts of the In-licenses and IPR&D and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.

T TR ETEEA BT AT A ST T O AT B H AT U ]
SR ARG LRS- YEFHEERERNERR
B - R T A EEESREMEAR S EREE -
PIanfEET AR REN - FEE AR ER B R MR ERE
B SRR A B ©

We assessed the competence, capability and objectivity of the

independent external valuation expert.

HAIRHE T BN ERERNHS ] - ENMFEIL -

We assessed management's future cash flow forecasts and the
key assumptions used in determining the recoverable amounts.
Our procedures included:

HAFIEHE T BIRBHARKIRES R E TR A M AREE ATk
E£FENEERR - RFINEFEHE

*  assessing the valuation methodology adopted by reference

to industry practice;

- 2ETREPIFERANMGETE

*  evaluating success rate of commercialisation, revenue
growth rate and market penetration rate with industry
historical data;

« NMATEELBEFERECOHKRNER - KEER
ERHIREE
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Key Audit Matter

HRENER

Impairment assessment of In-licenses and IPR&D in
the intangible assets (Continued)

SRR E R AR ROEAT T AT SORUE RV AE ()

We focused on this area because of the significance of
the balances of In-licenses and IPR&D and the high degree
of uncertainty, including the complexity and subjectivity
of management estimates involved in determining the
recoverable amounts and the key assumptions adopted.
BRI ULEERS - To R AT SO 1T P BV I B A S AR
MEAMMSEAEEE (BREEEATWE S EMY
KHVER E Gt AR PR A E 2MRAOEFIEMTE
#) o
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
MM ETNAEEERETSHE
*  comparing forecasted percentage of costs and operating

expenses to the industry historical data, taking into
consideration of market trends;

. EERTBBEY  BRAREEBX N LT
S & BURETHORE

*  assessing the post-tax discount rate for each individual
intangible asset by referencing to the comparable
companies in the pharmaceutical industry and recalculating
the weighted average cost of capital for each individual
intangible asset, as well as considering territory specific
factors, such as risk free interest rate, market risk premium
and debt ratio prevailing in relevant market.

« BEZEHETENAILBRARYEHAESEE
WEEMIEFIGERKA - LANE B[R EH
= (PIanAERAT 5 ey &R B A & - 55 B s B A
BEBLLER) - HMESRENEENTREIRE -

*  testing the mathematical accuracy of the discounted cash
flow forecasts and comparing the estimated recoverable
amounts with carrying value to determine whether
impairment exists.

- ARMBARSAREFRHNBEERNE - WK EHD
A el e EEREEETHLR - UEEREFEM
B

*  evaluating the sensitivity analysis performed by the
management on the key assumptions used in the cash
flow forecasts to assess the potential impacts on the
impairment assessment.

- HMEEREERRESARERATERNEBRBREMAE
TTHBREDT - USRI ERFEEERE -
We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to
the impairment assessment of In-licenses and IPR&D in the

consolidated financial statements.

IR T AR S BTSSP B2 R AU A BT TR RO R AR
BEFfEERNEENT R -

Based on the procedures performed, we considered that
management’s judgements and estimation in the impairment
assessment of In-licenses and IPR&D were supported by the
evidence we gathered.

ERFETRER - RPIRRRPABENEREASISE
3% JE 7 F P M R 1T R RO AT 2 A OR0 (B AT A o B ) B A A
ﬂ_
A
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Key Audit Matter

HRENER

Recognition and measurement of research and

development costs

WA NERENGTE

Refer to consolidated statement of comprehensive income
and Notes 2.6 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements.
B2HEE 2 mMRER MM RAR T HIE265%7 °
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group incurred
research and development (“R&D") costs of approximately
RMB767,936,000 which was charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
BE2021F12A31ALFE - EREELNHE(TH
) RAK B ARKET679360007C © BRERA 2 E RS
K5I

The R&D costs mainly include employee benefit expenses,
clinical research expenses, materials and consumables used,
outsources R&D costs paid to contract research organizations
(“"CRQO"), utilities and depreciation of property, plant and
equipment in relation to R&D activities.
MERATECRERZEHEANRERNFEX - K
R RFEX - EEAMBEREN ENEOME#E
(TCRODEVSIMNBIF BRI ~ KREBBIARYE - BE MR
e -

We focused on this area given the large volume of the R&D
transactions and its significance to the consolidated financial
statements and thus significant audit effort involved.
BPIRDTILER - YRR EREAENHER S MEEH
RAEMBRERNENE - URERMSRNEREST
fE o

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BB MAEERRETER

We understood, evaluated and tested, on a sample basis, the

key controls over recognition and measurement of R&D costs.
AT ER - FHEIL OB SR A ST 2T E A RS
G ©

We inquired management and the project managers to

understand the progress of each R&D project.
HIAMEREEMAR KB A THRIMERANEE -

We tested R&D transactions, on a sample basis, by examining
the relevant supporting documents, including contracts,
purchase invoices, R&D progress reports, R&D staff time report,
and material consumption records.
HPEBREERNI X (BEEGH  KEZER M
%ﬁ?ﬁi~ﬁ¥A§I%ﬁ%ﬂMﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ%%W?
BRXGETHEAR

We circularised confirmations, on a sample basis, on suppliers
and CROs to confirm the purchase transaction amounts in
relation to the R&D transactions during the year and the related
payable balances at the year end date.
HPRmMEREEMHERFMCRO L K - LA E
FAMEZXZBEBENRBER S SR ANNF S B HER &
ases o

We tested R&D transactions, on a sample basis, that took place
before and after the year end date to supporting documents
and assessed whether those costs were recorded in the
appropriate financial reporting period.

BRI X FS R Z AN BB LR HET
AR > WA E LK AR D RN EE NI ERE
Hj o

Based on the procedures performed, we considered the
recognition and measurement of R&D costs were supported by
the evidence we gathered.
ERATETTIER » BIMIR RPN E R B AR
B AERTE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the

audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no

realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial

statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.

We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion

on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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*  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.

*  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as

a going concemn.

»  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

+  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh

the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is CHAN Chiu Kong, Edmond.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SEZEHBRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HE202I1F12A31BIEFEE

RMB’000
ARET T

Year ended 31 December
BEN2A3IBLFE

2021

2021 F

2020
20204
RMB'000
ARET T

Revenue from out-licensing contracts HIMEIES D 34,231 -
Cost of sales $H & PR - -
Gross profit EF 34,231 -
Other income HAUA 6 29,311 25,134
Marketing costs 7 [P 7 (14,698) (8,628)
Administrative expenses THFX 7 (103,255) (77,063)
Research and development costs TFEE R AR 7 (767,936) (328,764)
Other losses — net H b 518558 8 (17,254) (115,530)
Operating loss ReEBE (839,601) (504,851)
Finance costs — net BT R AN BE (2,494) (3.377)
Loss before income tax BRET B HLAIE 1B (842,095) (508,228)
Income tax expense FriSti & A I - (73)
Loss and total comprehensive loss for N2 T #EREFHE A BN

the year attributable to the equity FREBERZEEBEARE

holders of the Company (842,095) (508,301)
Basic and diluted loss per share for loss Z<2 T #HEHE A B

attributable to the equity holders of EXRHEERER

the Company (in RMB) (AR¥TT) 13 (2.36) (1.64)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be A e NS REREBEN 2T —0t3:E

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BARR R
AS AT 3| DECEMBER 202 |
M2021F 128318

As at 31 December

®12831H
2021 2020
2021 20204
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
(=2 AR¥T T ARETTT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y -~ BB MR 14 223,686 174,612
Intangible assets | EE 16 235,621 209,760
Right-of-use assets EREEE 5 38,614 12,068
Other non-current assets Hi3EREEE W4 44,173 34,419
542,094 430,859
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE |9 351,362 —
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments — EL EUNFRIE -« 124 &
TE{ 308 20 117,655 31,621
Time deposits TEBIfER 22 125,071 323,407
Restricted cash SRR HIIRE 23 1,658 -
Cash and cash equivalents He MREEEY 23 930,149 1,065,588
1,525,895 1,420,616
Total assets EEHAE 2,067,989 1,851,475
Liabilities aE
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Borrowings fEm 24 147,500 134,900
Lease liabilities MEAE 25 2,764 490
Deferred income tax liabilities BIEFTIS A E 28 38,818 38818
Deferred income FEEUA 26 4,009 -
193,091 74,208

132 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBMRR R

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

R2021F 12831 H

As at 31 December

RI12A31H
2021 2020
20216 2020%F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt ARBTT ARBTTT
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R E MR RIE 27 209,863 81,409
Borrowings &k 24 7,400 83,600
Lease liabilities HEEE 25 2,069 2,713
Deferred income B A 26 - 361
Amounts due to related parties JE < A 75 SR8 33 408 1,250
219,740 169,333
Total liabilities BEAE 412,831 343,541
Equity s
Equity attributable to the equity AARERFTE ARLER
holders of the Company
Share capital &N 29 273 261
Shares held for the Employee e B BT A SR
Incentive Scheme 30 (17) (17)
Reserves E 31 1,654,902 1,507,690
Total equity RSB 1,655,158 1,507,934
Total equity and liabilities EaRkEEREH 2,067,989 1,851,475
The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read LA E476 BAFEAR 2R FE EEBE R 2 B 5 — O BARE -

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages |31 to 246 were approved by the

Board of Directors on 25 March 2022 and were signed on its behalf.

Director

EZE

F I3 E246 BN IRKE HEF 2202253

HA#LE  IRREFZGHRE -

Director

EE

PAhEEERATF

F 3R 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

—AN < 4=
mERERSEHR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 202
HE202I1F12A31BIEFEE

Shares held
for the
Capital  Share-based Employee
accumulation  compensation Incentive  Accumulated
Share capital reserve reserve Scheme losses  Total equity
WRAA HER
-4 VLR
k& EALE FHEe  BRORG ZiER ERAR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR
(Note 29) (Note 31) (Note 31) (Note 30) (Note 31)
(Ktz29) (W31) (31) (Kt&£30) (R&31)
Balance at | January 2021 102151 B I B#vAEE 2l 2,406,911 28,159 () (927,380) 1,507,934
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year ~ £EBERZAEEAE - - - - (842,095) (842,095)
Transactions with owners in their HEEAGH
capacity as owners REANZS
lssue of shares of the Company (Note 31)  ZIAR ARG (M) ) 951,960 - - - 951,972
Share-based payments (Note 30) WRIARER M (H30) - - 31,341 - - 31,341
12 951,960 37,341 - - 989,319
Balance at 31 December 202 R0 12831 R m 3,358,871 65,506 (17 (1,769,475) 1,655,158
Balance t | January 2020 00| A1 REEEE 17 788726 - - (419079) 369,664
Loss and total comprehensive EEEERZR
loss for the year rat - - - - (508301) (508301)
Transactions with owners in HEEASH
their capacity as owners REANRS
lsue of shares of the Company (Note 31) ~ BTARFRIA (HfzE31) 07 1,618,185 - - - 1618412
Shares issued by the Company to the 2020 ZXAR]D00E(EE BT 2l
Employee Incentive Scheme (EZ 2H0)
(as defined in Note 30) ROMRG 17 - (17) - -
Share-based payments (Note 30) R RER S (H730) - - 28159 - - 28159
1 1618185 8159 (17) - 1646571
Balance at 3| December 2020 R020%12A31 RfEE %l 2406911 28159 (17 (927,380) 1507934

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

%AIEQ/}ILE%‘%

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 202
HE202I1F12A31BIEFEE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3I1ALEE

yiy]| 2020
20215 20204
Note RMB’000 RMB'000

FaE AR®TR

AR®ETTT

Cash flows from operating activities

RETDMERSRE

Cash used in operations SEFTRE S 32 (1,049,673) (380,405)
Interest paid 2RFLE 6,771) (7,649)
Interest received B URELFLE 6 5,890 7,245
Income tax paid [=EREI T (809) (73)
Net cash used in operating activities & EEFARLTE (1,051,363) (380,882)
Cash flows from investing activities RETEHMERERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE BB NEE (76,238) (69,033)
Purchase of intangible assets BEETEE (29,504) (27,127)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - HE R&HE
plant and equipment FTiS50R 13 752
Purchases of time deposits with maturities of ~ B& 5 2| Hi H B8 =& A &Y
over three months EHIFER (322,079) (480,930)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BERARBEGER
through profit or loss HEHt AEHER
THEE 21 (193,328) (252,767)
Proceeds from time deposits with FERBEA=EAR
maturities of over three months FEERF RIS ROE 515,879 134,100
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HERAAEBENER
at fair value through profit or loss HEHE A BiER
TRBESIR 21 195,062 254418
Interest received from time deposits with BWEIEE BB =/
maturities of over three months T HTE A B 3,858 859
Payments for restricted cash XZREIFRE (1,658) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEHFRE(FTH)
investing activities REFEH 92,005 (439,728)
BREXERAR

F 3R 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERSRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021

HE2021F 128318 1L5E

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3I1ALEE

2021 2020
2021 F 2020
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
PiEE AR®T ARBTT
Cash flows from financing activities RMEEEMERERE
Principal elements of lease liabilities HEaEAEIY (28,924) (3,100)
Proceeds from borrowings R GRS ] 20,000 239,000
Repayments of borrowings BEER (83,600) (79,200)
Proceeds from issue of shares BITARRRIRIDFrS5E
of the Company 951,972 1,652,740
Payment for listing expenses S EmAEX (2,030) (29,142)
Net cash generated from METBREREFHE
financing activities 857,418 [,780,298
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRASEZEY
cash equivalents CR2) /g in$ 88 (101,940) 959,688
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FHRE MIREEEY
of the year 1,064,689 195,532
Exchange losses on cash and Re MR EEYHN
cash equivalents ME 5 518 (36,418) (90,531)
Cash and cash equivalents at ERBEERBELSEEY
the end of the year 23 926,331 [,064,689
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in AR REREHEBEN 2 —0H:E -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A AR MY R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 202
HE202I1F12A31BIEFEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

I.I General information

Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited (the “Company"”) was
incorporated on 16 May 2018 in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY'I-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, “the Group™)
are principally engaged in research and development of

innovative medicine products.

The Company's shares have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 22 May
2020.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in

Renminbi (“RMB”) thousands, unless otherwise stated.

—RER
1.1 —RER

RIREXBERLAR(IARA]) - —
R2018%F5 A 6 BIRIEF SRS R AV
RASHESTMAIHNEREERAQ
A) o HeE My SR it /R Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY'I-1111, Cayman Islands °

RRAB/—FREERRR] - ARE K
,HMTEAT( R AN ) X BN =T

fI3

2
St
W

e

AATIRME 8202055 A2 B RS
BERSHERARERET -

BRBHRPI  NEEPBRRAAR
BITAREDTIIR -

BHREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to both the years presented, unless

otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group has been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs™). The consolidated financial statements
has been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (FVPL) which are carried at fair value.
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise judgment in the process of applying the accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) New standards and interpretations adopted by
the Group
The Group has adopted the following amendment to
standards and interpretations which are mandatory for

the year ended 31 December 2021:

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

2 EASHHEBE#)

2.1 mMBEEE)
(a) EEBEFRAHIFERR2FE

AEEDHEANTHNAEZ2021F12
A3 B IEFE R 5 AR &2
PEICHIpINE

Effective for

accounting periods

Standards Key requirements beginning on or after

RUET B 2%

=8 FERE MmN ETEEXR

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2 | January 2021
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

B R B 75 s = R R SR 955 MREENEE KR 2021F 1A IR

R ETERISE395R -
BIFR B R SR R RSB 755%
BRFR B 75 S R I B 4557 %
BIFR B R 3R 5 2RISR | 65
(ERTA)

A

These new standards and interpretations did not have
material impact on the financial performance and
position of the Group and did not require retrospective

adjustments.

% AR M B AR SR E R R A
RIEMRY BEBARTZE - TMER
EHHE o

BHREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

140

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 ERETFEHEHER)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 fRBEEE)
(b) New standards and interpretations not yet (b) EHAREABIFER R 2FE

adopted
A number of new standards and amendments to 2021 5F | A1 BRBHMEREE -
existing standards and interpretations that are relevant BREAEBMETHEINARIEE
to the Group have been issued but are not yet effective ER KA BENERT AN D EEMAE &
for the financial year beginning on | January 2021 and RER - MAREREERFEHER -
have not been early adopted by the Group. These new ZEFERREFTAFSN AT -

standards and amendments are set out below:

Effective for

accounting periods

Standards Key requirements beginning on or after
RELUH B#g 2 &
R TERE RIS HIBAEXR
IFRS 7 Insurance Contracts | January 2023
BRI B s o R R 58 1 755% REBRAEK 202351 A 1R
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or contribution of assets between an To be determined
investor and its associate or joint venture
[ R B 745 s o 2R U 56 1 055 Sz REEREBENRIREEDRE BHE
REETHERIZE 285 (12 F] ) ZEEBEELEITE
Amendments to IAS | Classification of liabilities as current or | January 2023
non-current
BIER et /% SR (R A) BESBSRB IR 202351 1R
Amendments to IAS 6 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds | January 2022
before intended use
REETERIE 65 (IERTA) WE - BE N BUERERT 2022%F 1 A1 H
TS 50R
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling | January 2022
a Contract
R ERIE 7R (ERTA) BREAKN—BITAH KA 2025 1 A1 H
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework | January 2022
BB mEEREIRUETA) SIAHSER 2025 1 A1 H
Amendments to IFRS [, 2018-2020 annual improvement cycle | January 2022
IFRS 9, IAS 41 and IFRS 16
BIER B ¥R e R RIS 155 - 20185 22020 F BHAF E i 202 1 A1 H
BIRR B T R & AR R B 95%
RE RIS N
BIRR B T TR 5 2R RS | 655
(1&&TA)
Amendments to IAS | and Disclosure of Accounting Policies | January 2023
IFRS Practice Statement 2
s @EERIE S RERS SRS SR RE 202341 A1B
ERIEBREE 2R (BFTA)
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates | January 2023
BIFR g TR F 85k (EFTA) BEHEETESR 2023 1 A1 H
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and | January 2023
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
B &t ERIE 1258 (1BETAN) HE-—QIMELNEENMABEAHEN 202351 1R
EIEFTISHE

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2 EASHHEBE#)

2.1 mMBEEE)
(b) HARERARIFERR2EE(E)

(b) New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted (Continued)

KilEE‘ﬂﬂﬁAE%EEAi?%ﬁJ&WV

FIERIRERI AT E  HRET
IEE@ZK%IE@%@*H%E c RIBEZE
TEHE VI 3G - TREIRZE AT
BRI RN RAERT AR -

TEHRNEE NI RIS NE
EBEARTE

The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of these new or revised standards and
amendments, certain of which are relevant to the
Group’s operations. According to the preliminary
assessment made by the directors, no significant impact
on the financial performance and positions of the Group

is expected when they become effective.

2.2 Subsidiaries 2.2 B AH

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over B A R AAEES B G ERNAT
ER(BEERER) - NAKEEY
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable HRE R 2 H T R AT & B A R b ok =
BRI S ERAEN - WHHETRZER
TEEERE TN A B I B E O R

which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity

returns from its involvement with the entity and has the

ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the

activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They

are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between entities within the Group are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the

transferred asset.

AREBAZEHIZERE - MBAR B ZES
REBTASEEZAEEZELGA AR
I PR HIIEAR L E B AR A ARR

NAIFENR S - BHAAEEBANEERE
R G ARER W T LASEE - RER
BRI  RIFRXSERERT
PrigE g E m R ER R o

BHREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.1 Business combinations

(a) Business combinations not under common
control
The Group applies the acquisition method to
account for business combinations not under
common control. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values
of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. ldentifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their

fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by IFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement

are recognised in profit or loss.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.1

Business combinations (Continued)

(a) Business combinations not under common

control (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair
value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less
than the fair value of the net assets of the business
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the profit or

loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group'’s

accounting policies.

HEMBBRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.1 Business combinations (Continued)

(b) Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with
the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as
owners. The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired
of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals
to non-controlling interests are also recorded in

equity.

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries
When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive

income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.2.2 Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and

receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including

goodwill.

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as

the executive directors that make strategic decisions.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the
Group has been focusing on research and development of
innovative medicine products. Accordingly, the management
considers that the Group is operated and managed as a
single operating segment and hence no segment information is

presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation

currency.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where
items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss, except when deferred in other comprehensive
income as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net

investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to cash
and cash equivalents and borrowings are presented in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income

within “finance costs — net’”’,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

2 EASHHEBE#)

2.4 SNERKE)

(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the

presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the

date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the rate on

the dates of the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting currency translation differences are

recognised in other comprehensive income.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment include machinery
and equipment, office equipment, motor vehicles and
construction in progress and are stated at historical cost
less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is

directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the consolidated statements of comprehensive

income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

(c) EFLF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their costs to their

residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

—  Buildings 30 years

— Machinery and equipment 5-20 years
— Office equipment and fumiture 5-10 years
— Motor vehicles 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater

than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in

the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Construction-in-progress represents properties under
construction and is stated at cost less impairment. This
includes cost of construction, plant and equipment and other
direct costs. Construction-in-progress is not depreciated
until such time as the assets are completed and are ready for

operational use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

Software

Acquired software is capitalised on the basis of the
cost incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific
software. These costs are amortised over the estimated
useful life of | to 10 years. The Group should assess
whether there is any indication that software is impaired

at each financial year end.

Software is amortised over the estimated useful lives
of the individual software. The useful lives of individual
software were assessed with consideration of the
contractual term, the current functionality equipped
by the software, using plan and operation needs of the

software.

Research and development expenditures

The Group incurs significant costs and efforts on
research and development activities, which include
expenditures on drug products. Research expenditures
are charged to the profit or loss as an expense in the
period the expenditures are incurred. Development
costs are recognised as assets if they can be directly
attributable to a newly developed drug products and all

the following can be demonstrated:

(i) the technical feasibility of completing the
development project so that it will be available for

use or sale;

(i) the Group's intention to complete the

development project to use or sell it;

(i) the Group's ability to use or sell the development

project;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Intangible assets (Continued)

(b) Research and development expenditures

(Continued)
(iv) how the development project will generate

probable future economic benefits for the Group;

(v) the Group's availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the development

project; and

(vi) the ability to measure reliably the expenditures

attributable to the development project.

The cost of an interally generated intangible asset is the
sum of the expenditures incurred from the date the asset
meets the recognition criteria above to the date when
it is available for use. The costs capitalised in connection
with the intangible asset include costs of materials and
services used or consumed, employee costs incurred
in the creation of the asset and an appropriate portion
of relevant overheads. The Group generally considers
capitalisation criteria for internally generated intangible
assets is met when obtaining regulatory approval of new

drug license.

Capitalised development expenditures are amortised
using the straight-line method over the life of the related
drug products. Amortisation shall begin when the asset
is available for use. Subsequent to initial recognition,
internally generated intangible assets are reported as
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated

impairment losses (if any).

Development expenditures not satisfying the above
criteria are recognized in the profit or loss as incurred
and development expenditures previously recognised
as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a

subsequent period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Intangible assets (Continued)

(c)

In-licenses and In-Process Research and
Development (IPR&D)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on

initial recognition at cost.

Certain intangible assets are for license of intellectual
properties in development, with non-refundable
upfront payment, milestone payment and royalty
payment. Upfront payment is capitalized when paid.
The milestone payment is capitalised as intangible assets
when incurred, unless the payment is for outsourced
research and development work which would follow
the capitalisation policy in Note 2.6(b). Royalty payment
would be accrued for in line with the underlying sales
and recognised as a cost of sales. However, if the
intangible asset is acquired in a business combination, it is

measured at fair value at initial recognition.

In-licenses and IPR&D acquired are subsequently stated

at cost less any impairment losses.

For research or development expenditures which
are related to an IPR&D project acquired separately
or in a business combination and incurred after the
acquisition of that project, they shall be accounted for in

accordance with the capitalisation policy in Note 2.6(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FREMBHRWE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Intangible assets (Continued)

(c) In-licenses and In-Process Research and
Development (IPR&D) (Continued)
The intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised when ready for use and over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortization period and
the amortization method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial
year end. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
or not ready for use will not be amortised but tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. The impairment test would
compare the recoverable amount of the in-licenses
and IPR&D asset to its carrying value. The useful life
of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to

finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

In-licenses and IPR&D with finite useful life are amortised
using the straight-line basis over the commercial lives
of the underlying products, commencing from the date

when the products are put into commercial production.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

2.8

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets of indefinite useful lives or not ready for
use are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.
Other non-financial assets including right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each

financial year end.

Financial assets

2.8.1 Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

(i) those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income, or

through profit or loss), and
(i) those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual

terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other

comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

2.8.2 Recognition and measurement
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed

in profit or loss.

(a) Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group

classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and
interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is included
in other income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss. Impairment
losses are presented as separate line item in the

consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried
at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant increase in

credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the

receivables.

2.10 Inventories

Raw materials and work in progress are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned to
individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted average
costs. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after
deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs

necessary to make the sale.

2.11 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
technology services performed in the ordinary course of
business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current

assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. For impairment of trade

receivables, refer to Note 2.9.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statements of cash flow, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits held at
banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject

to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.13 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not,

they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

2.14 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached

conditions.

Government grants relating to past expenses are recognised
directly in the consolidated statements of comprehensive

income.

Government grants relating to future costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income over the period necessary to match them with the

costs they are intended to compensate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Government grants (Continued)

Government grants relating to assets are included in non-
current liabilities as “Deferred income” and are credited to
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income on a
straight-line basis over the expected useful lives of the related

assets.

The recognition period of government grants are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting

period.

2.15 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this
case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as
a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the

period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability

for at least |2 months after the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and

deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated

statements of comprehensive income, except to the extent

that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity, respectively.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation. It establishes provisions, where
appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be

paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Also, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit nor loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the

deferred income tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

(<)

Inside basis differences (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, except for deferred income tax liability
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries only to the extent that it is
probable the temporary difference will reverse in the
future and there is sufficient taxable profit available

against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a

net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Employee benefits

2 EASHHEBE#)

2ITEEREF

The Group entities in Mainland China participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit plans organised by relevant
government authorities for its employees in Mainland China
and contribute to these plans based on certain percentage
of the salaries of the employees on a monthly basis, up to
a maximum fixed monetary amount, as stipulated by the
relevant government authorities. The government authorities
undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations
payable to all existing and future retired employees under

these plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees in Hong Kong who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administrated
fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully with the

employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group has no further obligation for post-retirement

benefits beyond the contributions made.

The contributions are recognised as employee benefit

expense when they are due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net off tax, from the

proceeds.

2.19 Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the Employee Incentive Scheme. Information

relating to the scheme is set out in Note 30.

The fair value of awarded shares granted to employees
under Employee Incentive Scheme less amount paid by
employees is recognised as an employee benefits expense
over the relevant service period, being the vesting period of
the shares, and the credit is recognised in equity in the share-
based compensation reserve. The fair value of the shares is
measured at the grant date. The number of shares expected
to vest is estimated based on the service conditions. The
estimates are revised at the end of each reporting period and
adjustments are recognised in profit or loss and the share-
based compensation reserve. Where shares are forfeited due
to a failure by the employee to satisfy the service conditions,
any expenses previously recognised in relation to such shares

are reversed effective at the date of the forfeiture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue from out-licensing contracts

2 EASHHEBE#)

2.20 MR ES PR

Revenue is recognised to depict the provision of promised
services and transfer of goods to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those services or goods.
Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue

recognition:

e Step |: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

*  Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the

contract

*  Step 3: Determine the transaction price

*+ Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the

performance obligations in the contract

*  Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation

Revenue is recognised when, or as, obligations under
the terms of a contract are satisfied, which occurs when
control of the promised products or services is transferred
to customers. Revenue is measured as the amount of
consideration the Group expects to receive in exchange for
transferring products or services to a customer (“‘transaction

price”).

A performance obligation represents a good and service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of

distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
applicable, control of the goods and services may be

transferred over time or at a point in time.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

220Revenue from out-licensing contracts
(Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with using the same
approach as for trade receivables. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due. There is normally no significant cost

to obtain contract.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is

due) from the customer.

The revenue stream of the Group is revenue from out-

licensing contracts.

The Group provides license of its intellectual properties
("IP") to customers. The consideration comprises a fixed
element (the upfront payment) and three variable elements
(development milestone payments, commercial milestone
payments and royalties based on future sales). Initially only
fixed consideration is included in the transaction price. The
amount of the variable consideration for milestone payments
included in the transaction price is determined to be zero
at inception, based on the most likely amount and the
application of the variable consideration constraint, i.e. such
variable consideration is only included in the transaction
price when it is highly probable that no significant reversal of

revenue when the uncertainty is resolved.

The non-refundable upfront payment only relates to the
license. The sales-based royalty will only be included in the

transaction price when actual sales are made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

220Revenue from out-licensing contracts

2 EASHHEBE#)

220 HIMRESH WS (E)

(Continued)

The control of the license transfers at point in time, when
the customer obtains the right to use the underlying IP of
the license. The revenue from out-licencing contracts is
recognised when the control of the the license is transferred.
The sales-based royalties are recognised as revenue when

the subsequent sales are made.

2.21 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are

substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in

the net fair value gains/(losses) on these assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as

part of other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except
for financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired.
For credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is
applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after

deduction of the loss allowance).

2.23 Leases and right-of-use assets

The Group leases properties and land use rights in the PRC
as lessee. The consideration paid for lease are treated as
right-of-use assets, which are stated at cost less accumulative
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Lease
land is amortised over the lease period of 50 years using

straight-line method.

Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 6
months to 5 years, but may have extension options. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain

various terms and conditions.

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and the
corresponding liabilities at the date of which the respective
leased assets is available for use by the Group. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest

on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Leases and right-of-use assets (Continued)

2 EASHHEBE#)

LB HERFERAEEEZ)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured

HEMELANEBENBBEIRRBAEE

on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net HHE - HEBEEEATHENK
present value of the following lease payment: SHIRE -

(i) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),

less any lease incentives receivable;

(i) variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date;

(i) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under

residual value guarantees;

(iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is

reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the

lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with

similar terms, security and conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Leases and right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the

following:
*  the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

* any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date less any lease incentives received
* any initial direct costs, and
*  restoration costs

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the lease
term on a straight-line basis. Right-of-use assets are subject to

impairment (Note 2.7).

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of less than 12 months. Low-value assets comprise

small items of machinery.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease

term on the same basis as lease income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial

risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow

and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group's overall risk management programme focuses

on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to

minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.

(a) Market risk

()

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions or recognised assets
and liabilities are denominated in a currency that
is not the respective group entities’ functional
currency. The Group mainly operates in the PRC
with most of the transactions settled in RMB. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management of the
Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The Group is not exposed to foreign exchange
risk as there are no significant financial assets
or liabilities of the Group denominated in the
currencies other than the functional currency,
except for cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash and time deposits at bank in USD and HKD
which were primarily received from the investors as
capital contributions as mentioned in Note 29.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(@

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

If US dollars had strengthened/weakened by
4% against RMB with all other variables held
constant, net loss would have been approximately
RMB5,727,000 lower/higher as at 31 December
2021 (2020: RMB26,618,000 lower/higher), as
a result of net foreign exchange gains/losses on
translation of net monetary assets denominated in
US dollars.

If HK dollars had strengthened/weakened by
4% against RMB with all other variables held
constant, net loss would have been approximately
RMB31,538,000 lower/higher as at 31 December
2021 (2020: RMB9,075,000 higher/lower), as a
result of net foreign exchange gains/losses on
translation of net monetary assets denominated in
HK dollars.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates. The Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets and liabilities, except
for lease liabilities (Note 25), cash and cash
equivalents (Note 23), restricted cash (Note 23),
time deposits (Note 22) and borrowings (Note
24). Those carried at floating rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk whereas
those carried at fixed rates expose the Group to

fair value interest rate risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3 SEEREEZ)
3.1 dREEEE)

(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) THEEREE)

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
(Continued)
The Group's interest rate risk mainly arises from
borrowings. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. As
at 31 December 2021 and 2020, all the Group's
borrowings were carried at fixed rates, which

exposed the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Management does not anticipate significant
impact to interest-bearing assets resulted from
the changes in interest rates, because the interest
rates of bank deposits are not expected to change

significantly.

(b) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash,
time deposits and wealth management products.
The carrying amounts of receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, time deposits and wealth
management products represent our maximum

exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit
risk associated with cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash, time deposits and wealth management products
since they are substantially deposited at or purchased
from state-owned banks and other medium or large-
sized listed banks. Management does not expect
that there will be any significant losses from non-
performance by these counterparties and the loss

allowance provision is considered immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

Management has assessed that during the year ended
31 December 2021, other receivables have not had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Thus, a 12-month expected credit loss approach that
results from possible default event within 12 months
of each reporting date is adopted by management. As
at 31 December 2021 and 2020, other receivables
mainly comprise deposits to lessors in respect of the
Group's leased properties. The Group expects that
there is no significant credit risk associated with other
receivables since the counterparties have no history of
default. Accordingly, the expected credit loss of other

receivables is considered immaterial.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the ability to apply
for credit facilities if necessary. The Group finances its
working capital requirements through issue of new

shares, borrowings and government grants.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's

liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash flows.

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due
within 12 months equal their carrying balances, as the

impact of discounting is not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 EREREE#)
3.1 dREEEE)

(c) TEMmEE)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Between Between
Less than | and 2 2and 5 Over
| year years years 5 years Total
1R 1225 21256 SELUE H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®ETR ARETR
At 31 December 2021 2021128318
Bank borrowings SRITHETR 14,212 52,409 107,811 - 174,432
Trade and other payables B RHMENTER 185,648 = = = 185,648
Amounts due to related parties FE AR 5B 408 - - - 408
Lease liabilties HERE 2,155 1,441 1,471 - 5,067
Total st 202,423 53,850 109,282 - 365,555
At 31 December 2020 72020128318
Bank borrowings BITER 90,193 12,652 119,409 23,628 245,882
Trade and other payables B REMENTIE 66,909 - - - 66,909
Amounts due to related parties FEA AR 50R 1,250 - - - 1,250
Lease liabilities HERE 2776 490 - - 3266
Total 5t 161,128 13,142 119,409 23,628 317307
BHREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concemn
in order to provide returns for equity holders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to equity holders,
return capital to equity holders, issue new shares or sell assets

to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as
total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and restricted
cash. Total capital is calculated as “total equity”, as shown in
the consolidated statement of financial position, plus net debt.
As at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, cash and
cash equivalents is more than total borrowings of the Group,

therefore, the gearing ratio is not applicable.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation

(a) This section explains the judgements and estimates

made in determining the fair values of the financial
instruments that are recognised and measured at
fair value in the financial statements. To provide an
indication about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Group has classified its
financial instruments into the three levels prescribed

under the accounting standards:

Level I: The fair values of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as trading and available-for-sale
securities) are based on quoted market prices at the
end of the reporting period. The quoted market price

used for financial assets is the current bid price.

Level 2: The fair values of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market are determined
using valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible
on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to fair value an instrument are observable, the

instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument is

included in level 3.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end

of the reporting period.

HEMBBRERME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(b) Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

(c)

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include the use of quoted market prices or
dealer quotes for similar instruments or discounted cash
flow analysis. The Group did not have any financial assets
or liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis,
with the exception of the Group's wealth management
products and foreign currency options, which are
measured at fair value through profit or loss and which
constitute Level 3 measurements under the fair value
hierarchy. The Group's wealth management products
and foreign currency options are valued based on cash
flow discounted using the expected return based on

management judgment and estimates.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value

As at 3| December 2021 and 31 December 2020,
the Group had no assets and liabilities measured at fair

value.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value (Continued)
The following table presents the changes in level 3
instruments for the year ended 31 December 2021 and

2020, respectively.

HEMBBRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

EHmEREEZ)
3.3 AREEMEFE)
(c) BAREBHEIENCHBEERER
IR ANEE(FE)
TR BIEFIE E2021 5 K& 20204F
RABILFEMNFEIETANE
@J o

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss
BAREERER
HEHt AEHBEENESREE
Year ended 31 December
BENAIBLFE
2021 2020
20215 20204

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETIT

Opening balance HA¥ERER = -
Additions INE 193,328 252,767
Disposals & (195,062) (254,418)
Gains recognised in other losses R EAth B R R A W 777 2,132
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) BE 5 g (518 ) /F 58 957 (481)
Closing balance HREREE = -

(d) Fair value of financial assets that are not
measured at fair value
The Group considers that the carrying amount of the
Group's financial assets recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their

fair values.

(d) LHZEXZIEETBHZHMEEL
AAEE
AEERSNFRE P BERRTIZE
HERATENARE B EENR
HEREAA(EERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS

Estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations of future

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The estimates and judgements that have a significant risk of causing

a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

CY

(b)

Development expenditures

Development expenditures incurred on the Group's research
and development activities, including conducting preclinical
studies and clinical trials, manufacturing development efforts
and activities related to regulatory filings for the Group's
drug candidates, are capitalised as intangible assets only
when the capitalisation criteria set out in Note 2.6(b) is met.
Expenditures that do not meet these capitalisation principles
are recognised as research and development expenses.
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's
research and development expenditures incurred did not
meet these capitalisation principles for any products and

were expensed as incurred.

Impairment testing of intangible assets not
ready for use

Intangible assets not ready for use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
they might be impaired. The Group obtained in-licenses and
IPR&D through separate acquisition or business combination
to continue research and development work and
commercialise the products, which are classified as intangible

assets not ready for use.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

4 BRI THATTRHAE 2

(b) Impairment testing of intangible assets not

(b) RAIKEANEFLEERENR

ready for use (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-

generating units).

The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market

prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.

The fair value was estimated using the discounted cash
flow approach. Significant estimate on assumptions, such as
success rate of commercialisation, market penetration rate,
revenue growth rate, forecasted percentage of costs and
operating expenses, and post-tax discount rate, is required
to be made by the directors in applying the discounted cash

flow approach.

For details of the impairment testing, refer to Note |6.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(c) Deferred income tax

The Group recognises deferred tax assets based on estimates
that is probable to generate sufficient taxable profits in
the foreseeable future against which the deductible losses
will be utilised. The recognition of deferred tax assets
mainly involved management's judgements and estimations
about the timing and the amount of taxable profits of the
companies who had tax losses. During the year ended 31
December 2021 and 2020, deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these accumulated tax losses and
other deductible temporary differences based on the fact that
all drug candidates of the Company were in earlier research
and development stage and the future taxable profits would

be uncertain.

(d) Write-down of inventories to net realisable
value

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is made for
those identified obsolete and slow-moving inventories and
inventories with a carrying amount higher than net realisable
value. The assessment of the required provision involves
management's judgement and estimates, which are influenced
by assumptions concerning future sales and usage and
judgements in determining the appropriate level of inventory
provisions against identified surplus or obsolete items. Where
the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from
the original estimate, such differences will have impact on the
carrying amounts of inventories and the write-down/write-
back of inventories in the period in which such estimate has

been changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(e)

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group's management determines the estimated useful
lives, and related depreciation charges for the Group'’s
property, plant and equipment with reference to the
estimated periods that the Group intends to derive future
economic benefits from the use of these assets. Management
will revise the depreciation where useful lives are different to
that of previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from
estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change
in depreciable lives and therefore depreciation charges in

future periods.

5 SEGMENT AND REVENUE INFORMATION

(@)

(b)

Description of segments and principal
activities

The Group is principally engaged in the research and
development of new drug. The outcome of the Group'’s
research and development activities will be given preference
to be used by the Group for its own commercialization.
There is one team managing and operating all revenue
streams. Accordingly, management considers there is only

one segment and hence no segment information is presented.

License agreement with customers

In July 2021, the Group entered into an agreement with a
pharmaceutical company for out-licensing one of its bio-
pharmaceutical license to the customer for development and
commercialization for a period of 10 years. The agreement
includes non-refundable upfront payment, development
milestone payments, commercial milestone payments
and sales-based royalty upon commercialization. As at 3|
December 2021, the Group has fulfilled the performance
obligation at a point of time and therefore, the upfront
payment of RMB30,189,000 received was recognised as

revenue during the year ended 3| December 202 1.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

5 SEGMENT AND REVENUE INFORMATION 5 ZSIRWHER(#)

(Continued)

(b) License agreement with customers (Continued) (b) EEF WA= E)
In August 2021, the Group entered into an agreement R2021F8H » AREEES —REEN
with another pharmaceutical company for out-licensing RIFt MR P IMZEE P — I YR BE
one of its bio-pharmaceutical license to the customer Al AR B KRB ECRT L% o 5%
for development and commercialization. The agreement EBEITREFENNK  FAEEER
includes non-refundable upfront payment, development R EE LB EERIRER -
milestone payments and commercial milestone payments FR20215F12A318 » AREEE kR
upon commercialization. As at 31 December 2021, the BITRAZES + At - REZE20214F 12
Group has fulfilled the performance obligation at a point of A3IBLEFE - MKERB ENRARKE
time and therefore, the upfront payment of RMB4,042,000 4,042,000 AU o

received was recognised as revenue during the year ended
31 December 2021.

Details of the Group’s accounting policy on revenue AEEBHERAERNGTREFER
recognition is disclosed in Note 2.20. PiFE2 208 7% -
(c) Disaggregated revenue information is as follows: (c) WmEFRBOT :

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEFE
2021 2020
2021 F 2020

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT

Timing of revenue recognition: W s TR
At a point in time N S S E
— Revenue from out-licensing contracts —HIMNIRES DS 34,231 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

5 SEGMENT AND REVENUE INFORMATION 5 oERRKREERE)
(Continued)

(d) Unfulfilled long-term contracts (d) REBITREEN

The out-licensing contract with customer A includes upfront
fee of RMB32,000,000 (including tax), development milestone
payments of RMB78,000,000 (including tax) in aggregate. The
contract also includes commercial milestone payments and
sales-based royalty. Upfront fee was recognised as revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2021. The remaining
milestones and sales-based royalty are not included in the
transaction price based on the most likely amount and the
application of the variable consideration constraint. As a
result, as at 31 December 2021, there is no transaction
price that would be allocated to unsatisfied performance

obligations after considering the constraint.

The out-licensing contract with customer B includes upfront
fee of USD500,000 (approximately RMB3, 188,000, exclusive
of all applicable tax), development milestone payments of
USD 1,000,000 (approximately RMB6,376,000, exclusive of
all applicable tax) in aggregate. The contract also includes
commercial milestone payments. Upfront fee was recognised
as revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
remaining milestone payments are not included in the
transaction price based on the most likely amount and the

application of the variable consideration constraint. As a

HEFPANEINZEGHNBEAEEN
B A AR320000007T () 5
2 B2 KA R # 780000007 (&
)  ZEHNNBIERERRBANRK
EREENRTERE - ENRERE
REBZE2021F12A31 BItFEEER AR
i o PR BB R ENHEEER
WK BB ERIBRA LRI R EA
AERERFNRZZERFR - Bt - R®
2021 12A318  KEERFIE - HE
BESEZEABITRAUEBENRSE

4 -
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result, as at 31 December 2021, there is no transaction % WMEBESRERBITRAESLH
price that would be allocated to unsatisfied performance RHEE °
obligations after considering the constraint.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

5 SEGMENT AND REVENUE INFORMATION 5 ZSIRWHER(#)

(Continued)
(e) Geographical information (e) HIEE R
Geographical information of revenue by location of BHZE2021 E K200 12 A3 HIEFE®
customers for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 ERUESISaEIEERNT
is as follows:
Year ended 31 December
BEI2A3IBLFE
2021 2020
2021 5 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBFTT
China 2] 30,189 -
Others Hih 4,042 -
34,231 -
(f) Information about major customers hH TEEFEHR
The major customers which contributed more than 0% BZE2021 F 20206 12 A3IBIEFER
of the total revenue of the Group for the years ended 31 MASREAKGERINEER
December 2021 and 2020 are listed as below: g
Year ended 31 December
BEI2A3IBLFE
2021 2020
20216 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETR ARBFTT
Customer A ZEA 30,189 -
Customer B =B 4,042 -

34,231 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6 OTHERINCOME

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

HAbUg A

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3IBLEE

2021 2020

20216 20204F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARBFT

Government grants (Note (a)) BB (FiFE(a)) 16,543 14,717
Interest income from bank balances RITEEERFI B U 8,809 8,144
Interest income from time deposits T BT SR A2 M A 3,240 2273
Rental income HEWA 5 -
Others HAth 714 -
29,311 25,134

(@  The government grants and subsidies related to income have been received
to compensate for the expenses of the Group's research and development.
Some of the grants related to income have future related costs expected
to be incurred and require the Group to comply with conditions attached
to the grants and the government to acknowledge the compliance of these
conditions. These grants related to income were recognised in profit or
loss when related costs are subsequently incurred and the Group received
government acknowledge of compliance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

7 EXPENSES BY NATURE

7 RMEEIHRX

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3IBLEE

2021 2020
20215 20205
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETT
Clinical research expenses R 448,870 104,702
Employee benefit expenses (Note 10) BB/ (FizEI0) 159,748 107,361
Materials and consumables used B RAME R FEM 147,916 88,223
Outsourced research and development costs SNEFREE KA 59,419 58,51 |
Utilities and office expenses IKEE R ARY 35,856 16,514
Professional fees HHEEH 9,200 2,010
Depreciation of property, M - BERRETE
plant and equipment (Note 14) (PF3E14) 6,729 3417
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note |5) EREEERE (MIEEIS) 3,837 3,117
Less: amounts capitalised in property, B I - B MR
plant and equipment BAREH TR (199) (199)
3,638 2918
Auditors’ remuneration Z RPN <& 3,356 2,849
Rental expenses MERX 1,365 989
Bank charges R1TER 190 187
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note |6) mREEEHEFE6) 143 166
Listing expenses Nsiilz 53 - 20,761
Others Hi 9,459 5,847
Total marketing costs, administrative expenses EIHRA ~ 1T &
and research and development costs T EE A AN 48 5k AR 885,889 414,455
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

8 OTHERLOSSES - NET 8 HbEiaEE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE

2021 2020
2021 5 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTTT
Gains on disposal of financial assets HERAABEFEAHE
at fair value through profit or loss (Note 21) SFAEHIEENEREE
Wegs (BtEE21) (777) (2,132)
Net foreign exchange losses HINGEE 518 5 RE 17,625 118,294
Losses/(gains) on disposal of property, HEME - BB MHRED
plant and equipment BB () 106 (597)
Gains on disposal of right-of-use assets REFAEEERR - (40)
Others HAth 300 5
17,254 115530
9 FINANCE COSTS - NET 9 MBRAFE
Year ended 31 December
BE12A31HLLFE
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTTT
Interest expenses on borrowings EEGIESE R 6,723 7,834
Less: borrowing costs capitalised in property, W% BEREREPER
plant and equipment (Note (a)) LB B A (BT EE () (4,400) (4,630)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBENF B 171 |73
Finance costs — net TSR AN F R 2,494 3377
(@)  The capitalisation rates used to determine the amount of borrowing costs are @ 20215 K020 - ARNEEERKA S AL
4.51% and 4.73% for 2021 and 2020 respectively. LR D B AE4.51%8%4.73% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 10 EEEFBX(BREEMS)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION)

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3I1ALEE

2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT R ARETT
Salaries, wages and bonuses e TERZERL 109,156 75,129
Contributions to pension plans (Note (a)) RIREET MR (B EE(2)) 6,376 450
Housing funds, medical insurance and FEARE - BRERERKE
other social insurance (Note (b)) H At &R (M (b)) 6,869 3,623
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 30)  PARZ(D A EREH T BN
(PHEE30) 37,347 28,159
159,748 107,361
(@) As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group (a) BEFBIAENRERET  AEEAF
contributes to state-sponsored retirement schemes for B g 8 A B X 3 B Ay R IR ET B 51 o
its employees in the PRC. The Group’s employees make AEEREREREBRA(BRELIE - %
monthly contributions to the schemes at certain percentages & RRERIEA  BE LER) —EHA
of the relevant income (comprising wages, salaries, allowances BAMETEIHERK R —ELRAR -
and bonus, and subject to maximum caps), subject to certain B BB AN R IR B B FIR B 1R
ceiling and has no further obligations for the actual payment N B — P B o BIKERARK
of post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions. The TEIERRMRNEBSNMAERKER
state-sponsored retirement schemes are responsible for the FIEE -

entire post-retirement benefit obligations payable to the
retired employees.

During the year ended 3| December 2021, no forfeited BZE2021F12A3I1BIEFE - AEEH
contributions were utilised by the Group to reduce its BB E SR E R AR E R R AN
contributions for the current year (2020: Nil). R HR(20205F « &) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION) (Continued)

(b) Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to

(©

participate in various government-supervised housing funds,
medical insurance and other employee social insurance
plan. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these
funds based on certain percentages of the salaries of the
employees, subject to certain ceiling. The Group's liability in
respect of these funds is limited to the contributions payable
in each year.

Five highest paid individuals

For the year ended 3| December 2021, the five individuals
whose emoluments were the highest in the Group include
one director (2020: one director), whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 36. The
emoluments payable to the remaining individuals were as

follows:

HEMBBRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

10 EERAMZ(BRESEME) )

(b) *EERTENESEELELIERRK

(©

RERNEE A TED  BERREEM
BEH SRR - AEEEARRE
EFemETE L  MEEESH
A A—F LR - AEBE U FES A
EWRE  ASFERMNOHFBR

AEEREHFMAL

HE2IFNRA3IBIEFE  A58H
HEmFMATEEIBES (20205 :
|BEE)  AHEMRHE6E50 DT
PR - BB TATHEMAT :

Year ended 31 December
BENAIBLFE

2021

2021 F

2020
20204
RMB'000
ARET T

RMB’000
AR®ET T

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other

HEA%s - EFEER

allowances and benefits in kind Hfh2BL R IES FEFZS 13,608 12,447
Contributions to pension scheme BRIARESETEIH IR 134 8
Share-based compensation expenses (i) VAR 2 EL 0 8 37 BB 32 () 14,485 5911

28,227 18,366
MAEEBRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION) (Continued)

(c) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

10 EERAMZ(BRESEME) )

(c) EBEEFMALE)
The remaining highest paid individuals fell within the following BRI RSHFMALTEATEHINEGE

bands:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3I1ALEE

Emolument bands

HKD2,500,001 — HKD3,000,000
HKD3,000,001 — HKD3,500,000
HKD4,500,001 — HKD5,000,000
HKD5,500,001 — HKD#6,000,000
HKD#6,500,001 — HKD7,000,000
HKD7,500,001 — HKD8,000,000

N E

2,500,001 77T 23,000,000/ 7T
3,000,001 78 7T 23,500,000/ 7T
4,500,001 % 7T £ 5,000,000/ 7T
5,500,001 77T 26,000,000/ 7T
6,500,00 | /& 7T 27,000,000/ 7T
7,500,001 7% 7T £ 8,000,000 7T

HKD 10,000,001 — HKD 10,500,000
HKD 15,000,001 — HKD 15,500,000

10,000,001 7752 10,500,000/ 7T -
15,000,001 7 7 & | 5,500,000/ 7T I -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION) (Continued)

(c) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

()

During the years ended 3| December 202! and
2020, restricted share units were granted under the
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme to non-director
highest paid employees in respect of their services
to the Group, further details of which are included in
note 30 to the financial statements. The fair values of
such granted restricted share units, which have been
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
over the vesting period, were determined as at each
of the grant dates and the amounts included in the
financial statements for the current year are included in
the above non-director and non-chief executive highest

paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.

As at 31 December 2021, no restricted share unit was
vested and the share price is lower than the exercise

price for tranche B.

Il INCOME TAX EXPENSE

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

(c) &
()

HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

10 EERAFEX(BRESWE) »)

BREHMALE)

HE2021 FM2020%F 12A31HIESF
& - 1RIR20205F 18 B M EIs 1%
ERAEBRENRBREESR
=HNA TR R SR D B AL
BAE — BRI B mEM T
30 ZEREOZRFIRMDEBEM D
A EEREBHANTAREG 2EKE
KPR AREXETHEE B
AEEVBHBEPEENRECH
ALIEER RIFTHRAH E= T
BB TH MBS -

MR2021 5128318 - HEEZPR A%
BB FREBREERRIIXBA
FTf8(E -

1l FEHER

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEFE
2021 2020
2021 F

20204
RMB'000

ARETT

RMB’000
ARET T

Current income tax expense BIHAFT1S 1 &
— Underprovision in prior year: —BEFEEETE - 73
Deferred income tax expense BTSN E R = -
- 73
BRAEXERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
(i) Income tax expense

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which

members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Cayman Islands
Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is

not subject to tax on income or capital gains.

Hong Kong

Kintor Science Limited, Koshine Pharmaceuticals Limited
and Kintor Pharmaceuticals Hong Kong Limited were
incorporated in Hong Kong in 2018 and are subject to Hong
Kong profits tax at the rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%). Since
these companies did not have assessable profits during the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no Hong Kong

profits tax has been provided.

United States of America

Kintor Pharmaceuticals Inc. was incorporated in the United
States of America and is subject to federal and state income
tax rate of 23.5% (2020: 23.5%). Since Kintor Pharmaceuticals
Inc. did not have assessable profits during the years ended 3|
December 2021 and 2020, no federal and state income tax

has been provided.

Ireland

Kintor Pharmaceutical Ireland Limited was incorporated in the
Ireland in 2021 and is subject to corporate income tax rate
of 12.5%. Since Kintor Pharmaceutical Ireland Limited did not
have assessable profit during the year ended 31 December

2021, no corporate income tax has been provided.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

1l FiEBiER e
(i) FAIGBER

REBARAEBEKE R F PR MG
Y RAME R P EE AR S EREREE A - 1R E
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]

\

HEHE
REFSEERTER - ARBIHAR
AT E Al Ts

=

Kintor Science Limited * Koshine Pharmaceuticals
Limited &2 B ZE X BB BR A AIH2018
FHEBAFMAL - BERK165%(2020
F o 165%) TR EBAREBFFH - B
RZERRIREZE2021 F & 20205 12 A

3B IEFEWEERTOGH - IR
BRMEBRIELES -
EFEERE

Kintor Pharmaceuticals Inc./E 3 B 5E ffit
P 3L+ Z8¥223.5%(20204F : 23.5%) #Y
TR AN B R M E S8 © FRAAKintor
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I £ FRE B M FTAS TR/ 84 o

EHR
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Il INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

(i) Income tax expense (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

1l FiBHER )
(i) IBHERE)

Mainland China BG4

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC and BEPEARANMBECEMETERE
the respective regulations (the “CIT Law”), the subsidiaries AR ([EEMRFIBE]D - AR EAM
which operate in Mainland China are subject to CIT at a R BB A R IR E SR A B9 25%
rate of 25% (2020: 25%) on the taxable income. Since the (2020%F : 25%) BT EFTSH - AR
Group's PRC entities did not have assessable profits during REBEMNFEEEBREE202] F %2020
the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no corporate FI2A3IBIEFEL BERTUGN -

income tax has been provided.

I AL RIS BUE B

The income tax on the Group's loss before income tax REBRAEHATESEOAETA BN
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using RAEARAEENPENEET RTE
the enacted tax rate in the PRC applicable to the Group as SHAIEREEE  FFBOT

follows:

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2021 2020
20215 2020%F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETIT

Loss before income tax

BRPR1S AT ES 18 (842,095) (508,228)

Tax calculated at the applicable

RE AT E25% EHTIE

tax rate of 25% (210,524) (127,057)
Difference in overseas tax rates FINR R ERR 100,338 39,076
Tax losses not recognised as deferred RER AR IR E ERY

tax assets iIAEE 151,712 124,357
Temporary differences not recognised as RERBBELEFRIAE ER

deferred tax assets TEER 935 (18)
Super deduction in respect of research and 22 5 S B RE YNG40

development expenditures (51,609) (41,789)
Expenses not deductible for income tax TR RLPTS B FIRR B 2

purposes 10,396 7,585
Income not subject to taxation A FT U (1,248) (2,870)
Difference of prior year income tax F—FEMERFRE

annual filing FR¥RE = - /89
Income tax expense FriSHi & A = 73
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

Il INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continved) 1l FiEBiER e
(ii) Tax losses (ii) BIEEBE
The tax losses that are not recognised as deferred tax assets WEERAELERIBE ENHIBERE
will expire in 5 years from the respective reporting dates and B A BEmRE B ERRSF R E w5 AT a0
are analysed as follows: N

Year ended 31 December
BE1N2A3IBLFE
2021 2020
2021 F 20204F

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARETIT

Expire year FEHFE
2021 2021 4F - 27,335
2022 20224 62,246 62,246
2023 20234 157,194 157,194
2024 20244 362,196 362,196
2025 20254F 493,137 493,137
2026 2026%F 592,048 -
Indefinite EEARR 22,172 1,169
1,688,993 1,103,277
12 DIVIDEND 12 2
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during BE2021 FR2020F 12A31BIEFE - AR
the years ended 3| December 2021 and 2020. AR S E IR AR R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable
to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 3| December
2021 and 2020.

In determining the weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during year ended 3| December 2021 and 2020, the
capitalisation issue of 249,337,890 shares, pursuant to the
shareholders’ resolution dated 30 April 2020, was retrospectively
adjusted. Out of aforementioned 249,337,890 shares arising from
the Capitalization Issue (the “Capitalization Issue”), 23,613,590
shares held for the employee incentive scheme (including
21,252,231 shares arising from the relevant Capitalization Issue)
was not taken account into in determining the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 3|
December 2021 and 2020.

HEMBBRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

13 BREE

EXZRER

HAGRREARTIIRIEAR R THEA AE(FEE
BRIAEIZE 2021 FKR20205F 12 A3IBIEFER
BITE B 2 IEFHEETE -

REEEZ2021 FK2020F 12831 BILFE
EEITEBRMETHEE - REBEA
20205F4 A30 R MR EIRFERE AL EBEITH
249,337,890 R D E B A - M L E R
{b317([ B2 3297 1) B9249,337,890/% Ik 15
Fo REEEZE2021F KX2020F 1283181
FEDBITL BB MEFIEET - WRE
iR BB RT 2145 A /23,613,590 A% 5 (2
FEAEREE AL B 1THY21,252.23 1 IRk 19 ) & /&
£A °

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020

2021 5 2020%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BT R ARETT

Loss for the year FNEIE (842,095) (508,301)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in B 277 & @A INAE 58

issue (in thousand) (BAFRRED) 356,393 309,350

Basic loss per share (in RMB) ERFGRER(AAREE) (2.36) (1.64)

Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share is same as basic loss per share as there is
no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

mEREREE
HRE E2021 F K£20204E 12 B3| B IEFEEH#]
EHEEEL BN HHESREERERER
HRE5184ER °

BHREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 Y% - BEKRRE

Office
Machinery  equipment Construction
and and Motor in
Buildings  equipment  furniture vehicles progress Others Total
HER  BORE
gF R Rkz& RE EEIE Bt a3t
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTRE ARMTR ARETR ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARWTR
At | January 2021 R02151818
Cost A 57,662 22,350 5516 2,018 92,292 2417 182,255
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (609) (5,612) (669) (651) - (102) (7,643)
Net book amount KEFE 57,053 16,738 4,841 1,367 92,292 2315 174612
Year ended BZ10215 128318
31 December 2021 LFE
Opening net book amount EEmFE 57,053 16,738 4,847 1,367 92,292 2,315 174,612
Addttions AE - 14,164 3,087 I 33,452 5,208 55,922
Disposals RE - (119) - - - - (119)
Depreciation charge (Note 7) ~ TEE A (Fiz7) (2,046) (2,762) (1,040) (311 - (570) (6,729)
Closing net book amount EREMRE 55,007 28,021 6,894 1,067 125,744 6,953 223,686
At 31 December 2021 R2020% 128318
Cost BA 57,662 36,147 8,603 2,029 125,744 1,625 237,810
Accumulated depreciation ZiHNE (2,655) (8,126) (1,709) (962) - (672)  (14,124)
Net book amount REFE 55,007 28,021 6,894 1,067 125,744 6,953 223,686
At | January 2020 R2020F1518
Cost A - 9960 1721 800 91,076 - 103557
Accumulated depreciation 2iHTE - (3954) (765) (469) - - (5.188)
Net book amount RERE - 6,006 956 3l 91,076 - 98,369
Year ended BZ2020%12A31H
31 December 2020 LEE
Opening net book amount EUREE - 6,006 956 3l 91076 - 98369
Additions HE 57662 12855 444) 1223 1216 2417 79815
Disposals RE - (4n (1) ) - - (155)
Depreciation charge (Note 7) ~ HrEE M (fitz7) (609) (2080) (4%9) (185) - (102) (3417)
Closing net book amount ~ EREEFE 57053 16738 4847 1,367 92092 2315 174612
At 31 December 2020 #2020%12A31R
Cost AR 57662 2350 5516 2018 9229 2417 182255
Accumulated depreciation ZiHTE (609) (5612) (669) (651) - (102) (7643)
Net book amount REFE 57053 16,738 4847 367 9229 2315 174612
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEMBBRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021

HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% - BERZE®)
(Continued)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been charged ME  BELSEOITENGEEERER
to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as AR - FIBT -
follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3IBLEE

2021 2020

2021 20204

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TF T AREETTT

Research and development expenses X 3,872 2,137
Marketing expenses TI5 & HF X 13 4
Administrative expenses 1THRX 2,844 | 276
6,729 3417

BHREEBRAA 197
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021

HE2021F 128318 1L5E

IS5 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS I5 EREEE
Leased Land
properties use rights Total
HENE TR #ct
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT
At | January 2021 RK2021E1 818
Cost AR 7,228 9,929 17,157
Accumulated depreciation 25t E (4,378) (711) (5,089)
Net book amount IREFE 2,850 9,218 12,068
Year ended 31 December 2021 BZ2021 £12831 HILEE
Opening net book amount FNEEFE 2,850 9,218 12,068
Additions NE 5,239 25,144 30,383
Depreciation charge (Note 7) HEER(ME7) (3,136) (701) (3,837)
Closing net book amount EREMEE 4,953 33,661 38,614
At 31 December 2021 R20215 128318
Cost HEN 10,242 35,073 45315
Accumulated depreciation e (5,289) (1,412) (6,701)
Net book amount REFE 4,953 33,661 38,614
At | January 2020 R2020F1A18
Cost A 9923 9929 19,852
Accumulated depreciation ZENE (4928) (512) (5,440)
Net book amount RERE 4995 9417 14412
Year ended 31 December 2020 BZ2020F 12831 HILEE
Opening net book amount FNEREFE 4995 9417 14412
Additions NE 1,629 - 1,629
Disposal RE (856) - (856)
Depreciation charge (Note 7) HEER (M) (2918) (199) G117
Closing net book amount FREEFE 2,850 9218 12,068
At 31 December 2020 20205128318
Cost %N 7228 9929 17,157
Accumulated depreciation ZitE (4378) (711) (5,089)
Net book amount IREEE 2850 9,218 12,068
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

I5 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets has been charged to the

consolidated statements of comprehensive income as follows:

HEMBBRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

I5 FREEE®)

EREEENFENFEEERARAH
B - BT -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3IBLEE

2021 2020

20216 2020%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARBFT

Research and development expenses R 745 1,178

Administrative expenses THFAX 3,092 1,939
Less: amounts capitalised in property, B E - BB REET S

plant and equipment CN| o (199) (199)

3,638 2918

Land use rights represents the land use rights granted by the PRC
government authority on the use of land within the pre-approved
lease period. The original lease terms of the land use rights of the
Group held in the PRC are 50 years. As at 3| December 2021,
certain land use right, buildings and construction in progress were
pledged for the Group’s borrowings amounting to RMB96,500,000
(Note 24) (31 December 2020: RMB99,000,000).

T R R BB S PSR Tt & 5
s FA £ 3 T 3% F 80 L 3 i PR - ANEEER
PR RF A R i AR R E B RS506 -
R2021F 2 A31H » IAEBERARE
96,500,0007T (Fi5E24) (20205 12 A31H = A
ER#99,000,0007T ) i 4K 7 58 75 - 56 FR 4 -
BFRERTIRE -

BHREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16 BEEE

Software In-licenses IPR&D Total
B R ETHHHR w@st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMBI000 RMBI000
AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETR
At | January 2021 R2021F1 818
Cost AR 530 54,141 155,272 209,943
Accumulated amortisation S 1! (183) - - (183)
Net book amount REFE 347 54,141 155,272 209,760
Year ended 31 December 2021 HZ2021F 128310 LEE
Opening net book amount FEYRREFE 347 54,141 155,272 209,760
Additions (Note (&) AE (M) 527 25,477 - 26,004
Amortisation charge (Note 7) BiE s (E7) (143) = = (143)
Closing net book amount EREEEE 731 79,618 155,272 235,621
At 31 December 2021 R2021E12831H
Cost B% 1,057 79,618 155,272 235,947
Accumulated amortisation ESpf (326) - = (326)
Net book amount IREFE 731 79,618 155,272 235,621
At | January 2020 202061 R18
Cost 5% 47 23629 155272 179,373
Accumulated amortisation RatE Y (74) - - (74)
Net book amount REEE 398 23,629 155272 179,299
Year ended 31 December 2020 BZ2020512A31 BILEE
Opening net book amount FHREFE 398 23,629 55,272 179,299
Additions (Note (a) and Note (e)) AE (K7t () KM E) 15 30512 - 30627
Amortisation charge (Note 7) BsH s T (P5E7) (166) - - (166)
Closing net book amount EREREFE 347 54,141 155,272 209,760
At 31 December 2020 202012831 H
Cost BEN 530 54,141 155272 209,943
Accumulated amortisation EGE 3 (183) - - (183)
Net book amount REEE 347 54,14 155272 209,760

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets has been charged to the

consolidated statements of comprehensive income as follows:

HEMBBRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

16 BIEEE#)

B EEMEENRS 2ERER AT
ERCEUINE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020

2021 F 20204F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARETTT

Research and development expenses R 102 122
Administrative expenses THHY 41 44
143 |66

During the years ended 3| December 2021 and 2020, the
Group’s development expenditures incurred did not meet these
capitalisation principles for any products and were expensed as

incurred.

Intangible assets not yet ready for use are tested annually based
on the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU")
to which the intangible asset is related. The appropriate CGU is
at the product level. The recoverable amount of each CGU was
determined based upon the fair value less costs of disposal. The
fair value was estimated using the discounted cash flow approach.
The fair value measurement hierarchy of in-licenses and IPR&D was
level 3. The estimated revenue of in-licenses and IPR&D is based
on management's expectations of timing of commercialisation,

market penetration rate and success rate of commercialisation.

The percentage of costs and operating expenses to revenue is the
percentages over the revenue forecast period. It is based on the
current margin levels of comparable companies, with adjustments
made to reflect the expected future price rises in labour and
relevant equipment. The market penetration rate was used based
on the expected sellings conditions considering the features
of marketing and technology development. The discount rate
used is post-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the relevant
products. The success rate of commercialisation was determined
based on practices of pharmaceutical industries, development of
technologies and related regulations from administrations.

HE20IER2020FI12A3IBIEEE - A&
BIMERNAZRL BT TFAULEERL
[REI - SR EER S Y o

) AR 2 B R] {2 PR AR 0 SR T2 B BE X B T
BEMABANREELEM(BReELEM])
MR E SRS FETAR - BENREE
HEREVBREMER - SREELFEMAT]
WESHEERAABEMREEREE - 2
REESRAMBRERSRE LM o FFAl#
FETHOREN QA BEFEBRSFR]
A o FEAIRE RAETT R VAT B O ET e SO &
REEBNREECEHERR - mE2EXRN
[EES 0297k

XS DA 2 A8 & A S A1 W 0 B 0 B Th MR e TR
AMANBE DL - EERAIE LR ARRTT
A K I 1 H A AR R 85 T N AB R R
BETRET AR REARIRIE - FIERANTHIS2E
RTRERMIHEH MR MAENERIRE
RIBHEHE R - FAERMRE SRR
% UkREBEEREBNSTRAR - &
EEMRNRBURN BB TEMER - &l
TR ME IR FIRERDEAR

BHREEERAR
F 3R 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(@ On 31 May 2017, Suzhou Kintor obtained an exclusive global

license with a package of technology and patents to develop
and commercialize GT1708F. GT1708F is an inhibitor of the
hedgehog signal transduction pathway. Suzhou Kintor made
an initial RMB3,044,000 non-refundable upfront payment in
2017, and made a payment of RMB3,500,000 in 2019 and
another payment of RMB3,500,000 in 2021 based on the
supplemental agreement with the transferor. Total payment
up to 31 December 2021 amounted to RMB0,044,000.
Suzhou Kintor is obligated to make certain payments upon
the achievement of certain development milestones. Suzhou
Kintor is also obligated to make certain payments upon the
achievement of certain commercial milestones and royalty
payments at the applicable royalty rates based on net sales of
the products.

The intangible asset is not ready for use and the Group is
continuing research and development work. Based on the
research and development process and experience of the
approval process, management estimates that GT | 708F will
be able to generate revenue from 2027 to 2033 with the first

four years climbing, the last three years stable and declining.

An independent valuation was performed by an independent
appraiser, to determine the recoverable amount of the CGU
for GT | 708F.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

16 BIEEE#)

@

201765 H31 8 - #RMNFEBNE—HA
Bt RBEFOEERBERFA - MAEEE
/L GT1708F ° GT1708F 2 —#&Ehedgehog
{EIREE RN HIE - #NFHHER2017
FEXfARE3044000THE ERA R
BEMAR - WREEERET /T
P 2019F 21 A KR #3,500,0007T & F
2021 FZ 5 —% AR ¥3,500,0007T ©
ER2NRIFNRAINENNRBEEAEAR
#510,044,0007T © kN FHBELEKE
THEBEBRERI A THIE - #&MNHA
MMVBETERE TRXERBERINE
THIE - RIRBEMAFIHERIER
BT EARBER TN EAEE -

ZEMEENREDEAMRE A&
EIFEEETETIE - BEFERRER
HHORENLE - BEEMETGTI708F
2027 FE2033F e AEAENE - &
MFEHEF  BZFE2RBELRERB

B hERBIGEMET  UEBF
GTI708FR & EA BN A AU EIE5E o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(@) (Continued)
The key assumptions used for fair value calculation as at 31
December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

HEMBBRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

6 BIEEE#®)

@@ (&)
2021 F 20205 12 B3I B AR BEST
BAERAMNEZ/REZLOT :

As at 31 December
®WI12A31H

At SRR

Post-tax discount rate

Revenue growth rate for the stable period Emﬁ,ﬁ s

Revenue growth rate for the declining REFE UL Z \i‘ET
period

Market penetration rate g /8%E &

Success rate of commercialisation HEZd:0paEER

Percentage of costs and operating expenses X ZN LA & A€ 2 B S 1 £,
ReEABEMMNAINEESEE
(AR®ETT)

Recoverable amount of CGU
(in RMB’000)

20.0% 21.0%
2.5%~15.7% 3.2%~16.6%
-1.4% -5.5%~-0.9%
0.5%~8.3% 0.5%~8.3%
7.6% 7.6%
42.6%~128.8% 42.69%~128.8%

12,255 65,725

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was no

impairment as at 3| December 2021 and 2020.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of GT|708F is
estimated to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU as at
3| December 2021 by RMB2,211,000 (31 December 2020:
RMB55,681,000). Considering there was still headroom
based on the assessment, the Directors and management
believe that a reasonably possible change in any of the key
assumptions would not cause the aggregate carrying amount

of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

BB G AR - 722021 F K20205F
12831 BIFEFIE -

R2021 512831 B © GTI708FHYIR & 2
A B AT E SR ETEIR S EA BN
BREEMBE AR#2211,0007T (20204
128318 : AR¥55681,0007T) ° R
BEFEDEEEEM  EERERE
R EAEEREZNSIEAEEZET
CEYESEAEMMARTERBLE
AR E £ EE -

BHREEERAR
F 3R 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(b) On 2 January 2019, Suzhou Kintor obtained an exclusive

global license to develop and commercialize c-Myc inhibitor.
Pursuant to the contract entered, Suzhou Kintor made
an initial RMB3,000,000 non-refundable upfront payment.
Suzhou Kintor is obligated to make certain payments upon
the achievement of certain development milestones. Suzhou
Kintor is also obligated to make certain payments upon the
achievement of certain commercial milestones and royalty
payments at the applicable royalty rates based on net sales of

the products.

The intangible asset is not ready for use and the Group is
continuing research and development work. Based on the
research and development process and experience of the
approval process, management estimates that c-Myc inhibitor
will be able to generate revenue from 2027 to 2039 with
the first five years climbing and the last eight years stable and

declining.

An independent valuation was performed by an independent
appraiser, to determine the recoverable amount of the CGU

for c-Myc inhibitor.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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(®)

720194 1 A28 - M FEHRESHE K
B L c-Myc IS Bl 2B R ©
REBFTVHEH  BHINFEZFARE
3,000,0007CHY B ENARETRT K © &
MAABEEERS THREERBE I
HTFHIE - HMNABRNTETERETE
¥ERBRIMNETHE  KMREBER
B FHE R EANSTEREERS
AR -

ZEMEENAREDEAMRE - A&
EIFEEENETIE - BEABRER
EHRIZHET - BIEEMAETc-Mycd]
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= BERFHEA B\ FREBER
FIRBE o

BIUGERBYEEMETT  AEE
c-MycHI I B3R & 2 A4 B /9 A] e B &
B o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(b) (Continued)
The key assumptions used for fair value calculation as at 31
December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

HEMBBRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

16 BIEEE#)

by (#&)
2021 FE 2020 12 A3 B AR BEET
BAERAMNEZ/REZLOT :

As at 31 December
®WI12A31H

Post-tax discount rate T LR =R
Revenue growth rate for the stable period

Revenue growth rate for the declining

period
Market penetration rate Thig 2% &
Success rate of commercialisation EEZ DB

Percentage of costs and operating expenses X ZN LA & A€ 2 B S (4 £,
ReEFEMNAKREERE
(ARETT)

Recoverable amount of CGU
(in RMB’000)

BEHR W R KR
TRHR K ERIE R X

20.0%
3.2%~9.0%

21.0%
3.5%~9.4%

-17.0%~-0.5% -20.49~-0.1%
0.1%~4.4% 0.19%~4.4%
71.2% 7.2%
48.1%~129.8% 48.1%~129.8%

22,319 30,676

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was no

impairment as at 3| December 2021 and 2020.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of c-Myc inhibitor is
estimated to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU as
at 3| December 2021 by RMB19,319,000 (3| December
2020: RMB27,676,000). Considering there was still sufficient
headroom based on the assessment, the Directors and
management believe that a reasonably possible change in
any of the key assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable

amount.

BB EFT R AR - 7R2021 F K2020F
12 831 B ERE -

2021128318 » c-MycHI I B 893R
CEABENIKNESEGTRRSE
ABEMREERH ARI193190007T
(2020 12 A31 8 : AR#27,676000
TT) c ERRIBFT A DA RN EEE
M ZEERERERE  TAFEERR
WEEAEEH T BN eEEEN
RABRREEB L E AR E &5 -

BHREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(©

On 14 February 2018, Suzhou Kintor obtained an exclusive
global license to develop and commercialise ALK-1 antibody
with an upfront payment of RMB14,085,000. Suzhou
Kintor is obligated to make milestone payments aggregating
USD 13,000,000 in respect of development and receipt
of marketing approval in China (which includes Hong
Kong, Macao and Taiwan), additional milestone payments
aggregating USD33,000,000 for other countries, a further
one-time milestone payment of USD5,000,000 for a second
indication anywhere in the world, certain payments at the
applicable achievement of certain commercial milestones and
royalty payments at the applicable royalty rates based on net

sales of the products.

The intangible asset is not ready for use and the Group is
continuing research and development work. Based on the
research and development process and experience of the
approval process, management estimates that ALK-1 will be
able to generate revenue from 2026 to 2035 with the first

four years climbing and the last six years stable and declining.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

16 BIEEE#)

©

R20I18F2H 148  gRINFAHRUARK
14,085,000 7T K FE - AR 1S B 8% e P 2
EALK- 1 BRI 2 BRI o &N
MEEBHEFTR(BEES  BFIR
hEAE) AEEY RES ETiE
B H 42 %8 5 13,000,0003 JT ) BB 12 FR 1
;o BEMBERELEINEREA KRR
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03— SR FEAE BIEL — XM BEREA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEMBBRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021

HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 16 BEEE®)
(¢) (Continued) (o (&)
An independent valuation was performed by an independent B EBBYGEMET  UEE
appraiser, to determine the recoverable amount of the CGU ALK- I BIREELBEUNATIRE S

for ALK-1 antibody.

The key assumptions used for fair value calculations as at 3| 72021 F 520205 12 A3 1 B A A BIERT
December 2021 and 2020 are as follows: BB EERRAT

As at 31 December
®I12A31H

Post-tax discount rate Fi1gBLIE =X 20.0% 21.0%
Revenue growth rate for the stable period Eﬁﬁﬂ’jﬂ&/\i‘ﬁf 2.1~23.4% [.196~22.8%
Revenue growth rate for the declining REA UK ZS I £ &
period -6.8~-4.2% -10.6%~-1.9%
Market penetration rate Mim2EE 0.3%~15.0% 0.3%~15.0%
Success rate of commercialisation FHEZd:0pasER 13.5% 13.5%
Percentage of costs and operating expenses X ZN LA & A€ 2 B S 1 £, 41.1%~110.3% 40.5%~114.8%
Recoverable amount of CGU ReEABEMMAINEESEE
(in RMB00O) (ARMETT) 46,215 84369
Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was no RIBBEREAR - 12021 F K£20205F
impairment as at 3| December 2021 and 2020. 12831 BY&ERE -
The recoverable amount of the CGU of ALK-| is estimated 20215 12A318 » ALK-IIREEAE
to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU as at 3| B AT E SRR AT R & E L AR
December 2021 by RMB32,130,000 (31 December 2020: E BB A K #32,130,0007T (20204 12
RMB70,284,000). Considering there was still sufficient A318 : AR%702840007T) - ER1R
headroom based on the assessment, the Directors and BAHEIDE RANEEER  EFRE
management believe that a reasonably possible change in EERR  EHAEERRNEEAEE
any of the key assumptions would not cause the aggregate I EABUMNEREER
carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable HE A EIEEE
amount.
RREERRAF

F 3R 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(d) The addition of IPR&D represented KX-826, an androgen
receptor antagonist, amounted to RMB155,272,000, as a

result of the business combination of Suzhou Koshine.

The intangible asset is not ready for use and the Group is
continuing research and development work. Based on the
research and development process and experience of the
approval process, management estimates that KX-826 will be
able to generate revenue from 2024 to 2030 with the first

five years climbing and the last two years stable and declining.

An independent valuation was performed by an independent

appraiser, to determine the recoverable amount of the CGU

for KX-826.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(d) (Continued)
The key assumptions used for fair value calculations as at 31
December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

HEMBBRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

6 BIEEE#®)

d) (&)
2021 F 20205 12 B3I B AR BEST
BAERAMNEZ/REZLOT :

As at 31 December
®WI12A31H

Post-tax discount rate iz AnIR =

Revenue growth rate for the stable period EEHHEI’]J&/\P

Revenue growth rate for the declining REFE UL Z \i‘ET
period

Market penetration rate mi52E=R

Success rate of commercialisation BEZA:0/%ES

Percentage of costs and operating expenses X ZN LA & A€ 2 B S 1 £,
ReELBEMHNAINESEE

Recoverable amount of CGU

(in RMB'000) (AR®TT)

18.0% 18.0%
5.5%~26.9% 7.6%6~25.5%
-4.7% -9.4%~-4.6%
0.09%~7.5% 0.1%~7.5%
63.0% 27.1%

47.2~151.4% 47.2%~152.2%

539,706 282,002

Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was no

impairment as at 3| December 2021 and 2020.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of KX-826 is estimated
to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU as at 31
December 2021 by RMB384,434,000 (31 December 2020:
RMB126,730,000). Considering there was still sufficient
headroom based on the assessment, the Directors and
management believe that a reasonably possible change in
any of the key assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable

amount.

B A G EER - 722021 F K20205F
12831 B EFIE -

2021512831 B » KX-826MIR S EA
B A EEBEMABRREEEELMER
M E R H A K % 384,434,000 7 (20205
12A318 : AR¥1267300007T) © £
RIRE A RANEEER S
NERERR AR EERKRHNEIEA
R ISERGeELABNUMERE
BEEEEERAIKEI R -

BHREEERAR
F 3R 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(e) On 20 August 2020, the Group obtained an exclusive license

to develop and commercialize PD-LI/TGF-3 molecule.
Pursuant to the contract entered, the Group made an initial
USD4,000,000 non-refundable payment in 2020 and a
milestone payment of USD4,000,000 in 2021. The Group is
obligated to make certain payments upon the achievement of
certain development milestones. The Group is also obligated
to make certain payments upon the achievement of certain
commercial milestones and royalty payments at the applicable

royalty rates based on net sales of the products.

The intangible asset is not ready for use and the Group is
continuing research and development work. Based on the
research and development process and experience of the
approval process, management estimates that PD-LI/TGF-3
molecule will be able to generate revenue from 2028 to
2039 with the first four years climbing and the last eight years

stable and declining.

An independent valuation was performed by an independent
appraiser, to determine the recoverable amount of the CGU
for PD-LI/TGF-B molecule.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

16 BIEEE#)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(e) (Continued)
The key assumptions used for fair value calculations as at 31
December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

HEMBBRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

6 BIEEE#®)

(e) (#&)
2021 F 20205 12 B3I B AR BEST
BAERAMNEZ/REZLOT :

As at 31 December
®WI12A31H

Post-tax discount rate iz AnIR =

Revenue growth rate for the stable period EEHHEI’]J&/\P

Revenue growth rate for the declining REFE UL Z \i‘ET
period

Market penetration rate mi52E=R

Success rate of commercialisation BEZA:0/%ES

20.0% 21.0%
0.4%~11.8% 0.3%~0.5%

-10.9%~-0.3% -10.89%~-2.7%
0.6%~16.0% 0.6%~16.0%
7.6% 7.2%

Percentage of costs and operating expenses X ZN LA & A€ 2 B S (4 £, 40.3%~100.5% 40.2%~100.6%
Recoverable amount of CGU ReEABEMMNAINESEE
(in RMB'000) (ARETT) 54,614 32,085
Based on the result of impairment assessment, there was no BEREFEAER - 722021 F K&2020F

impairment as at 3| December 2021 and 2020.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of PD-LI/TGF-8 is
estimated to exceed the carrying amount of the CGU as
at 31 December 2021 by RMB2,039,000 (3| December
2020: RMB5,073,000). Considering there was still sufficient
headroom based on the assessment, the Directors and
management believe that a reasonably possible change in
any of the key assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable

amount.

12831 B ERIE -

72021 % 12 A31 B » PD-LI/TGF-BH)
ReEABMNTKESEGHARRE
ELEEMREERLE A K 2039000
70 (20204F 12 A31 B : AR #5,073,000
7L) c ERBRBTHINB EHNEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

17 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 17 EfttERBEE

As at 31 December

®I12831H
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TF T AREETTT
Value-added tax recoverables A FIEE TR 39,390 33,261
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment  #1% « /5= KR AETA T 218 4,783 [,158
44,173 34419

18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 18 HEREIHNERMTA
CATEGORY

Financial assets

at amortised cost
As at 31 December
REBERATTENEREE
RI12831H
2021 2020
2021 F 20204F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETIT

Assets as per statements of RUMBRRRNEE

financial position
Other receivables and deposits excluding HE b R IE R IR S

non-financial assets (TBIEEEMEE) 2,629 6,189
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEY 930,149 1,065,588
Time deposits TEHATF R 125,071 323,407
Restricted cash SRRHIIR S 1,658 -

1,059,507 1,395,184

212 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 18 RERETHNEM TR &)
CATEGORY (Continued)

Financial liabilities

at amortised cost
As at 31 December
RBHERATTENEREE

MI2831H
2021 2020
2021 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AR¥TT
Liabilities as per statements of BROEMRRENES
financial position
Borrowings =% 154,900 218,500
Trade payables, other payables and B HRMNIE - B ENFIE
accruals excluding non-financial liabilities REAER(TIBRIEIES R
&fE) 185,861 66,909
Lease liabilities HEAE 4,833 3,203
Amounts due to related parties JE A~ BB 7 k08 408 1,250
346,002 289,862
BREXERAR

F 3R 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

19 INVENTORIES 19 #&
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
Raw materials R % 346,285 -
Work in progress R 5,077 -
351,362 -
20 OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 20 HttEWRIE » BERFANKIA
PREPAYMENTS
As at 31 December
MI12A31H
2021 2020
2021 F 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
Prepayments to suppliers AR ER TIE 115,026 25432
Deposits bireia 1,509 4,127
Advances to employees [F{E 8 43K 428 1,507
Others HAih 692 555
117,655 31,621
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the carrying amounts of 72021 R20206F 12 A31 B - EfbEUYERIA
other receivables and deposits were denominated in RMB and RS OERHEAARETEREEQALE
approximated their fair values. BEE

214 KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include the

HEMBBRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

BAAREBESEEHESHTAEY
BENERMEE
() BAAEESELEBTHALDERNS

following: BMEEBFEATRIEA
Year ended 31 December

BZI12A3I1HILFEE
2021 2020
2021 F 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETTT
At the beginning of the year REA]) - -
Additions NE 193,328 252,767
Disposals ng (195,062) (254,418)
Gains recognised in other losses P E b B R SR Y U 777 2,132
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) BE H s (E518) 358 957 (481)

At the end of the year RER

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
represent dual currency wealth management products and
foreign currency options. The returns on the investments
were not guaranteed. Hence, their contractual cash flows do
not qualify for solely payments of principal and interest and

were measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The fair values were based on cash flow discounted using the
expected return based on management judgment and are

within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

(ii) Risk exposure and fair value measurements

Information about the methods and assumptions used in

determining fair value is set out in Note 3.

BRAnBEAEAHEHTAZHER
B & BB E IR AR TR B 2 o SR SN B
o WHREBEREDR - itk - HEHK)
REMETEERRBMEREMNK
WA BEFEBEEEESTT AEHE

S o

.

I:I

BX

RABEDRERAEREEREHEHN
EHH@ RERBIRMB S RETE - LB
RAREBEBRMEIR

(i) ERBORAAEETE

BRBEE A BEMRABNITANRKRR
MV BRI RES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

22 TIME DEPOSITS 22 EHIER

As at 31 December

WI12A31H
2021 2020
2021 5§ 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETT
Time deposits (a) EHFR(2)
—UsD — =T - 195,747
— HKD —7B7T 124,275 126,246
124,275 321,993
Accrued interest (b) FEETFIE (b) 796 414
125,071 323,407
(@)  Time deposits held by the Group as at 31 December 2021 bear interests at (@ AEER2020FNRAIABENEHRERIREF
1.26% per annum with a duration of 3 to 12 months. | 26%E A E5T8 - BIRA3E 128 R -
(b)  The interest on financial instruments accrued based on the effective interest (b) ERERFERZEFNEBMIANSEBEESEMR
rate method has been included in the balance of the corresponding financial Eer T ERSREER ©
instruments.
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HEMBBRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 23 BERRSEEYURZRFEIRS

RESTRICTED CASH

As at 31 December

MI12A31H
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT
Cash at bank and on hand RITKRFEIRS 931,807 1,065,588
Less: Restricted cash (a) B XREIRE Q) (1,658) -
Cash and cash equivalents Be MIREEEY 930,149 1,065,588

Cash and bank balances denominated in: UTIEETHENER R
RITAERR
— RMB — AR 112,711 197,850
~USD —X7T 148,898 689,763
— HKD —BTT 664,722 177,076
926,331 1,064,689
Accrued interest (b) FESTFIE (b) 3,818 899
930,149 1,065,588
(@ As at 31 December 2021, the restricted cash was RMBI,658,000 (31 (@) P2021F 128318 - ZRHIRE AR ,6580007T

December 2020: Nil), which was placed in banks to purchase wealth
management products.

(b)  The interest on financial instruments accrued based on the effective interest (b)
rate method has been included in the balance of the corresponding financial

instruments.

(2020 12 A31 B : T)FEHRIBITNBEEME

O
oo °

ERNERMNTLEFNERTAFNSERSER
e R T B RERERT o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

24 BORROWINGS

24 BX

As at 31 December

®I12831H
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTTT
Non-current FEENHA
Long-term bank borrowings (Note (a)) RHARITER(HTE@E)) 147,500 134,900
Current EPER
Short-term bank borrowings (Note (b)) R HARITE R (b)) - 79,900
Long-term bank borrowings (Note (a)) RERITER (T @) 7,400 3,700
7,400 83,600
Total et 154,900 218,500
The maturity date is as follows: BAZNHABWT
As at 31 December
RI12831H
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTTT
Less than | year or repayment on demand | FAR IR ESKE R 7,400 83,600
|-2 years | =26 46,100 6,600
2-5 years 2E55F 101,400 108,300
Over 5 years S E - 20,000
Total HeEt 154,900 218,500
The carrying amounts of borrowings were denominated in RMB. EFHEAENUIAREKAE o
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24 BORROWINGS (Continued)

(@)

(®)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had long-term bank
borrowings of RMB96,500,000 which were secured by certain
land use right, buildings and construction in progress and
unsecured long-term bank borrowings of RMB58,400,000.
Borrowings of RMB49,000,000 bore a fixed interest rate
at 4.90% per annum, borrowings of RMB47,500,000 bore
a fixed interest rate at 4.75% per annum, borrowings of
RMB38,400,000 bore a fixed interest rate at 3.95% per
annum and borrowings of RMB20,000,000 bore a fixed
interest rate at 4.05% per annum. RMB7,400,000 of these
loans should be repaid by 31 December 2022, while the
remaining should be repaid by instalments during the period
from |5 March 2023 to 23 March 2026.

As at 3| December 2020, the Group had long-term bank
borrowings of RMB99,000,000 which were secured by certain
land use right, buildings and construction in progress and
unsecured long-term, bank borrowings of RMB39,600,000.
Borrowings of RMB50,000,000 bore a fixed interest rate
at 4.90% per annum, borrowings of RMB49,000,000 bore
a fixed interest rate at 4.75% per annum and borrowings
of RMB39,600,000 bore a fixed interest rate at 3.95% per
annum. RMB3,700,000 of these loans should be repaid by
31 December 2021, while the remaining should be repaid
by instalments during the period from |5 March 2022 to 23
March 2026.

As at 31 December 2020, Suzhou Kintor had unsecured
short-term bank borrowings totalling RMB79,900,000 which
bore a fixed interest rate at 4.35% per annum and were due

for repayment in 2021.

HEMBBRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

24 fEFR(#E)

@

(®)

R2021 5 128318 REERER
T1E R B AR 965000007T + BA ZF
DTMERAE BFREZIRER
o BEERRHABRTERAARE
58,400,0007T ° A & # 49,000,000 7T K f&
RIEREF40%MEEMEGTE - AR
& 47,500,000 7T B9 18 SR IR 3 F 4.75% A9 [E]
EMEF B+ AR 384000007T K &
HIRFFINRMETEFEEE UK
A R #20,000,0007T B f& 832 & F4.05%
WEEFIETE - ZEERFHARKE
7,400,000 T B 20224 12 A3 B 2 Bl fE
B MR TEDER2023F3/8I5HE
202653 H23 A BAfEI D HA(EE o

R2020F 128318 » AEBRKRERET
f& 3 A A R #99,0000007T © MBS
HEAE  BEFREEIRERR &
AR R BIR 1T 8 3B A R % 39,600,000
7T ° A K ¥ 50,000,000 7T K f§ 1% &
F490% B EFEEZFE : ARK
49,000,000 7T B 8 5RIZ B F4.75% K & &
PR B+ AR 39,600,0007T B & X
REFISUNE TN EGTE - ZFE
AR AR % 3,700,000 0 B 2021 F 12
RA31 B ZAMERRE - mek N & 722022
F3IAI5SHE2026F3A23 B HARI S HAE
B o

20206 12 A31 B » &N EKR
52 HER 1T 8 & 5T A R 79,900,000
TC BB F4WE TN KL - A
FR202 1 F R HAEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

25 LEASE LIABILITIES 25 HEEE

As at 31 December

MI2831H

2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARBFT

Minimum lease payments due 7T %I BRFE B B ) S AR A E S R
— Within | year — AN 2,155 2,776
— Between | and 2 vyears — 1225 1,442 490
— Between 2 and 5 years —2&54F 1,471 —
5,068 3266
Less: future finance charges W KRR E A (235) (63)
Present value of lease liabilities HEABERE 4,833 3,203
Portion classified as current liabilities NfEEREAENSL Y 2,069 2713
Portion classified as non-current liabilities SR AIERBARENE D 2,764 490

The present value of lease liabilities is as follows: FAE A EMIRMELT :

— Within | year —1FR 2,069 2,713
— Between | and 2 years — | 226 1,352 490
— Between 2 and 5 vyears —2&E5F 1,412 -
4,833 3,203
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25 LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) 25 HESE®)

The following table sets forth the discount rate of our lease TREFFHEABERT B EMAEEER

liabilities as the dates indicated:

As at 31 December
MI12H31H

Lease liabilities HERE 4.49% 435%
The Group leases various properties and land use right for REBRHEHKEHERBYME R HEA
operation and these liabilities were measured at net present value # - ZEFaERNESARANOEER
of the lease payments during the lease terms that are not yet paid. FOFRERE o
The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts BRERETIUTEHEHSAHENTE

relating to leases:

Year ended 31 December

BZI12A3I1ALEE

2021 2020
2021 5 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT T ARBTFT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEENITES

Leased properties MEME 3,136 2918
Land use right + b s A4 701 199
3,837 3,117
Interest expense (included in finance costs) B G ABTEKA) 171 173

Expense relating to short-term leases HEHAERBENRX
(included in administrative expenses) (Gt ATTHFX) 1,365 989

BRAEXERAA
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

25 LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 3| December

2021 was RMB30,289,000 (2020: RMB4,089,000).

Information about right-of-use assets is set out in Note |5.

26 DEFERRED INCOME

25 HEEE®)
HE20FNA3BILFE r HEEARNIR
& 4AEE A A R #530,289,0007T (20204 ¢
AER#4089,0007T) °
ERAFERREENERSNMIGEIS -

26 EZEWA

As at 31 December
RI12831H
2021 2020
20214 2020%F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT

Government grants BUNREB

Reimbursement of capital expenditures (Note (a)) #EE A (MiiE@)) 3,909 -
Reimbursement of future expenses (Note (a)) fHEAR KA (M) 100 361
Total Aat 4,009 361

(@)  Government grants as reimbursement of capital expenditures and future
expenses are subsidies received for compensating the Group'’s future
production and research and development activities with regards to certain
projects.

The amount of government grants that credited to the statement of

comprehensive income is disclosed in Note 6.
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mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

27 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27 EFREMENFIE

As at 31 December

®I12831H
2021 2020
2021 5§ 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETTT
Payables for materials and consumables IR KR 2E A B FE S 3008
(Note (a)) (Ff7E(a)) 128,256 130
Payables for service suppliers (Note (a)) P BRAG A FE P R (P RE(a)) 44,700 28,681
Salary and staff welfare payables Bt EHe R ETER 21,905 13,321
Payables for property, plant and equipment M - B MR BN R 7,223 28513
Payables for audit services BT RIS E AR R RIE 3,000 2,800
Payables for individual income tax and other taxes FE&{E A FT1SH K E At £ 18 2,097 1,179
Payables for interest expenses EAFIBREX 213 261
Payables for intangible asset E & EEENENFIE - 3,500
Payables for listing expenses B EhRAX - 2,030
Others Hih 2,469 994
209,863 81,409
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, all trade and other payables 720216 RR20206F 12 A31 B - AEBMREE
of the Group were non-interest bearing, and their fair value 5 REMERNRIES TGS - BRREIEB
approximated their carrying amounts due to their short maturities. B EAnBEEEREERES
(@) As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the ageing analysis of (@) P2021F K20205F 12 A31 8 - R R #E
payables for materials and consumables and payables for oA A ) JE R % JE A PR 75 L FE P K
service suppliers based on invoice date are as follows: HENBEZAHNRESTAT
As at 31 December
RI12A31H
2021 2020
2021 F 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R ARETT
Within | year | F A 172,956 28811

BHREEERAR
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

28 EAFFEHAME

As at 31 December
WI12A31H
2021

20214

RMB’000
ARET T

The balance comprises temporary

differences attributable to:

Intangible assets appraisal arising from

business combination

REERBEIEA TR IBRAN
ERER

¥ EHEEANELEENY
155,272

2020
20204
RMB'000
ARBT T

155272

As at 31 December
MI12A31H

Deferred tax liabilities:

To be recovered after 12 months

2021
2021
RMB’000
ARETR
EIERIAAE
B 1218 A & 1 [l 38,818

2020
20205

RMB'000
ARETIT

38818
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HEMBBRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021

HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

29 SHARE CAPITAL 29 IR
Share capital of the Company b NI N
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 May RAER20I18F5HI6BERE B S
2018 with an initial authorized share capital of US$50,000 divided B 3L #1398 7EERRZAN 50000 T © 7 A
into 500,000,000 shares with a par value of US$0.000| each. 500,000,0008% AR [EI fE0.000 | £ TTHIAR (D ©
Equivalent
Nominal nominal
Number of value of value
shares shares of shares
R E ROEE ROFERERE
US$ RMB
ETT AR®ETT
As at | January 2021 20211 AR 369,389,600 36,939 261,417
Issuance of shares (Note (a)) BT (Mt (a)) 18,200,000 1,820 11,590
As at 31 December 202 | 2021 12H31 8 387,589,600 38,759 273,007
As at | January 2020 720201 A 1R 25,342,851 2,534 17,115
Issuance of shares to the 2020 AT 49 A 20205F
Employee Incentive Scheme B REET 2
(as defined in Note 30) (FE& RFIFE30) 2,361,359 236 672
Capitalisation Issue (Note (b)) ERbE&ETT (D)) 249,337,890 24934 176,879
Issuance of ordinary shares upon REIREFERZFTERR
global offering (Note (c)) (MF3E()) 92,347,500 9,235 65,751
As at 3| December 2020 72020512 A31 B 369,389,600 36,939 261,417
BRERARAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

29 SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Share capital of the Company (Continued)

(@)

(®)

©

On 2 June 2021, the Company issued 18,200,000
ordinary shares with par value of US$0.000!1 each at
a price of HKD64.50 per share, raising approximately
HKD1,173,900,000 with net proceeds HKD 160,333,000,
after deducting related issuance expenses. Accordingly,
18,200,000 ordinary shares with par value of US$0.0001 each
are issued and RMBI 1,590 are credited to share capital, and
remaining amounts, after netting of issuance expenses, are

credited to share premium.

Pursuant to the shareholders’ resolution passed on 30 April
2020, conditional on the share premium of the Company
being credited as a result of the issue of shares pursuant
to the global offering, the Company capitalised the sum of
USD24,933.79 allot and issue a total of 249,337,890 shares
credited as fully paid at par to the holders of shares whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company at
the close of business on the business day proceeding to the
listing date in proportion to their then existing shareholdings

in the Company.

On 22 May 2020, the Company's shares were listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited by issuing 92,347,500 ordinary shares at a price
of HKD20.15 per share for cash, before related issuance
expenses, of approximately HKD 1,860,802,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB[,702,687,000).

Accordingly, 92,347,500 ordinary shares with par value of
USDO0.0001| each are issued and RMB65,751 was credited to
share capital, and remaining amounts, after netting of listing
expenses directly attributable to the issue of new shares, was

credited to share premium.
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NERRE (RNBRAEBRETRZ) O
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30 SHARES HELD FOR THE EMPLOYEE

INCENTIVE SCHEME
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme

The Company has appointed a trustee to assist with the
administration and vesting of awards granted pursuant to the
employee incentive scheme (“the 2020 Employee Incentive
Scheme”). The Company may (i) allot and issue shares to the
trustee and which will be used to satisfy the awards upon vesting
and/or (ii) direct and procure the trustee to receive existing shares
from any shareholder or purchase existing shares (either on-
market or off-market) to satisfy the awards upon vesting. All the
shares granted and to be granted under the Employee Incentive
Scheme shall be transferred, allotted and issued to the trustee.
The Company issued and allotted 2,361,359 shares (23,613,590
shares as adjusted upon the completion of the Capitalisation Issue
and the global offering) of USD0.000| each to Kiya Company
Limited (“Kiya"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, which is
incorporated by the trustee on behalf of the Group, representing
approximately 8.52% of the total issued share capital of the
Company for the benefit of the participants pursuant to the 2020

Employee Incentive Scheme.

On 31 March 2020, 1,843,410 shares (18,434,100 shares as
adjusted upon the completion of the Capitalisation Issue and
the global offering) were granted to 54 eligible employees (the
“Grantees”) in two separate tranches (A and B) under the 2020
Employee Incentive Scheme. The fair value of an ordinary share
at the date of grant is USD19.20, and the exercise prices were
USDO0.442 per share for tranche A and USDI19.1515 per share
for tranche B, respectively. 891,705 shares (8,917,050 shares as
adjusted upon the completion of the Capitalisation Issue and the
global offering) from tranche A and 951,705 shares (9,517,050
shares as adjusted upon the completion of the Capitalisation Issue
and the global offering) from tranche B were granted. Service
periods in respect of the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme
granted are up to four years for eligible employees. If an employee
ceases to be employed by the Company before the respective

vesting date, the awarded shares will be forfeited.
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30 BESHBERZTENREG

2020 B E M Bt &
RAREZE—EZZTA - UBBIERE R
SHAREE B BB &8 (20205 8 B BB &t
| DIRH AR - AARA()RXFE AR
REITRG - ZERG GHRRER AIERTT
BB &Sk (i) B RN (R R FEA B M AR
REWEERNIBERBERD(THRES
RiiE LB E) BT HE A 1R - RIE
EEBEERE RS ERENMERMDE
HE . ENBEITTXEA c AARIERE
2000F R B BT EI AR EE AR EAR
Kiya Company Limited([Kiyal) (REEH 2 &
MBAR - AXFEARKRANEEZTMAL)
1T R 282,361 359 (R E AL BT R EEK
BE TR TR B23,6135908 %10 ) B
E{E0.0001 ETTHIAR - AR A RIE BT
ARABEBHIH98.52% o

7202063 A31 B - IRIK20205F & B B &
2l P REBIHLR (AKB)E544 4 BI&(E
B([HA®RA DB L 1,84341008815 (RE AL
BITREIRBEE TR TR R18434,1000%
BH)  REFH-REBEROAAEBES
192037 + MH#LXARLXBRITTEEE 5 5
BER0442FTT R ERR19.15153 7T © #LIRA
KAt KBS B 891,705 8% B& 17 (FA B ANk 3
TRERBEETKIEL AR R89170500% %
17) 951,705 B0 (R E AL BT R BIRE
E TR BT E,5170500% /8817 ) - A
BREER - FTIRHA2020F 8 B M BT 818
RIS EARR S R AVIF o el BN S AR B H
ZRITBERERART - BILZEIRR G #5 1 1K
@ o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

30 SHARES HELD FOR THE EMPLOYEE
INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)

2020 Employee Incentive Scheme (Continued)

The restricted share units were valued by the directors of the
Company with reference to the valuation carried out by an
independent appraiser, on the grant date of the restricted share
units. The fair value of share-based payment of tranche A and B
are USD18.76 and USDO0.05 respectively.

On 31 March 2021, 3,509,000 shares were granted to |9 eligible
employees in two separate tranches (A and B). The fair value of an
ordinary share at the date of grant is HKD36.45, and the exercise
prices were USD0.0442 per share for tranche A and USDI1.91515
per share for tranche B, respectively. 1,854,500 shares from
tranche A and 1,654,500 shares from tranche B were granted.
Service periods are up to four years for eligible employees. If an
employee ceases to be employed by the Company before the

respective vesting date, the awarded shares will be forfeited.

On 30 September 2021, 2,008,220 shares were granted to 8
eligible employees in two separate tranches (A and B). The fair
value of an ordinary share at the date of grant is HKD52.25, and
the exercise prices were USD0.0442 per share for tranche A and
USDI.91515 per share for tranche B, respectively. 411,750 shares
from tranche A and 1,596,470 shares from tranche B were granted.
Service periods are up to four years for eligible employees. If an
employee ceases to be employed by the Company before the

respective vesting date, the awarded shares will be forfeited.

The Grantees may elect to pay the consideration by (i) paying
sufficient funds to the trustee to cover the consideration; or (ii)
instructing the Trustee to sell some or all of the vested shares to
settle the consideration payable, provided the proceeds from the
sale of shares shall be sufficient to cover the consideration. Each
participant shall be required to make payment in full for the award
granted under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme at the date
of vesting or some other date as determined by the Board and/
or the administrator in their absolute discretion, failing which the
transfer of the shares shall be deferred until such time as and when

consideration is paid in full.
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EMEABR A TBEZERARIAR - BI5RE
AR A UL

ERATMEZUTARNZARE : (HAXE
AXTRAE R AZMRE © (i) BREFT
AL E T D 2 IPE MR HEAR MR AAEE AR
B WEERDATSRAERCUINRE -
ELHEEFENBEAPNEES R HEE
AZEREEEHEM B AR E20205F &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30 SHARES HELD FOR THE EMPLOYEE

INCENTIVE SCHEME (Continued)
2020 Employee Incentive Scheme (Continued)

This special purpose vehicle, Kiya, is consolidated in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group as the Company
has power to govern the relevant activities of Kiya and can
derive benefits from the contributions of the eligible employees
who are awarded with the shares under the 2020 Employee
Incentive Scheme, the directors of the Company consider that
it is appropriate to consolidate Kiya. The shares are held under
the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme until such time as they are
vested. Forfeited shares will be redeemed at the paid consideration

and if applicable, plus 5% per annum interest.

The expense recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and other reserves for restricted share
units granted to the employees amounted to approximately
RMB37,347,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:
RMB28,159,000).

Set out below are the movement in the number of awarded

restricted share units under the 2020 Employee Incentive Scheme:

HEMBBRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

30 MEERBTESENRG 2

2020 EE BB E(2)

RRAR R AEEIERIKE B R R]Kiya® il
REE) - I AR IR2020F 1R BB A 21
BROPNGEREENERT RSN
BKiyaBE R AKBENGZE P BERRFEHA
BR - ARRAEFERRKyar St AR BE
B o ZERMRIF2020F 8 BB A S
£ BEEEFER/L - EREERMEIREN
REMER ) 5% F LB -

HE202IFNAIBLEFE  Ric2EK
mREEMBEERERNORESRLDNZR
HiIB% 1 B Y R 2 40 B A R #637,347,000 7T
(2020%F : AR¥28,159,0007T) °

AT H IR 220204 B S ABIET 81X TR
REIA D EMBENEEER

Number of
restricted

share units under
the 2020 Employee

Incentive Scheme

20205 EERA

TEITE T

ETRERNECHE

At | January 2021 2021451 B 1A 15,413,200

Granted during the year FRKE 5,517,220
Forfeited during the year FAYE (1,034,700)

At 31 December 2021 720215 12A31 B 19,895,720

Shares not yet granted at the end of the year FRmARR BRI 3,717,870
BRAEXERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021

HE2021F 128318 1L5E

31 RESERVES 31 f#fE
Capital Share-based
accumulation compensation Accumulated
reserve reserve losses Total
HRGAH
HEw
e RS RitER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTE ARETR ARETT ARETR
(note (a))
(BiE@)
At | January 2021 R202151A18 2,406,911 28,159 (927,380) 1,507,690
Loss for the year FNEE - - (842,095) (842,095)
Issue of shares of the BITARRNFIRRD
Company (Note 29(a)) (FF5E29(a)) 951,960 - - 951,960
Share-based payments AR BERRE R 1
(Note 30) (P5E30) - 37,347 - 37,347
At 31 December 2021 2021512831 H 3,358,871 65,506 (1,769,475) 1,654,902
At | January 2020 202051418 788,726 - (419,079) 369,647
Loss for the year FRNERE - - (508,301) (508,301)
Issue of shares of the BITARR AR
Company (Note 29(c)) (BEE29(c)) 1,618,185 - - 1,618,185
Share-based payments ARG 1D AER A S A
(Note 30) (PFE30) - 28,159 - 28,159
At 31 December 2020 742020 12831H 2406911 28,159 (927,380) 1,507,690

(@)  Capital accumulation reserve includes share premium arising from the issue of

shares at a price in excess of their par value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

32 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(i) Reconciliation of loss before income tax to

32 ZEBEERERME

() B FTIEB AT I 18 5 C S B 7
4 W

cash used in operations

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31HILLEE

2021 2020
2021 5 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTFT
Loss before income tax BRPT1S T AT 1R (842,095) (508,228)
Adjustments for: AT RIEELFR
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note |6) mp A EEHE (M 6) 143 166
Depreciation of property, M - BB RBEITE
plant and equipment (Note 14) (MI7E14) 6,729 3417
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15) {#FR#EEENTE (FHFEIS5) 3,638 2918
Gains on financial assets at fair value BRARBEFAEEEEY
through profit or loss (Note 8) SAABHERNEREE
Yezs (BEEs) (777) (2,132)
(Gains)/losses on disposal of property, ﬁgﬁjf%% ]
plant and equipment — net (Note 8) Res),/ B518 —F 58
( MﬁjI_S) 106 (597)
Gains on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFRAEEENS
(Note 8) (Pi3E8) - (40)
Interest expenses (Note 9) M EFZ (FIEE9) 2,494 3,377
Interest income (Note 6) B (P 5E6) (12,049) (10417)
Foreign exchange losses on investing activities  @h& /& B) A SN 518
(Note 8) (PiE8) 2,961 25318
Share-based compensation expenses VAR 57 75 55Tt 6 55 B ) =2 37,347 28,159
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents IR & K&IR & FEWH
(Note 8) b 3 518 (P 5E8) 36,418 90,531
Changes in working capital: EEE L
— Trade and other receivables —EFNEMEUTR (86,034) (13,020)
— Inventories —FE (351,362) -
— Trade and other payables —B 5 MEAM R RIE 155,322 7,598
— Amounts due to related parties — FEA g (842) 1,250
— Deferred income — RN 3,648 (437)
— Other non-current assets —Hf3EmBEEE (5,320) (8,268)
Cash used in operations KEEBFARE (1,049,673) (380,405)
BRAEXERAA

F 3R 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

32 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(ii) Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 3| December 2021, the principal
non-cash transactions are the additions of right-of-use assets
of RMB5,239,000 and the expense of RMB37,347,000
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income and other reserves for restricted share units.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the principal
non-cash transactions are the additions of right-of-use assets
of RMBI,629,000, the disposals of right-of-use assets of
RMB856,000 and the expense of RMB28,159,000 recognised
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and

other reserves for restricted share units.

activities

(iii) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing

32 llv_\éiﬁﬁﬁii Izﬁgi(é%)

(i) TEFRERS

REZ202| F12A3IBEFEE - £E
HFBRERFRABECAREEARY
5,239,0007T R AR & 2 E W as K& H Ath
HEHRERNZRERMDBLNRASZAR
#537,347,0007T °

REBZ20200F 12A3I8EFEE - £E
FREXFAAEFHAREEARR
16290007C * HEFEAREEARK
856,0007T R 4r G 2 E G TR R H A
EHEROZREIRNDEVNAZIAR
#£28,159,0007T °

(i) ME T EENHER

Lease
liabilities Borrowings Total
HEAE R At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTET
(note (a))
(FizE@))
At | January 202 M2021E1 AR 3,203 218,500 221,703
Financing cash flows in BEEESmA - 20,000 20,000
Financing cash flows out REIR & m (28,924) (83,600) (112,524)
Interest expenses FEF X 171 - 171
Non-cash transactions FIRERXH 30,383 - 30,383
At 31 December 202 | 2021 12H31H 4,833 154,900 159,733
At | January 2020 202061 A 1A 5397 58,700 64,097
Financing cash flows in BMERESAA - 239,000 239,000
Financing cash flows out BMER SN (3,100) (79,200) (82,300)
Interest expenses MERZ 173 - 173
Gains on disposal of HEFAREEERR
right-of-use assets (40) - (40)
Non-cash transactions FRERG 773 - 773
At 3| December 2020 120205 12 H31 B 3,203 218,500 221,703

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,
directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial and
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if
they are subject to common control, common significant influence

or joint control.

The equity holders, members of key management and their close
family members of the Group are also considered as related
parties. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
related party transactions were carried out in the normal course
of business and at terms negotiated between the Group and the

respective related parties.

(i) Name and relationship with related parties
are set out below:

HEMBBRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

33 EBARS

fM— BN ERREREN ST - A&
EEI B R G EARAR T MRS S —H1TRE
REEH  RIEHTRAREYT - HETX
HEES - KEERRZERB S S - TMK
18 A R

BaEFEA  AEBEXETEREKE MEE
BTN AR SRR T - NRAREERS -
BB T R 5 T — MR F B AE T IR AN R [
& BARE T R IR TT ©

(i) BWK&EEKLWERNT

One of the key management before September 2020
R2020FIARRETEEREKRE 2 —

One of the key management before May 2020
R2020F5 AR EEREKRE 2 —

Name of related party Relationship

BARE S B BA&

Dr. Guohao Zhou

S

Dr. Weijiang Xia

BEIEL

Dr. Ruo Xu One of the key management
APEEL TEEEREKEZ—

Dr. Jianfei Yang
HRIREL

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the following is a
summary of the significant transactions carried out between
the Group and its related parties in the ordinary course of
business during the years ended 3| December 2021 and
2020.

One of the key management

ERERENEL -

BRARESHEEIN U TAREZE
2021 F 2020 12 A3 HILFEAEE
HHBAB AR —REKBREPETE
AR HHRE o

BHREEERAR
F 3R 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33 BHARXS @)
(Continued)
(ii) Balances (ii) &8R
The related party balances as at 31 December 2021 and 722021 5 [2 20204 12 A3 1 B B9 RAES 75 45
2020, are shown below: N TN

As at 31 December
RW12A318
2021 2020
20214 2020%F

RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT

Amounts due to related parties in relation to  FAUKEIRIBAFHEBN T &
receipt of government grants not yet paid to 18R X 5 T EEEE 5 &Y

related parties: JEAS RS 77 ROFRIA -
— Dr. Ruo Xu —FEEL 300 250
— Dr. Jianfei Yang —tHeIRELT 108 250
— Dr. Guohao Zhou —AE=EL - 500
— Dr. Weijiang Xia —BERIEL - 250
408 1,250
As at 3| December 2021, all balances with related parties F20215E12A31 8 - RS E B 5 #Y
of the Group were non-interest bearing and non-trade in ARSI T ENRRIFEZEE - B
nature, and their fair values approximated their carrying HREIERERE - EAnBEEERE
amounts due to their short maturities. BEEAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33 BRI RS (@)

(Continued)

(iii) Key management compensation:

Key management includes executive directors, chief officers
and vice presidents. The compensation paid or payable to

key management for employee services is shown below:

(i) TEEEHEHM

IREEEEREITES TRTHRA
ENEIRE - MEERBCMHENE
EEEENHFMIIRAOT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3I1ALEE

2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTFT
Salaries, wages and bonuses e TERELA 27,190 21,630
Contributions to pension plans RINE TR 360 34
Housing funds, medical insurance and FEAES  BERRK
other social insurance Hipt (RS 395 31
Share-based compensation expenses LARSL A9 75 B At 1 3 BN B =2 23,700 12,859
51,645 34,834
BRAEXERAA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202 |
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

34 COMMITMENTS 34 Az
(i) Lease commitments (excluding the right-of- () HEARE(TEECAREERA
use assets and lease liabilities) g818)
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group leases some 202 1 F R2020F 12 A31H » AEER
offices and equipments under irrevocable lease contracts with B RBEHEAHNEERTHART
lease term less than one year and leases of low value that w2t REEAMBIR—FRABIEE
have been exempted from recognition of right-of-use assets BHE - DRIBEBIBRE S HREERF |6
permitted under IFRS 16. The future aggregate minimum REERPERTAEEE - ZFER
lease payment under irrevocable lease contracts for these A HRE N REEEE S YRR KK
exempted contracts are as follows: BEMEENRERNT :
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2021 2020
2021 F 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT R ARETT
No later than | year —FR 462 101
(ii) Capital expenditure commitments (ii) BB A
Capital expenditure contracted for as at 31 December 2021 2021 F R2020F 12 A31H - AEEE
and 2020 but not yet incurred by the Group are as follows: A RMERAREENERFAZIIRAT ¢
As at 31 December
RI12A31H
2021 2020
2021 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTIT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB NRE 17,180 9518
Land use right T hfE A RE = 24,400
Total st 17,180 33918
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

35 BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENT
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE

35 AREINEEEBEREREREER

COMPANY
As at 31 December
RI12A831H
2021 2020
2021 £F 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Assets BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHBARKIRE 3,076,037 3,038,690
Current assets REEE
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HibEUNEIE « =& MTEFIE 1,849,611 612,009
Time deposits TEHTFR 125,071 323,407
Restricted cash ZRHIRE 1,658 -
Cash and cash equivalents WE MRS EEY 739,244 841,854
Total assets BEEAE 5,791,621 4815960
Liabilities afE
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables H{th e 308 27,080 16,868
Total liabilities EEHE 27,080 16,868
Equity i
Equity attributable to the equity holders ZXAFEZIFFA
of the Company bR
Share capital &N 273 261
Shares held for the Employee Incentive Scheme — Fh{E B EIET 2145 A AU (D 17) (17)
Reserves = 5,764,285 4,798,848
Total equity RSB 5,764,541 4799,092
Total equity and liabilities EakAEEsE 5,791,621 4,815,960
MAEEBRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 202
HE2021F 128318 1L5E

35 BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENT OF 35 ARNENEEEBREEREHR
CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE COMPANY (4)
(Continued)

Capital  Share-based Share held
accumulation  compensation ~ for employee  Accumulated
Share capital reserve reserve  share scheme losses  Total equity
URGH nES
B bl EE
Ra BALR FHRE  HENRS ZiER RRA%
RMB(00 RMB(00 RMB(00 RMBA0O RMB(0O RMB(0O
ARETT  ARBTn  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

(Note (a))
(Rsk@)
Balance at | January 2021 021 A | BATES 261 4,935,803 28,159 (17) (165,114) 4,799,092
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year ~ FEEER 2 AEELE - - - - (23,870) (23,870)
Transactions with owners in HEEAGREEANRS
their capacity as owners
lssue of shares of the Company BIADNARG 12 951,960 - - - 951972
Share-based payments PR BERA S = = 37,347 = = 37,347
12 951,960 37,347 - - 989,319
Balance at 3| December 2021 R0IE A3 Bfv&H m 5,887,763 65,506 (I (188,984) 5764541
Balance at | January 2020 H020% | A | B ATESR |7 3317618 - - (5211) 3312424
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year ~ FEEER 2 AEELE - - - - (159903) (159903)
Transactions with owners in HEEAGREEANRS
their capacity as owners
lssue of shares of the Company BIRATIRG 07 618,185 - - - 1618412
Shares issued by the Company to the 2020 AR RRNEEE HE
Ermployee Incentive Scherne HE EXL00 7 - - (17 - -
Share-based payments PR BERS S - - 28159 - - 28159
244 1618185 28,159 (17) - 646,571
Baance at 3 December 2020 K005 12A31 BfES Bl 4950 8159 (s 47900
The balance sheet of the Company was approved and authorised AKABNEEAERN20NEIADHLESE
for issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2022. Ee RS o
Dr. Youzhi Tong ERZEBTL
Director EE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEMBBRERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021

HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

36 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS 36 EEME
(a) Details of emoluments in respect of the (@) EBARQATEENMEFE
directors of the Company
The emoluments in respect of each of the directors paid/ BEXIFI2A3IBILEFE » XEED
payable by the Group for the year ended 3| December 202 | N/ ENSESHMEHOT

are as follows:

Basic Retirement Social
salaries and benefit security
Fee allowances Bonus costs costs Total

EXFe RUER  HERRE
e REE A S S st
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARRTR ARMTR ARWTR

Executive directors HITEE
Dr. Youzhi Tong BEREL 491 4,099 1,152 40 53 5,835
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Gang Lu (ii) FeE B 5 2 i = - - - - -
M ie Chen (i) FRAESE A i) - - = £ - -
Dr. Bing Chen (i) BRI - - - - - -
Mr, Wei Zhang (iv) SRIE 5 () - = = = - -
Ms. Yaling Wu (v) RORILWY) = - - - - -
Dr. Michael Min Xu (i) FREUE L i) 245 - - - - 245
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung (i)~ 5S4 i) 245 - - - - 245
Prof. Liang Tong (v) BERHRV) 245 - - - - 245
Ms. Wei Geg (vi) {EATIE AL (vi) - - - - - -
Mr. Weipeng Gao (ix) [Ed Ay - - = - - -
Dr. Yan Wang (ix) AL () o - - - - -
1,226 4,099 1,152 40 53 6,570
BRBEEERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HREAMBRRMET

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021

HE2021F 128318 1L5E

36 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued) 36 EEME (2
(a) Details of emoluments in respect of the (@) ERAAAREENMEFHEE)
directors of the Company (Continued)
The emoluments in respect of each of the directors paid/ BE220F 12A3IBIEFE - XEED
payable by the Group for the year ended 3| December 2020 N/ ENSESHMEHOT

are as follows:

Basic Retirement Social
salaries and benefit security
Fee allowances Bonus costs costs Total

BXFe RUAER  HERE
e REE i S A st
RMBOOO ~ RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO
ARETT ARETL ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR

Executive directors HITEE
Dr. Youzhi Tong ERZET 505 1,756 430 6 46 2743
Non-executive directors FUTES
Mr. Gang Lu (i) P B 5 4 G - - - - . _
Mr. Jie Chen (ii) BRI 55 A (i) - - - _ _ _
Dr. Bing Chen (i) BRI - - - - _ -
M. Wei Zhang (iv) SRIE T (v) - - - - - _
Ms. Yaling Wu (v) RERIL(WY) - - - - - _
Dr. Michael Min Xu (i) BREEL (i) 25) - - - - 252
Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung (i)~ 51 JE 4 i) 25 - - - - 25
Prof. Liang Tong (v) ERYRWY) 4 - - - - 4
Dr. Chuangxing Guo (vi) SPEIFTEL (i) - 966 2% 4 7 1213
Ms. Xiaoyan Chen (vi) PRE BT (vi) - - - _ _ _
Dr. John Fenyu Jin (vii) SEFHL() 252 - - - - 252
1,303 2722 666 10 53 4754
(@) Salaries are paid in connection with the management of the affairs of 0] HEIREREAATREMBE AR EHX
the Company or its subsidiaries undertakings. i o
(i) Bonus is determined based on the financial performance of the Group (i) AEALERAEBEMERE REANKEM
and the performance of each individual. EEE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a) Details of emoluments in respect of the

(b)

directors of the Company (Continued)

(iii)

(v)

)

(Vi)

(vii)

(vii)

()

Mr. Gang Lu, Mr. Jie Chen, Dr. Bing Chen, Dr. Michael Min Xu and Mr.
Wallace Wai Yim Yeung were appointed as non-executive directors
of the Group on 12 August 2019. Dr. Bing Chen resigned on 30 April
2021 and Mr. Jie Chen resigned on 22 June 2021. Mr. Gang Lu, Mr.
Jie Chen and Dr. Bing Chen did not receive any emolument during
the years ended 3| December 2021 and 2020. The decrease of
emoluments for Dr. Michael Min Xu and Mr. Wallace Wai Yim Yeung
during the year ended 2021 is due to the depreciation of HKD against
RMB.

Mr. Wei Zhang was appointed as non-executive director of the Group
on |7 July 2020 and resigned on 26 November 202 1. Mr. Wei Zhang
did not receive any emolument during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.

Ms. Yaling Wu and Prof. Liang Tong were appointed as non-executive
directors of the Group on 27 October 2020. Ms. Yaling Wu resigned
on 27 September 2021 and did not receive any emolument during the
years ended 3| December 2021 and 2020.

Ms. Xiaoyan Chen was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Group on 12 August 2019, and resigned on |7 July 2020. Ms. Xiaoyan
Chen did not receive any emolument during the year ended 31
December 2020.

Dr. Chuangxing Guo and Dr. John Fenyu Jin were appointed as non-
executive directors of the Group on 12 August 2019, and resigned on
28 December 2020.

Ms. Wei Geqi was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Group on 27 September 2021, and Ms. Wei Geqi did not receive any
emolument during the year ended 3| December 2021.

Mr. Weipeng Gao was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Group on 22 June 2021, and Dr. Yan Wang was appointed as a non-
executive director of the Group on 30 April 202 1. Mr. Weipeng Gao
and Dr. Yan Wang did not receive any emolument during the year
ended 3| December 2021.

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any

termination benefits during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.

HREMBRERME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021
HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

36 EEM (&)
(a) BEAARESHHSHE2)

iy  PEMIEA - BREEA  BEBLT - R&E
T+ RIGIERELEN0I9F88 2B EEES
AEERFERITES - REBTHR2021F4
A 308 BHE RBREE LR AR 2021 6 A22 A B
T o BERIEAE - BRERERBREBEIRER
2021 5 % 20204E 12 B 31 B (-4 FE 3 U BT
A& - HREIE T RIGER L EREZ2021
FIFEOFHRD TIERATEARER
(E

(v) SRIELAEN2020F7RI7TBEZRITALER
RIFEAITE S - 20214 1| B26 B EHE ©
RIB R EREE2021F K%20206 12A31 B 1E
F[F W EBEEAIBNE o

() RLBATRESHEN2020510H278%
ZEAAREERERNITES - RLRAT
R2021 69 A27BEHE - BEREZ2021 & &
20204F 12 A31 B IEFEWEKEVFREE ©

(vi) PREESRZTR201968 A 2AEREREAE
EHIEANITES - WH20205F7 A 17HF
T - BREEM 2 A E E 20206 12 A3 1 B LES
FE AR R B o

(vi) FBRFELTReEFIELTR20I19F8A 128
BEZERKTEENIERNITES - WH20205F
12 A28 BT o

B TR0 F9 A7 AR T AAE
EHIERTES - BAMHLZTRER202I
12831 B I FEE W EREE RS -

(vii

(x) SEBEER202IF6ANARZERETSE
ErEMTES - AETE TR 2021464A8
0B EZEANEERFNTES - =4
SERESTBLIREZ2021F 128318 IEF
&I A AT B <

EERBEN

B mEE E AL E 2021 4F 202046 12 A3
B 1 F /2 U BN Bk 6 & U BT o] BE B 4R
F o

(b)

BHREEERAR
F 3R 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HREAMBRRMET

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2021

HE2021F 128318 1L5E

36 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(©

C))

(e)

®

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

The Group did not pay consideration to any third parties for
making available directors’ services during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealings were made available
in favour of directors, bodies corporate controlled by and
entities connected with directors subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the years ended 3| December
2021 and 2020.

Inducement or waiver of emoluments

No directors received emoluments from the Group
as inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020. No directors waived or had
agreed to waive any emoluments for the years ended 3|
December 2021 and 2020.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.
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37 SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group as at year ended 3|

December 2021 and 2020 are set out below:

Place of

registration/
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REBEREZE2021 F K2020%F 12 A3 BIEF
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EHHEARFEHIIMT

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
ANREEREAL

incorporation and place

of operations
and date of

incorporation and

Nominal value
incorporation/

registered

Name kind of legal entity share capital
s/ mI
WHRER BN
AR AL L B 5 B AvEE:
£8 S 3eay ki HE /R
2021
2021 F
Directly held:
EERA:
Kintor Science Limited Hong Kong HKD100 100%
5 June 2018,
limited liability company
Kintor Science Limited B 10078 7T 100%
2018%F6A15H
BRAR
Koshine Pharmaceuticals Limited Hong Kong HKD100 100%
| August 2018,
limited liability company
Koshine Pharmaceuticals Limited & 100787 100%
2018%8A18 -
BRAR
Kintor Pharmaceuticals Inc. United States of America = 100%
|3 November 2018
Kintor Pharmaceuticals Inc. FHBERE = 100%
01811 AI13A
Kintor Pharmaceutical Ireland Limited Ireland USDI 100%
12 May 2021
Kintor Pharmaceutical Ireland Limited ] B 100%
2021%5R128

As of 31 December

HBZ12A831A

2020

20205

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Principal activities

IEED

Holding company in Hong Kong

FRERAT

Holding company in Hong Kong

B ERAR

New drug research and
development

R

Research, development and
commercialisation

g GES

BHREEERAR
F 3R 2021
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37 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of

registration/

incorporation and place

of operations
and date of

incorporation and

37 BB #)

Nominal value
incorporation/

registered

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
FAREEREADL

Name kind of legal entity share capital
b/ L
AR ER
PR AR L B 5 B L R 9
L REgERER [
Indirectly held:
EEER -
Suzhou Kintor Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Mainland China RMB21,919,442
EMRREERHBBAF)) 24 March 2009
limited liability company
EMFEMERRNBRAF() PEIN AE%
2009634248 219194427t
AR
Kintor Pharmaceuticals Hong Kong Limited  Hong Kong HKD100
(FREEXEEERAT) 17 May 2018,
limited liability company
FAAEXRARRAA &R 100757
018558178 -
BRAR
Suzhou Koshine Biomedica, Inc. Mainland China RMB7,500,000
ENREBRERAR)() 2| September 2010,
limited liability company
HEMNRRBEERAR() HE R, ARH7 5000007
01069A218
BRAA
Suzhou Hongtuo Investment Consulting ~ Mainland China RMB976,148
Centre (Limited Partnership) 22 December 2015,
ERMoLRIRER AT L(EREH)() limited partnership
gL ARERATL(BRAR) )  TEAL ARB9761487C
20156128228 -
ARABLER
Shanghai Xituo Biotechnology Co, Ltd. Mainland China RMB100,000
(DBBREMRIBERAR)) 10 April 2019,
limited liability company
DBEREMRIBERAR) HER AR®100,0007
201945108 -
AR

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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As of 31 December

BZ12831H
2021 2020

20206

2021

100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

- 100%

- 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities

FTEED

Research and development

e

Research, development and
commercialisation, overseas
investment

MERBEL  BIMRE

Research, development and
commercialisation

I STES]d

Employee share scheme

EE MRS

Research and development

e
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registration/
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incorporation and
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37 BB #)

HZE2021 12831 BIE5E

Percentage of equity attributable to the Company
FAREEREADL

Nominal value
incorporation/

registered

Name kind of legal entity share capital ~ As of 3] December
b/ L
AR ER
PR AR L B 5 B L R 9
L REgERER HiE/ ZRRA #Z12A31R
2021 2020
2021F  2000%
Kintor Pharmaceutical (Zhejiang) Mainland China USD35,000,000 100% 100%
Co, Ltd. 27 June 2019,
(RBREEMT)BR A7) limited liability company
FRAEECHL)ERAR() RE R 3500000057 100% 100%
2019F6[278 -
AR
Oriza Flight International Limited Cayman Islands ush3 100% 100%
2 January 2018
Oriza Flight International Limited REHS 3ET 100% 100%
201851 A28
Kintor Pharmaceutical (Beijing) Co, Ltd. ~ Mainland China RMB20,000,000 100% 100%
(RAREEOLR) BB L) 25 August 2020,
limited liability company
FRREX(LR)ERAT FEAL ARE 100% 100%
202068 A25A 20,000,0007T
AR
Kintor Pharmaceutical (Guangdong) Mainland China USsD20,000,000 100% 100%
Co, Ltd. 30 July 2020,
(AHREEER) BB limited liability company
RmEE(BER)BRAF() HE A, 20,000,000 7T 100% 100%
202067308 -
BRAR
(i) These entities are registered as wholly foreign owned 0)

enterprises under PRC law.

(i) The entity was deregistered on 21 January 202 1.

Principal activities

FTEED

Manufacturing, commercialisation,
research and development

Bk BRCRTE

Investment holding
REARK

Manufacturing, commercialisation,
research and development

& BECETE

Manufacturing, commercialisation,
research and development

R - BRI EIE

“EFERRBETRAZEMA/INEGEE
=S

(i) ZEEMN20214 A2 BiEts -

The English names of the subsidiaries are translation made by
management of the Company as they do not have official English

names.

BHREEERAR
F 3R 2021 2
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38 SUBSEQUENT EVENT

(@)

©®)

On 8 February 2022, the Board of Directors of the Company
approved to enter into the loan agreement with Dr. Youzhi
Tong, as borrower, pursuant to which the Company has
agreed to provide a loan of HKD 116,895,000 to Dr. Youzhi
Tong for his personal financing use. The loan agreement shall
be effective from 8 February 2022 to 30 June 2022 and the

interest rate shall be 4.27% per annum.

On 8 March 2022, the Board of Directors of the Company
approved the modification of 2020 Employee Incentive
Scheme. The Company has agreed to amend the vesting
schedule to provide flexibility for participants for whom 50%
of their restricted share units which should vest on 31 March
2022. The participants may select from only one from three

options.

*  Adhere to the original Vesting Schedule and vest on 31
March 2022;

* Give up on 3| March 2022 and the restricted share
units will automatically lapse and the shares returmn back

to restricted share units pool;

*  Postpone the decision to 30 September 2022.

The participant may postpone the decision to 30 September 2022

and thereafter may elect to/or not to have the restricted share

units vest on 30 September 2022. If not, the restricted share units

will automatically lapse and the shares return back to Restricted

share units pool.

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MR

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A3IRALEE

2021 2020 2019 2018
20215 20204F 20194F 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTRT ARETT ARBTT ARETET

Results E S
Loss before income tax TSR ATE 1B (842,095) (508,228) (232,577) (108,484)
Income tax expense FriSi & A = (73) - -
Loss and total comprehensive loss — ZNA RIfERR G A

for the year attributable to the R FREIE R

equity holders of the Company FHEEBRE (842,095) (508,301) (232,577) (108,484)

As at 31 December
MI12A31H
2021 2020 2019 2018
2021 2020%F 20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARETT AR®TET

Assets and liabilities EERAERE
Total assets BERE 2,067,989 1,851,475 553,376 423597
Total liabilities BfERRE 412,831 343,541 183712 171,920
Total equity - 1,655,158 1,507,934 369,664 251,677
Equity attributable to the equity KAREZFEA

holders of the Company JEAG RS 1,655,158 1,507,934 369,664 251,677

Note: Four years' financial summary is presented as the Company was newly listed on 22 st - BRAARIR20206F5 822857 £+ BARRFIZSIAR
May 2020 and it is not practicable for the Company to present the financial summary SER2018F AP BHEEL NIEATT - W27
of the Group prior to 2018. PEBTSHLE ©

BHREEERAR
F 3R 2021
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

BEREiEAR

“Abiraterone”
[ P b 45 8E |
“AGA”
[AGA

“ALK-1"

[ALK-1]
“ALK-5"
[ALK-5]
"ANVISA"

[ ANVISA |

AR
[AR]

AR+
[AR+]

“Audit Committee”

[EZZEE ]
“BCC”
[BCCl

“Board"” or “Board of Directors”

=

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

a synthetic, steroidal CYP I7A | inhibitor and the active metabolite of
abiraterone acetate, an ester and prodrug of abiraterone that is used in the
treatment of prostate cancer
ARRBRAIDIREN —EE KA EEBCYPIZTA G - R Z BN 3
A EREHEY) - THf L BE 80 B A0 A 42

androgenetic alopecia

HERER R 5

activin receptor-like kinase-1, an antagonistic mediator of lateral transforming
growth factor-beta/ALK-5 signalling, also known as GT9000|

EERR B - —ERIRE(CERET B BEHAELALKSES - 75
T8 3GT9000

the transforming growth factor-beta type | receptor kinase, an attractive
target for intervention in transforming growth factor-beta signalling due to its
druggability as well as its centrality and specificity in the pathway
BIEAERRET S AX RN - FE KB DA N B R B B9 1RO % K B
Bl - RE(CERET BEFRT N ANARS| HHER

the Brazilian Health Regulatory Agency
EAEREFLEEER

androgen receptor

HEHRZ R

androgen receptor positive

HAERXEGE

the audit committee of the Board
EESERLEY

basal-cell carcinoma

HEAIME

the board of directors of the Company
ARREEE



“China” or “PRC”

GET

“CMO(s)”

[cMO ]

“Company”

ZAYNCIN

“Core Products”

“COVID-19"
[COVID-19]

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS
BERKMAR

MYC proto-oncogene, bHLH transcription factor, a protein that codes for
transcription factors

MYCEREERE & bHLIHES A F » —BRSESRETNEQE

the Centre for Drug Evaluation of NMPA
B BB R & m BT O

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix |4 to the Listing

Rules

EAR RIS T P E R BRI

The People’s Republic of China, for the purpose of this annual report only,
excluding Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan

hEARLAE - ERATRTS - FREES  RFIRNTEALE

a company that offers manufacturing services, with volume capabilities ranging
from small amounts for preclinical R&D to larger volumes necessary for clinical
trials purposes and commercialisation
—RIRHAEERBOAGF - REERNAARERIAEN N EERE
AR LE R RN AEEM

Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited, formerly known as KTKM Holdings Inc., an
exempted company with limited liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on |6 May 2018 whose Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with stock code 9939

Kintor Pharmaceutical Limited * AJFBKTKM Holdings Inc. © —ZK 1201845 A
leHERSRE MR INERRBERAR - ERMIREBRAEREH
(B AR = 9939)

has the meaning ascribed to it in Chapter |8A of the Listing Rules; for
purposes of this annual report, our Core Products consists of Pruxelutamide
(GT0918), Pyrilutamide (KX-826) and ALK-1 (GT90001)
BEALMRUETNARRE THRE  IAFHRME - HANROE
mBEERBMZ(GT0918) - Bl & (KX-826) RALK-1 (GT90001)

coronavirus disease 2019
FAEAMAEE A

BHREEERAR
F 3R 2021 2



DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“CRO(s)"
[CROJ

“CTLA-4"
[CTLA-4]

“Detorsertib” or “GT0486"

[P EE sk GT0486 |

“Director(s)”
[E%]

“Dr. TONG”

sl

“Employee Incentive Scheme”

KA CEREN

“EUA"
[EUA]

“FDA”
[FDA

“Global Offering”
[2REE ]

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

contract research organisation(s), a company hired by another company
or research centre to take over certain parts of running a clinical trial. The
company may design, manage, and monitor the trial, and analyse the results
BROMREE  HR—RARIMARTUER - ARRKRSARNELE
DHVRE] » Z AR A ARG ~ BEEMEIERBRIDITER

a protein receptor that functions as an immune checkpoint and downregulates

immune responses

—RIERRRREHY THERRENELEXE

an inhibitor of the PI3K/mTOR signalling pathway and a second generation
mTOR inhibitor under development by our Group primarily for the treatment
of metastatic solid tumours such as breast cancer, prostate cancer and liver
cancer

—REPIBK/mTORESATHHIE - RAEERAEHNE _RKmTORMH
B TERRRIRE  AIPIRERTEEERILERR

director(s) of the Company
RRFES

Dr. Youzhi TONG, one of the co-founders, executive Director, chairman and

chief executive officer of the Company

BERZBT  ARRBARIBAZ — MITEE - TERITHRAEH

the employee incentive scheme of our Company approved and adopted by
our Board on 31 March 2020
BEF 2202093 A31 B LA B EI AR R E 8 BB 2

emergency use authorization

B ERRE

Food and Drug Administration of the U.S.
XBERBEMEEEER

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Prospectus

HEARBRERME THEE



“Grantees”

[HF A

“Group”

- SEN

“HCCr

[HCC]

“Hong Kong” or “HK"
[ &%

“HKD” or “HK$”
&)

“|IFRS”

[ BB B A e o5 22 2

T
M

“IND”
[IND

“Kintor US”

[ Kintor US

“KNO46"

[KNO46 |

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS
BERKMAR

the employees of the Group who were granted RSUs in accordance with the

Employee Incentive Scheme.

1R2021453 A26 A iRIE(E B BB IR X RHIRMD BN AEERES -

the Company and its subsidiaries (or our Company and any one or more of its
subsidiaries, as the context may require)

RRRNEWMB AR (AN FEFE - FHALQE ME A — KK Z KM
=NCID

hepatocellular carcinoma, a common type of liver cancer

FriafeE - A—BE R EEE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
P EEFERRITRER

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEREEERBT

International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board
REETERIR B g R M e BRI R & 2R

investigator-initiated trial

AT 9T & B AR A ER R S5

investigational new drug

FEERT 5T

Kintor Pharmaceuticals, Inc., an wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware

Kintor Pharmaceuticals, Inc. * —FKARBAF R ZEN AR T MK AR T2
=N

a bispecific antibodies (bsAb) immune checkpoint inhibitor simultaneously
targeting two clinically-validated immune checkpoints, PD-LI and CTLA-4

— SRR (bsAb) R RRERNHIE - B EL M M B R ERE A
ERIREBPD-LI RCTLA4

BHREEERAR
F 3R 2021

251



252

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

BERRMAR

“Latest Practicable Date”

[ & EFRAI1TEH

“Listing”

[

“Listing Date”

[Em A

“Listing Rules”

[ EmAR A

“Macao”

&P |

“mCRPC”
[mCRPC]

“Model Code”

[#E2E<r Al

“MRCT"”
[MRCT |

“mTOR”

[mTORJ

“NDA”
[NDA

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

22 April 2022, being the latest practicable date prior to the print of this annual
report for the purpose of ascertaining certain information contained in this
annual report

2002547228 - BIARFRENFIRIHEE AFRE FAEHE TERNRER
BERAITTRH

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
BRI TABEZZ P IR £

Friday, 22 May 2020, from which the Shares are listed and dealings therein

were first permitted to take place on the Stock Exchange

20205 A2 B (2HiFR) OB Em k& XEFR ZH B E

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as

amended or supplemented from time to time

B PrE S EMARA - EARHERT ST

The Macao Special Administrative Region of the PRC
o BRI R TR

the acronym of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer

BREEBENERRENER

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed issuers as
set out in Appendix |10 to the Listing Rules
ETRRIMESETAE LM BETAETETESF R ZNFLE TR

multi-regional clinical trial

Z D ER R R

mammalian target of rapamycin, a critical effector in cell-signalling pathways
commonly deregulated in human cancers

WIBYMERMERLEED  —RESNARERBEIES T EAK
FEAE PR T BRI SR SRR

new drug application

HELER R



“Nivolumab”

[ Nivolumab |

“NMPA"

“Nomination Committee”

[fR2EZEE]

Py
[PD]

“PD-1"

[PD-I]

“PD-LI"

[PD-LI J

“Pfizer”

[ 183 ]

“PI3K"

[PI3K]

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS
BERKMAR

a human immunoglobulin G4 (IgG4) monoclonal antibody, which targets the
negative immunoregulatory human cell surface receptor programmed death- |
(PD1, PCD1,) with immune checkpoint inhibitory and antineoplastic activities

BRREAGH (IgGHERENE - MR RRBRE NI LIE
BENE  SHHEERRHAHARARKEXEREFELT—I1(PDI
PCDI)

the National Medical Products Administration of the PRC (BZR &R A&
F2F), successor to the China Food and Drug Administration according to the
Institutional Reform Plan of the State Council

HREMEETERR  BRERBEEENESRZXNATEERRMmEMR
EEERARNMETEM

the nomination committee of the Board

EXxeREZ8e

Pharmacodynamics
g S

programmed cell death protein |, a protein in humans is encoded by the
programmed cell death | (PDCDI) gene

EFHARETERD - EARBAHEF AR T I(PDCD)ER RS
B—REERE

programmed cell death-ligand |, part of an immune checkpoint system that is
essential for preventing autoimmunity and cancer
RFEARETERSE - LRREHARN—ED - BE0 A FRRM

Pfizer, Inc.,, a corporation organised and existing under the laws of the State of
Delaware, US., and a research-based global biopharmaceutical company
¥R R](Pfizer, Inc.) » —FKIBBEBFRENERAX L FENRRK
AR RERZIREM R EENF]

the acronym of Phosphoinositide 3-kinase, a family of enzymes involved in
cellular functions such as cell growth, proliferation, differentiation, motility,
survival, and intracellular trafficking, which in turn are involved in cancer
BBRUE - HBNER  2EARIGENARER  BE o &
B FENARNERN AN - SR X EREERRH

BHREEERAR
F 3R 2021
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

BERRMAR

“pi
[PK]

“Prospectus”

[TEAEE |

“PROTAC”

[PROTAC]

“Pruxelutamide” or “GT09 18"

[E7 B s GT0918 ]

“Pyrilutamide” or “KX-826"

[t@imfh B I3k KX-826 ]

“R&D"

[T |

“RMB" or “Renminbi”
[ARE]

“Remuneration Committee”
[FMEE 2 |

“Reorganisation”

[E4]

“Reporting Period”
[ % & HA] |

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Pharmacokinetics

ERFHE

the prospectus of the Company dated 12 May 2020
AR HHR2020565 A 12 A AR ER

Proteolysis Targeting Chimera, a small molecule composed of (i) a recruiting
element for a protein of interest; (i) an E3 ubiquitin ligase recruiting element;
and (iii) a linker bounding (i) and (i)

ERKBERBRAE ST HAKEBREOEELNERE © ()
E3C REZMAACES : K (i)&EE () R (i) AEH 23

formerly known as “Proxalutamide”, a small molecule second generation AR
antagonist under development by our Group for the treatment of COVID- 19,
mCRPC and AR+ metastatic breast cancer

AEEFREFHO—ENDF _HKARERE - BRBECOVID-19
mCRPC R AR+¥575 14 3| AR 78

an AR antagonist under development by our Group as a topical drug for the
treatment of AGA and acne vulgaris

AEBFAEHHN—BARBIE - ERABREAREHENSEEED
SN BEY)

research and development

o M s

Renminbi yuan, the lawful currency of the PRC

TEMNEEEBARE

the remuneration committee of the Board

ETETHERS

the reorganisation of our Group in preparation of the Listing

AEEREE LT METHER

the year ended 31 December 2021
BZE2IFI2A31BIEFE



“RSU"

[ IR HIR (0 BE AL

“SFO”

[ #& 77 R HAE 15451 ]

“Share(s)"”

(A7 |

“Shareholder(s)”
[ARER

“SMO”

[sMoJ

“Stock Exchange”

[ B <2 P |

“Suzhou Kintor”

[ &R 4

“TGF-R"

[TGF-B]

“US.” or "US”
ESE0

DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS
BERKMAR

a restricted share unit award granted to a participant under the Employee
Incentive Scheme that is subject to such terms and conditions as set forth in
the rules of the Employee Incentive Scheme, and each restricted share unit
represents one underlying Share

IR (R BB A SR B P BRSNS ikt B B s EET 8IIE T2 EE R
SR Bl AL EERY - &t IR IR (D AL R —IRABREARX D

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
FEEDIEST I E(E 75 R B GG (ENRHERT - B AR AT &
%0

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, currently of nominal
value US$0.0001 each
ARABRAH B AT & EE0.0001 XTTH & &K

holder(s) of the Shares
[EEUESZEPN

smoothened, a Class Frizzled G protein-coupled receptor that is a component
of the hedgehog signalling pathway
—REFRHNBHBCER MY  EhedgehoglE5RITH) —{EAEM AR

)

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEMERIMARIT

Suzhou Kintor Pharmaceutical, Inc.* (&k /)N FA R Z2Z /%0 R A 7)), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company
ARaleEWER A ERNAREERHDERA A

a regulatory cytokine that has multifunctional properties that can enhance
or inhibit many cellular functions, including interfering with the production of
other cytokines and enhancing collagen deposition
—RAFZYRFIENFEHARET - RSt S AR - 8
BTEEMAREFHELE IERBRINE

the United States of America

ENERA R

BHREEERAR
F 3R 2021
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

BERRMAR

“USD" or "US$"”
E

“VEGF”

[ VEGF]

“WHO”

[WHOJ

H\NeuY “us”’ or “our’

[ T ff9 )=kl FAriav ]

KINTOR PHARMACEUTICAL LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

U.S. dollars, the lawful currency of the U.S.
XBEEEBET

vasoactive endothelial growth factor, a potent angiogenic factor and was first
described as an essential growth factor for vascular endothelial cells
MEREAREREF - —BAEMOMEEKE T - YIRS ME
AR AR ) B TR A R AT

World Health Organization
SRR A AR A

the Company and, unless the context indicates otherwise, its subsidiaries
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